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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

TE

BRI
Chairman
Huang Juncan

| am pleased to present to you the annual report of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2021.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2021, the real estate industry of China experienced the change
from overheating in the first half of the year to freezing in the
second half of the year. In 2021, new residential buildings in 100
cities recorded an increase of 1.7% in the first half of the year,
and housing prices increased by 0.73% in the second half of
the year. In the whole year, new housing prices rose by 2.44%
accumulatively. It was the lowest level in the recent seven years.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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The turnover of new houses also showed the trend of high at
the beginning and low in the end. In the first half of the year,
real estate enterprises actively launched their projects, resulting
in active transactions of new houses in first-tier cities and key
second-tier cities. Then, the heat of the key cities spread to the
nearby third-tier and fourth-tier cities, with the sales volume hitting
a record high of approximately RMB9.3 trillion, representing a
year-on-year growth of 39%, and the area sold amounting to 890
million sgm, representing a year-on-year growth of 27.7%. In the
second half of 2021, with the continuous tightening of regulatory
policies in different cities, the credit lines for house purchase were
tightened, and the market activity fell sharply. The sales area of all
the cities declined, among which, the third-tier cities experienced
the largest year-on-year drop of more than 30%.

With respect to the land market, due to the policy of "centralized
announcement and centralized supply of residential land for key
cities", the scale of residential land supply decreased significantly
in 2021. In the first half of the year, the land market was active,
and the first batch of lands for centralized supply in key cities
recorded high price frequently. However, the subsequent 2
batches of lands for centralized supply in key cities experienced
plummeted popularity in the second half of the year. With the
sharp decline of new house transaction volume and the capital
pressure, the real estate enterprises were less willing to acquire
lands. The national land market cooled down obviously, with
plenty of abortive auctions and withdrawals. The demand for
residential lands in first-tier cities was relatively stable, while the
supply and demand of residential lands in second-tier and third-,
fourth-tier cities declined significantly. In 2021, the supply of
residential lands in first-tier cities increased by 38% year-on-year,
the transactions of residential lands in second-tier cities had a
year-on-year decrease of 23%, and the residential lands in third-
tier cities dropped by 31%.
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the challenging market environment in Q4 2021, the
contract sales amount of the Group still hit a record high of
RMB78.45 billion, increase about 4% from the previous year.
In addition, the cash collection rate of the contract sales of the
Group exceeded 90% during the year, laying a solid foundation
for offering stable cash flow for the operation of the Group in
the challenging market environment. The profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to RMB4.01 billion, decreasing by 8%
from that of the same period in last year. In 2021, the gross
margin of the Group was 20%, compared to 42% in the same
period last year. During this year, the Group actively expanded
investment and developed commercial and industrial parks
projects. The commercial and industrial park properties of the
Group were approximately 0.71 million sgm and 1.25 million sgm
were in operation respectively. In addition, the commercial and
industrial park properties of the Group under construction were
approximately 1.2 million sgm and 2.27 million sgm respectively.
Overall, the Group's rental income is expected to exceed RMB2.5
billion in FY2023.

2021 was a year of low growth for the real estate market in China.
The Group still acquired 40 new development sites in Shanghai,
Beijing, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Kunshan, Nanjing, Changsha,
Chengdu, Wenzhou, Jiashan, Xuzhou and Wuhan, with a gross
floor area of about 7.686 million sgm. The total attributable cost
was RMB23.09 billion, and the average acquisition cost was about
RMB6,300 per square meter. Benefitted from the active expansion
and development of diversified channels for land acquisition
since 2019, the total land reserve of the Group amounted to 23.27
million sgm, and 82% of which were located in the first-tier and
second-tier cities.

In appreciation of the support from our shareholders, the Board
resolved to declare to shareholders a final dividend of RMB6
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2021,
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2022, China’s economy will face challenges
and downward pressure. The real estate market, marked by
“for housing not for speculation”, will last. The easing financing
side, however, will moderately lighten the financial pressure and
interest costs of real estate enterprises. Looking forward to the
real estate market in 2022, the real estate market will stay on the
track of adjustment in the first half, and some enterprises under
ongoing financial stress will have to reduce liabilities by selling
projects and seek more mergers in the industry. In response, the
Group will actively cooperate with central/state-owned enterprises
with capital advantages in the industry to further expansion.
Meanwhile, the Company will continue to follow the defining trend
and accelerate the collection of sales payment to secure the cash
flow. All in all, this is to make ends meet and optimize the urban
layout for more competitive products and brand.

CONCLUSIONS

I, on behalf of the Board, hereby express my sincere appreciation
to all our shareholders, business partners and customers for their
care and support for the Group in the past year, and express my
gratitude to our directors, management and staff for their valuable
contributions. Going forward, we will make greater headway in our
growth and development for enhanced competitive strengths and
profitability and strive to be among the most successful real estate
developers in China.

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Financial Highlights
M E

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

HZE2021% #HE20204

12A31H1E 12A3181E

(In RMB’000) (MAREFTAEA) FE FE

Revenue WA 14,184,795 16,884,335

Profit attributable to owners of the Company iN/NEIEE ¥ PN ey p 4,014,231 4,354,548

Earnings per share (Basic: RMB) BRAR (EX : ARKET) 0.2425 0.2679

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

120215 720204

(In RMB’000) (AAREEFTAEAN) 12A31H 12A31H

Total assets EER 77,078,635 64,407,140

Total liabilities Eﬁ?@%ﬁ 52,489,027 43,308,088

Total equity (including non-controlling interests) #5425 (B IR IEE AR AR B AE25) 24,589,608 21,099,052

Total borrowings BRasE 22,953,871 18,321,435

Net borrowings Eﬂ@%ﬁ 13,327,926 11,037,614

Net asset value per share (RMB) BREEFE (ARET) 1.311 1.146

Cash and bank deposits over total current e MIRTTIFRBR AR EN {8 SR AR T 1.8 35
portion borrowings

Gearing ratio BB = 93% 87%

Net borrowings over total equity ERFEER AR A% 54% 52%

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
THHEREERAA



FINANCIAL REVIEW

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in
the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 were consistent with those used in the last
financial year ended 31 December 2020, except that the Group
has applied, for the first time, the revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”, which included all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued
by Hong Kong Institute Certified Public Accountants which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2021.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2021

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
decreased to RMB14,184.8 million from RMB16,884.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was primarily
due to the reduction in revenue recognised from sales of
properties by RMB2,979.4 million.

Other income and gains increased to RMB2,402.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 from RMB985.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly
due to gains on bargain purchase of RMB1,157.9 million arising
from acquisition of subsidiaries during the year and increase in
consulting services income of RMB138.2 million.

The fair value gain of investment properties of RMB1,464.2
million was reported for the year ended in 31 December 2021,
against RMB85.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
During the year, certain investment properties were completed
and commenced operation with better leasing performance than
expected from last year assessment. As a result, the fair value
gain for the current year was substantially increased. Furthermore,
the Group's financial assets at fair value recorded fair value gain
of RMB165.3 million for the year ended in 31 December 2021,
against fair value loss of RMB140.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

Bt %5 1 A

The Group’s direct operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2021 increased to RMB2,032.6 million from RMB1,395.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The main reasons
for the increase in expenses included (i) the rise in staff cost
and related expenses due to the increase in the managed area
of properties for sale and for investment; (ii) higher of sales and
marketing expenses due to the increase in the property sales area
and fierce competition in the sales market; (iii) direct operating
expenses incurred from certain property projects newly acquired
during the year, and (iv) related expenses of Shenzhen Vision
Business Park Phase Il “VSBP 3” and other investment properties
incurred in the current year but not capitalised after completion.

The finance costs went up to RMB868.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 from RMB651.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2020, increased by RMB217.2 million. Due to the
successful bidding and acquisition of a number of PRC property
projects led to an increase in loans from related parties, the loan
interest expenses paid to related parties for the current year was
increased by RMB225.7 million (net of capitalised interest).

Share of results of joint ventures and associates of the Group
reported an aggregate profit of RMB1,881.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, against RMB1,948.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, representing a slight decrease of
RMB67.4 million.

Overall, the Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company
decreased from RMB4,354.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB4,014.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
property sales recognition and profit margin.

The Group recorded basic earnings per share of RMB0.2425
for the year ended 31 December 2021, against basic earnings
per share of RMB0.2679 for the year ended 31 December 2020,
representing a decrease of 9%. The diluted earnings per share for
the current year and prior year were RMB0.2413 and RMBO0.2637
respectively.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Property development

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue of
property development segment decreased to RMB13,019.7
million, representing 92% of the total revenue, compared with
RMB15,764.2 million, representing 93% of the total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2020. Revenue for the current year
was mainly contributed by the sales of properties of Hangzhou
Pengbu Project, Wuhan World Style, Taiyuan Lanting Xiyuan,
Qingdao Xikezhan Project and Shanghai Jindi Zizaicheng. The
segment result for the current year report a profit of RMB4,255.2
million, against RMB7,729.6 million for the corresponding period,
decreased by RMBS3,474.4 million. The decrease in segment
revenue and segment results were mainly due to the decrease in
the area delivered in the sales of property and decrease in profit
margin.

Property investment and management

The revenue earned by the property investment and management
segment for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased from
RMB795.0 million, representing 5% of the total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2020, to RMB868.6 million, representing
6% of the total revenue. With higher occupancy rate and rental
rate of the existing investment properties, such as Vision
Shenzhen Business Park, Hangzhou Gemdale Plaza, Sichuan Kelu
Project and subleasing business, the segment revenue for the
year increased by RMB73.6 million. Certain investment properties
under construction have been completed and commenced
operation during the year, which will continue to generate stable
income to the Group. The segment results for the year ended 31
December 2021 reported a profit of RMB2,210.7 million, against a
profit of RMB51.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,
an increase of RMB2,159.4 million. The increase was mainly
due to increase in fair value gain on investment properties of
RMB1,378.6 million, of which the fair value gain from VSBP 3 was
RMB793.2 million, increase in change in fair value of right-of-use
assets (for subleasing) of RMB229.5 million and increase in profits
from joint ventures and associates of RMB421.9 million. VSBP 3
was completed in the fourth quarter of this year. The pre-leasing
rate at the end of the year has exceeded 70%. It is expected that
the occupancy rate will reach over 90% when the tenants move in
next year, which completes the leasing plan ahead of schedule.
The quality of the tenants is good, and the main tenants include
Tencent, Mingyuan Cloud, Masf, and British American Tobacco
Group. Rent rates are also higher than expected. The overall
operation is expected to be significantly better than other office
buildings in the same district. As a result, the fair value of VSBP 3
increased significantly this year as compared to last year.

Financial Review
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Financial Review

Bt %5 1 A

The Group is committed to acquiring investment properties
situated in prime locations in economically developed cities
and operating them on a sustainable basis. As at 31 December
2021, the Group (including associates and joint ventures) held
a gross floor area of 2.209 million square meters (31 December
2020: 1.458 million square meters) of investment properties in
operation (including sub-leases) in Mainland China, representing
a year-on-year increase of 52%. The rental and related services
revenue (included value-added tax) from those investment
properties for the current year recorded RMB1,351.0 million, of
which 50%, 35% and 15% come from shopping malls and offices,
industrial parks and long-term leased apartments respectively.
Compared with the revenue of RMB998.3 million for last year,
there was a year-on-year increase of 35%. The investment
properties held by the Group under proposed construction and
under construction will also be put into operation successively,
which will continue to generate stable revenue and cash inflow to
the Group.

Microfinance

During the current year, the revenue earned by the microfinance
segment decreased from RMB325.2 million, representing 2%
of the total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020, to
RMB296.5 million, representing 2% of the total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The microfinance segment
recorded a profit of RMB195.7 million during the current year,
compared with the segment profit of RMB209.3 million for the last
year. Due to the downturn of macro economy, the loan scale of
microfinance segment was reduced during the year, resulting in a
decrease in interest income and net profit.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Group’s total shareholders’ equity increased from
RMB18,888.2 million as at 31 December 2020 to RMB21,739.1
million as at 31 December 2021. The increase was contributed by
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the current year of
RMB4,014.2 million which was partially offset by the final dividend
of RMB1,326.0 million declared for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s deposits, bank and cash balances increased by 23%
to RMB8,771.9 million as at 31 December 2021 from RMB7,151.8
million as at 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due to
proceeds from properties sales, new bank and other borrowings
and increased loans from group companies, netting off against
payments of property development costs, land acquisitions,
final dividend and, investments, advances to joint ventures and
associates.

Borrowings

During the year, the Group has arranged several bank and other
borrowings amounting to RMB1,274.7 million in total for general
working capital purpose. Meanwhile, the Group has also repaid
bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB676.7 million. As at
31 December 2021, total bank and other borrowings of the Group
amounted to RMB5,187.3 million with interest rates ranging from
1.5% to 4.5% per annum.

The net debt (measured by total borrowings minus cash and bank
deposits (including restricted cash) increased by RMB2,290.3
million to RMB13,327.9 million as at 31 December 2021 from
RMB11,037.6 million as at 31 December 2020. The increase of
net debt was mainly due to cash applied to property development
costs and dividend payment. The Group’s net debt ratio (defined
as net debt over total equity, including non-controlling interests)
increased to 54% as at 31 December 2021, from 52% as at 31
December 2020. Compared with the peers, the Group’s net debt
ratio is at a reasonable level with adequate margin of safety for
further investment.
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The maturity profiles of the Group's outstanding borrowings as  ANEER
at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are summarised [EEE

below:

22021412 A31 H KX 2020F 12 H31 H AR
R EFABE R T -

As at
»
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
202145 20204
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Short-term and long-term bank and EHERHRITREMERR
other borrowings:
Within the first year or on demand RE—FRNFIREREEE 4,902,939 2,015,629
In the second year REZFR 30,825 1,135,756
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZERFAN  BEEBEMSF 111,073 539,781
Over five years HEMUE 142,489 1,004,367
5,187,326 4,695,533
Loans from related parties: BEFEN:
Within the first year or on demand RE—FAFIREREEER - 1,629
In second year NEZFER 17,269,240 13,624,273
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRFAN BEEEMRTE 497,305 =
17,766,545 13,625,902
Total borrowings BRuazE 22,953,871 18,321,435

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
THHEREERAA



FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Foreign currency risk

As at 31 December 2021, borrowings were denominated in United
States dollar (“US$”), RMB and HK$. The Group mainly operates
in the Mainland China and most of the transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB, thus the Group is exposed
to foreign currency risk. Moderate fluctuation of RMB against
HK$ and US$ was expected, the Group considered the foreign
currency risk exposure is acceptable. The Group will review
and monitor its currency exposure from time to time and when
appropriate hedge its currency risk.

The currency denominations of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are
summarised below:

Financial Review
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MBEE
SMEE R B

R2021F12A318 » EFIEET - ARERBE
R AEBEZRAPBRIAREANLEER - KM
R BERABBRARBRZR  EmMALREER
ZONERE c HHARBHABERELZEXREHE
B2 BASERABHIIMNERBRDAES -
REBBIHRTREREERR @ WHEERR
Y HEEERR o

ANEBR2021F12 A31 B K2020%12 31 B ik
BEzERRCEEEAERMNT

As at
»®

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20214 20204
128318 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
HK$ potid 2,918,258 2,329,633
RMB AR 12,601,034 8,880,808
uss$ E 7,434,579 7,110,994
Total “REE 22,953,871 18,321,435

Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2021, 65% of borrowings of the Group were
on a floating rate basis (31 December 2020: 57%). However, the
interest rate risk exposure was considered acceptable and no
hedging was considered necessary. The Group will continue to
monitor the suitability and cost efficiency of hedging instrument
(including interest rates swaps) and consider a mix of fixed and
floating rate borrowings in order to manage interest rate risk.

=R

20216124318 + KEE65% (20209F 12 A 31
B 57%) ERIRZEFIELT B - A - FIEEK
BRAEES  WHAZEL T, - NEBBEEET
¥ THA(BEMNEER) 2BEREKARMNEE - )
MEBBRERIBFEBLEERZETE  UEEE
HA=ER -
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2021, no assets of the Group was pledged (31
December 2020: an investment property of the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of RMB352,345,000 was pledged to
secure other borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

4

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided guarantees
to certain banks in respect of mortgage granted by banks
relating to the mortgage loans arranged for purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers
to the banks and the Group is entitled but not limited to
take over the legal titles and possession of the related
properties. The Group's guarantee period starts from the
dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends
upon issuance of the real estate ownership certificates. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group’s outstanding guarantees
amounted to RMB3,263,233,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB3,308,134,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees
is not significant and in case of defaulting payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties will be
sufficient to cover the outstanding mortgage principals, the
accrued interest and penalty. Therefore, no provision has
been made in the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil) for these
guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
an aggregate maximum guarantees of US$103,500,000
(equivalent to RMB659,885,000) (31 December 2020:
US$71,500,000 (equivalent to RMB466,530,000)) to
financial institutions for facilities granted to joint ventures
of the Group. As at 31 December 2021, the facilities
guaranteed by the Group to the joint ventures were utilized
to the extent of approximately RMB659,885,000 (31
December 2020: RMB466,530,000).

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHESERRAAE

BEEEH

R2021F 12 A31H » AEFE W EKIFEMEE
(202012 A31H : BRAEE AR 352,345,0007T
ZIREYED FEM  UWERRAEERRE 2 H At

B3 e

HREE

(a)

(b)

R2021F 128318 @ BEITREEBER
FREBYEZER  A5ERETZER
ITIRMER - BEBEREN  BEZZERE
RLZBHIE  AEBBETRBTEEZS
BRERZAEBERBASEREMNFER
SN MAEEBRETRNEEEBDE
ZETEFBREREGERE - AEB ZERE
REREEERBEREIAREHADE
BEXZAIL - R2021F12A318 » A&EH
M AREEE 2 ERAARYS,263,233,0007T
(202012 A31H : AR¥3,308,134,000

JT) °

BEEZRERZAALBETEK - A MWE
RERBRRIBER - BAWEAIERFE
BREABMAERRBEAS BRI B RS
o At HE2021F12A831HIEFEL
MmO SRV B mE AT RE®E (2020
F12A31H &) -

RAREHR  fEmEBERERE FAE
B&ERR  ARERAZSSREBRMAR
EERAEEEIT103,500,000 (AERAR
#659,885,0007T) (2020412 831 H : %
J071,500,000 (FHE M AR 466,530,000
J0)) ° 2021 12A318 - BAEEER
M FRSALE AR CHECHBARE
659,885,0007T (202012 A31H : AR
466,530,0007T) °



Five-year Financial Summary

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
BZE2021F  #HZE2020%F
12A31H L 12H43181t

HFBEHRE

Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2017
HZE2019F  #HZ2018F  HZE20174F
12H43181tE 12H43181E 12H3181E

FE FE FE FE FE
(Restated) (Restated)
(In RMB’000) (AARETTREMN) (&%) (&%)
Results ES
Revenue WA 14,184,795 16,884,335 11,710,186 7,079,136 4,711,019
Profit before tax BREL AT A 5,723,457 7,266,147 7,428,965 4,787,694 2,751,774
Tax T8 (1,394,523) (2,431,298) (2,925,314) (2,035,555) (944,526)
Profit for the year F R F 4,328,934 4,834,849 4,503,651 2,752,139 1,807,248
Attributable to: AT AL REL :
Owners of the Company V/NSIESYEUN 4,014,231 4,354,548 3,799,628 2,252,622 1,643,529
Non-controlling interests FEiE R AR R = 314,703 480,301 704,023 499,517 163,719
4,328,934 4,834,849 4,503,651 2,752,139 1,807,248
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
®2021% 20204 20194 20184 20174
(In RMB'000) (AARETTREM) 12H31H 12A31H 2A31H 12A31H 12A31H
Assets and liabilities EEHEE
Total assets BERE 77,078,635 64,407,140 63,169,647 51,987,757 43,668,752
Total liabilities BELE (52,489,027)  (43,308,088)  (45,272,201)  (38,117,372)  (30,621,124)
Total equity (including G (R
non-controlling interests)  FEIEARAR R EE) 24,589,608 21,099,052 17,897,446 13,870,385 13,047,628

Annual Report 2021 &3] 0



Review of Operations
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LAND BANK

Our management believes that a sizable and quality land bank
is the key for a property developer to succeed in a competitive
property market in the PRC. Our core competitive edge includes
good timing for land acquisition at competitive pricing as well as
professional projects cashflow management.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s land bank totalled 23.27
million square meters, under which approximately 19% were
located in the four first-tier cities, which were Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou and Shenzhen; 63% were located in the second-tier
cities, including Nanjing, Suzhou, Hangzhou, Qingdao, Wuhan,
Changsha, Chengdu, Kunming, Jinan, Taiyuan, Xuzhou, Jiaxing
etc.; the remaining 18% were located in the third-tier and other
cities.

The Group’s land bank distribution in the PRC and their respective
total GFA of remaining unrecognized for sale/under development/
held for future development are summarised below:

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Review of Operations
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEHX)
South China Region ZHEH
Shenzhen w3
Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phase 3 BEBRMHE = Investment properties REMFE 206
Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phase 1 & 2 E#TEFE— « —H Investment properties REME 122
Shenzhen Kelu RIITHE Industrial EF 86
Guangzhou BM
Guangzhou Huadu North BMTEAALIATODIEE  Residential/Apartment/Commercial % /2% /&% 400
Railway Station TOD Project
Guangzhou Zengcheng Xinxin Project B nEE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 189
Hengli Island Project in Nansha District, BMEYEEEEEE  Residential/Apartment/Office/ Fzx/RB/ 129
Guangzhou Commercial moe/ mE
Guangzhou Zengcheng 116 Project EMER 116780 Residential/Commercial FE/EE 76
Guangzhou World Style BMNETRE Residential FE 73
Guangzhou Chuangjing BINEIR Industrial E% 153
Huizhou =M
Huizhou Gaosheng U= Industrial EX 876
North China Region Y
Beijing 1=
Daxing Project NGIEE! Residential/Commercial T/ EE 225
Beijing Tuofangying IREEREE Residential/Commercial/Office FE/ A%/ Brg 160
Fangshan Qinglonghu FILFEN Residential FE 93
Fangshan Gongchen commercial and FILHRE TR Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A% /% 95
residential plot
Keluotuo SR Residential FE 91
Daxing Business Management Project AEFHEER Commercial [HES 76
Cuigezhuang 603 ERH 603 Residential FE 65
Beijing kunding izl Industrial E¥ 134
Taiyuan KR
Taiyuan Western District of Royall Lake AREZERHAR Residential/Commercial/Apartment  £% /&% /A8 11
Taiyuan Dongjian River KERMA Residential/Commercial FE/EE 71
Taiyuan Animal Husbandry Technology KREHEHE Residential/Commercial kE/HE 58
Qingdao 55
Qingyin Project HiREH Residential ¥ 491
Qingdao Guanshan EEEM Residential FE 204
Qingdao Anhai BEELH Residential/Commercial FE /% 121
Qingdao Jinlin EEHRB Residential/Commercial/Apartment % /&% /A8 80
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEHX)
Qingdao Xianggongshan Road EEMRALE Residential/Commercial FE/H% 73
Qingdao Happy Marina City BB g Residential iE 57
Tianjin PN
Tianjin Xiging KERE Industrial E¥ 170
Tangshan B
Tangshan Fengnan ELERH Residential/Commercial FE/EE 253
Langfang B
Langfang Gu'an Project BE%RER Residential/Shop =/ B 126
East China Region EREH
Shanghai L
Shanghai Zhifei (Meilan Lake Project) HEBRR(EBHER)  Residential/Commercial/Office =/ HE/ Hog 537
Shanghai Jianshan (Jinshan Industrial Zone) LHEEF(£ILT£E)  Residential FE 136
Shanghai Anting HE%= Residential FE 91
Shanghai Pingxin (Qixin Road Project) BT ERKBE)  Office/Commercial wog/mE 86
Shanghai Xuting Real Estate LERTEE Office/Commercial YN - 85
Shanghai Wanyun LEES Office/Commercial mWng/mE 80
Shanghai Jinta HEsH Industrial E¥ 324
Shanghai Hengdong Automobile Battery LEEFEED Industrial EX 151
Shanghai Zhitao Automobile HEEHAE Industrial E¥ 114
Shanghai Huanyi Technology LRRERR Industrial E% 112
Anyang Project ZHFER Industrial E¥ 65
Shanghai Jinshan Pavilion EESLFH Industrial EX 65
Shanghai Anfusch LB%HE Industrial E¥ 57
Shanghai Lier Babisyill Industrial EX 55
Yuxin (Shanghai) Electronics w(LE8ETF Industrial E¥ 54
Hangzhou il
Hangzhou Siheyi mMmE— Office N 142
Hangzhou Wuba mMEN Office N 116
Hangzhou Pengbu 36 MMEE36 Residential/Apartment FE/ 2B 82
Jindu North Road E IR Commercial [5ES 69
Jiangyin Lk
Jiangyin Tianyu Bay TRAEE Residential FE 217
Jiangyin Lanyue Yayuan LR E MR Residential FE 102
Jiangyin Yunlu Shangcheng (C13) TEER E(C13) Residential FE 80
Jiangyin Gelinyunzhe TERMEZ Residential FE 60
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEHX)
Fuzhou M
Fuzhou Shidai Yijing BINRRESR Residential/Commercial Fx/EE 73
Kunshan Ell
Kunshan Orchid Pavilion BElLR=#E Residential £ 218
Kunshan Lanting Dajing Garden EILB=ARER Residential FE 189
Kunshan Heyue Lanting Garden EILAHEZEE Residential F=E 185
Kunshan Hesong Lanting Garden ELAEHEER Residential FE 171
Kunshan Feili Lanting Garden BLEEHSTLR Residential ¥ 130
Kunshan Shangbin Garden Bl ETEE Residential FE 106
(Legend of the Sea) (B LER)
Kunshan Xinyu Jiayuan (SkyPark Yunpu) BEILEFTED Residential F=E 84
(SkyPark )
Kunshan Lanting Longyue EILE SN Residential F=x 78
Kunshan Yiyun Lanting EILKEBE Residential/Commercial tx/B% 64
Nanchang ]
Nanchang Jufan (Xueyuan Road Project) EFM(E4HIBE)  Residential/Office/Apartment FE/HNE /DB 593
Wenzhou M
Wenzhou Taohua Island RIS Residential/Commercial =/ % 201
Wenzhou Cangnan BMNER Residential/Commercial FE/HE 156
Wenling Pt
Wenling Daxi Town BEAZE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 116
Wenling City East BE R Residential/Commercial Fx/EE 73
Jiaxing RE
Jiashan Jinyue Xuefu BEeUER Residential FE 163
Jiaxing Jintong ZEHIR Residential/Commercial =/ % 130
Jiashan Mingyue Huating FERMER Residential F=x 128
Jiashan Fengjing Lanting REHRRE Residential FE 103
Jiashan Boyue Yiting EEMEE Residential F=E 67
Central China Region EhEY
Changsha &Y
Changsha Dawangshan Project ENATILER Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A% /% 356
Changsha Duhui Fenghua Project ROBEEEIEE Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A8/ H% 303
Changsha Marriott Hotel Plot RPERBIEHR Residential FE 212
Changsha Xiufeng Yuefu ROFENT Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A8/ H% 151
Changsha River City OB TEM Residential FE 101
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEHX)
Wuhan RE
Wuhan Lanting Dajing REEZ N3 Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A% /#% 494
Wuhan Four Seasons Metropolis HERZERe Residential/Apartment/Office/ FE/RB/ 346
Commercial YN S
Wuhan Changjiang Yijing jif%ﬁ‘}lgiﬁ Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A8/ H% 317
Wuhan Liji North ‘b%ﬂ Residential/Apartment/Shop %,/ NE /A 120
Yuehaiwan i Residential/Commercial Fx/H% 115
Wuhan Jiangwan Ronghui RELE4E Residential F=E 59
Wuhan Jinxia RESE Industrial E% 174
Henan I
Henan Nanyang Explosion-Proof Factory BRIl Residential i 160
Henan Luoyang Jukelong AEREERRE Residential/Commercial FE/HE 320
Eastern Region RPES,
Nanjing [
Nanjing Nanbuxincheng AR EPET Residential/Commercial T/ HE 499
Nanjing Fengzihe BREFT Residential/Commercial/Apartment/ =%,/ &%,/ 349
Office IN-J/@ N
Nanjing Jiangbei G12 BRIEGI2 Residential/Apartment/Commercial I%/”E/Pﬁ% 244
Nanjing Weirun (Yaohaumen Project) BREVE(Z(FEE)  Commercial Complex/Office BERAE/HAE 229
Nanjing Hexi BRAH Commercial/Office/Apartment %%/ﬁ%@/h% 189
Nanjing Liuhe Project BRANAEE Residential/Shop FE /B8 158
Nanjing Lishui G08 BHREKG08 Residential/Commercial FE/BE¥ 120
Nanjing International Road G74 BAREEKGT74 Residential/Commercial FE/H% 99
Nanjing Huarun North BRERL Residential iE 92
Nanjing Xinyao Gemdale Plaza ARNESHES Commercial HE 86
Nanjing Yulong Project HRFEER Industrial E¥ 62
Jinan il
Jinan Beihu BRI Residential/Commercial/ =/ B%/RE 806
Resettlement Housing/School/ 5/ B8/ HitE
Kindergarten
Jinan Tangye EEER Residential/Commercial/Office =/ mE/ Bog 176
Suzhou BM
Suzhou Fenhu M D Residential FE 91
Suzhou Mudu BMAE Industrial E¥ 122
Linyi il
Linyi Oriental Business Capital Smart ETRAEHEEER  Office N 84

E-commerce Industry City

4
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(thousand
Primary intended use square meter)
Project R of the Project BRXEREAR (FEHX)
Nantong B
Nantong Rudong Project HRMEIER Residential TE 103
Xuzhou M
Xuzhou Qianzhouwo M ES Residential/Commercial FE /A% 552
Xuzhou Armed Police Detachment RN E 2 Bx Residential/Commercial/Office/ kx/mE/ 388
Hospital LN a1
Xuzhou Olympic Sports Centre West frameeem Residential Fx 289
Xuzhou Weirun Sanhuan Road Project B"MNBE =R Residential/Commercial FE/HE 188
Xuzhou Longyaoshan MBIl Residential = 154
Xuzhou Quanrun Park East D plot BINFBAREDH  Residential FE 134
Xuzhou High Speed Rail J BrM=E Residential = 115
Xuzhou Machinery Factory BRI IR Residential FE 97
Xuzhou Liyuan Community BMNREME Residential = 85
Yancheng H
Yancheng Chuanchang River By 25T Residential = 287
Huai’an R
Huai'an Meigao Road Project ERNRRIER Residential/Commercial T/ HE 509
Huai'an Qinzheng Road Project ELEBHKIER Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A8/ H% 242
Huai'an Fengdeng Road Project EREERIER Residential FE 127
Huai'an Jinji Huaguanyuan Plot ERETEBIMIR Residential/Apartment/Commercial =%,/ A8/ H% 243
Southwest Region AEES
Chengdu B
Chengdu Zhaojue Temple 108 acres PR ABRAE 108 Residential/Apartment/Commercial ~ £%,/ A% /#% 211
Chengdu Jintang 96 acres RS EI6H Residential/Commercial FE/EE 126
Chengdu Qingbaijiang 54 acres PAE BS54 Residential/Apartment/Commercial %,/ A% /&% 89
Chengdu Chenghua Industrial Project e nea-3 3= Industrial E% 223
Kunming B
Kunming Mingyue AT Residential/Commercial FE/EE 332
Kunming Kunyue BRI Residential TE 136
Kunming Yungi Project RRAEER Residential/Apartment/Shop FE/DE /A 126
Kunming Chunshan Mingyue ERFELBA Residential TE 83
Others Hito 827
Total @t 23,272
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Land acquisitions in 2021

During 2021, the Group acquired 40 land projects in the PRC, with
total planned GFA of approximately 7.686 million square meters.
The attributable consideration paid by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB23,088 million. The average land acquisition
cost in 2021 was approximately RMB6,300 per square meter.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Properties sales and development

Although the overall property sales in the PRC fell rapidly in the
fourth quarter of 2021, the Company still achieved an aggregated
contracted sales of RMB78,454 million in 2021, representing a
slightly increase of 4.4% as compared to 2020. In the meantime,
its aggregated contracted sales area totalled 3,754,800 square
meters, representing an increase of 10.8% as compared to 2020.
Its average selling price was approximately RMB20,900 per
square meter in 2021, representing a slightly drop of 5.9% as
compared to 2020.

Commercial properties and business parks

As at 31 December 2021, the occupancy rate of Vision Shenzhen
Business Park in Nanshan District, Shenzhen was fully occupied.
I[ts major tenants include Intel, Amazon, Nvidia and DJIl. In
addition, Hangzhou Gemdale Plaza was 99% occupied and
Shanghai Jiuting Gemdale Plaza was 93% occupied.

During the year, our commercial projects including namely Huai’an
Gemdale Mall, Beijing Vision International Centre in Daxing
District, Beijing, Nanjing Hexi Gemdale Plaza and Nanjing Xuanwu
Science and Technology Park were commenced business. It is
expected that Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phase 3 in Nanshan
District, Shenzhen will commence business in the second
quarter of 2022. Currently, the major commercial projects under
development includes various mixed use commercial complex
situated at Shanghai, Nanjing, Hangzhou, Suzhou and Nanchang,
etc. As at 31 December 2021, the GFA of the Group’s operating
commercial projects, including associates and joint ventures, was
approximately 0.71 million square meters. The total rental income
during the year was approximately RMB677 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 41%.
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In the meantime, the total GFA of the Group’s industrial park
projects has reached 3.52 million square meters, of which 1.25
million square meters were in operation. For the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recorded a total rental/property
management fee revenue of approximately RMB470 million
from industrial park sector, representing an increase of 32% as
compared to the corresponding period in 2020.

During the year, benefited from the increase in the rental rate as
well as more new commercial projects commencing business,
the Group recorded a total rental/management fee revenue of
approximately RMB1,151 million from commercial and industrial
park projects for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing
an increase of 37% as compared to the corresponding period in
2020.

Review of Operations
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

ESRAAMEBEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ling Ke (“Mr. Ling”), aged 62, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since November 2012. Mr. Ling joined
Gemdale Corporation in 1992. He is also the Chairman and a
director of Gemdale Corporation and is overall responsible for the
development of Gemdale Corporation, particularly in charge of
strategic planning. Mr. Ling has extensive experience in strategic
planning, property development and corporate management.
He holds a master's degree in Engineering Management from
Zhejiang University, the PRC. He is granted the professional title
of Senior Economist.

Mr. Huang Juncan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 51, has been an
Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group
since November 2012. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang joined Gemdale
Corporation in 1992. He is also a director and the President of
Gemdale Corporation and is in charge of the whole operation
of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Huang has extensive experience
in property investment, design, construction, marketing and
corporate management. He holds a bachelor's degree in Civil
Engineering from Tongji University, the PRC and an EMBA from
Wudaokou College of Finance, Tsinghua University.

Mr. Xu Jiajun (“Mr. Xu”), aged 43, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
October 2012 and January 2013, respectively. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu
is a director, Senior Vice President and the Board Secretary of
Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for capital management
and strategic planning of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Xu has
extensive experience in property development, corporate
management and strategic planning. He was awarded the “Gold
medal prize of Board Secretary” by New Fortune Magazine from
2010 to 2016, and was awarded the “Best Board Secretary” by
Money Week in 2011 and 2012. He holds a master's degree in
management from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics,
the PRC.

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (“Mr. Wei”), aged 53, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
October 2012. Mr. Wei joined Gemdale Corporation in 2003. He
is also a director, Senior Vice President and the Chief Financial
Officer of Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for overall
financing and accounting of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Wei has
extensive experience in property development and financial
management. He is a fellow member of Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He holds a MBA from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics, the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Loh Lian Huat (“Mr. Loh”), aged 58, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Mr.
Loh is the Founder of Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd.,
an investment advisory, asset management and direct real
estate investments firm. He has over 21 years of experience in
the corporate real estate asset management industry. Prior to
setting-up Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd. in 2011, Mr. Loh
worked at MEAG Pacific Star Asset Management Pte. Ltd. from
May 2005 to July 2008. From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Loh worked at GIC
Real Estate Pte. Ltd. Mr. Loh holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering from the National Defense Academy,
Japan, and a Master of Science degree in defence technology
from the Royal Military College of Science, United Kingdom. Mr.
Loh is the lead independent director of OUE Commercial REIT
Management Pte. Ltd., the manager of OUE Commercial REIT,
which is listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. He is also
a patron of the Bukit Timah Citizen Consultative Management
Committee, Singapore, a non-profit organization.

Ms. Zhang Feiyun (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 36, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Ms.
Zhang founded Zhongsai Capital in 2013 and served as the
managing partner, focusing on the management of equity
investment funds and direct investment in projects. The funds
she manages include Guangdong Southern Media Convergence
Development Investment Fund, Shanghai Hengsai Qingxi Venture
Capital Fund, Shanghai Dongshu Venture Capital Fund, Shanghai
Shuyuan Venture Capital Fund and Shanghai Huitai Zhongsai
Private Equity Investment Fund. From 2010 to 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked in the investment securities division of Daiwa Bank and
oversaw investments in the real estate industry. Ms. Zhang holds
a Bachelor degree in journalism from Fudan University in the
PRC, and a Master degree in management from the University of
Edinburgh in the United Kingdom.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

ESRAAMEBEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui”), aged 74, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
December 2004. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui is currently
the chairman and chief executive officer of Luk Fook Financial
Services Limited. He also serves as a non-executive Director
of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited, an independent
non-executive director of Agile Group Holdings Limited, China
South City Holdings Limited, FSE Services Group Limited,
Lifestyle International Holdings Limited and SINOPEC Engineering
(Group) Co., Ltd., whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Hui has over 50 years of experience in
the securities and investment industry. He had for years been
serving as an independent non-executive director of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, a council member and
vice chairman of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a
member of the Advisory Committee and the Committee on Real
Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an appointed member
of the Securities and Futures Appeal Tribunal, a member of the
Standing Committee on Company Law Reform, and an appointed
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Investigation Panel. Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of
the HKSAR a Justice of the Peace in 2004 and was also appointed
a member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference from 2006 to 2017.

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony (“Mr. Chiang”), aged
64, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since November 2012. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chiang is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He obtained a
Bachelor of Laws degree at the University of Hong Kong in 1980
and was admitted as a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1983. He was
appointed by the Ministry of Justice in the PRC as an attesting
officer in 1995. Mr. Chiang has substantial experience in foreign
investment and property transactions in the PRC.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

Mr. Xia Xinping (“Mr. Xia”), aged 56, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Currently,
Mr. Xia is a professor at the Department of Finance under the
College of Management of Huazhong University of Science and
Technology and a mentor of doctoral candidates. He served as
the vice director of the College of Management from 2003 to
2011; he also pursued further studies and conducted research
as a visiting scholar at Harvard University in the U.S. as well
as the University of Toronto and HEC Montréal in Canada. Mr.
Xia served as a director of Wuhan HUST High-Tech Group,
a member of the budget committee of Huazhong University
of Science and Technology, and an independent director of
Shenzhen New Nanshan Holding (Group) Co., Ltd. and Fiberhome
Telecommunication Technologies Co., Ltd. He was also an
independent director of Gemdale Corporation (Shanghai Stock
Code: 600383), the controlling shareholder of the Company,
from May 2009 to April 2017 and was the chairman of the
audit committee as well as a member of the remuneration and
assessment committee of the board of directors of that company
from 2010 to 2017. Currently, he serves as an independent
director of Hubei Fuxing Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(Shenzhen Stock Code: 000926) and Kindstar Globalgene
Technology, Inc. (Hong Kong Stock Code: 9960). Mr. Xia
graduated from Huazhong Institute of Technology in 1985 with
a bachelor’s degree in engineering, from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology in 1990 with a master's degree in
management, and then from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology in 2000 with a doctoral degree in management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Ho Yin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 46, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since October 2012. Mr. Wong was
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a master’s degree in business administration. Mr.
Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a CFA charterholder. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Wong worked in several Hong Kong listed/private companies
as chief financial officer. Mr. Wong has more than 24 years of
experience in accounting, treasury, finance and merger and
acquisition.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a quality board of directors, sound risk
management and internal control, good principles and practices,
and transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) in order to optimise return for its
shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has taken steps to adopt the principles and comply
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Board has reviewed periodically the
compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021"), the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the following deviations:

1. Under CG Code A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms.
Zhang Feiyun and Mr. Xia Xinping were not able to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company on 27 May
2021.

2. Under CG Code E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. Due to the outbreak
of COVID-19 pandemic, Mr. Huang Juncan, the chairman
of the board, was not able to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company on 27 May 2021.

3. Under CG Code A.1.1, board meetings should be held
at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. During the year, only two regular board meetings
were held to review and approve the annual and interim
results of the Company. The Company does not announce
its quarterly results and hence does not consider the
holding of quarterly meetings as necessary. Management
supplied adequate and timely information to the board
and the directors can make further enquiries to the senior
management from time to time to ensure that they are
provided with sufficient information to fulfill their directors’
duties.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Corporate Governance Report

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from
time to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Following specific enquiries made
by the Company, all Directors had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) currently comprises four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The Directors
during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

NEDs
Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

INEDs

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Xia Xinping

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 26 to 29 of this annual
report.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEEREE

The NEDs (including INEDs) actively participated in all board
meetings to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues
of strategy, policy, risk management, internal control, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct; taking the lead where potential conflicts of
interests arise; and scrutinising the Company’s performance in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring
performance reporting.

The three INEDs represent one-third of the Board. The Board
possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices. One
of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition
of executive Directors, NEDs and INEDs also generates a
strong independent element on the Board, which allows for an
independent and objective decision making process for the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Company
will review the composition of the Board from time to time to
ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary
expertise, skills, diversity of perspective and experience to meet
the board diversity policy of the Company and the needs of the
Group’s business as well as to enhance the shareholders’ value.

All NEDs (including INEDs) are appointed with specific term of not
more than three years and all Directors are appointed with letters
of appointment and subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Bye-
law 109(A) and 189(vii) of the Company’s Bye-laws provides that
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Also, pursuant to Bye-law 100 of
the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-election at
the next following general meeting.

The Company has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the three INEDs
are independent.

o
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ and officers’ insurance policy

The Company has arranged appropriate and sufficient Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and
officers against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate
activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed on
an annual basis.

Meetings

During the year, the Board met regularly and held 2 meetings. The
attendance record of members of the Board, on a named basis,
at the board meetings and general meetings is set out in the
following table:
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Number of meetings attend/held

HEBITERRE
Board Meetings Annual General Meeting
EEEgeR RERBERE

Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Ling Ke A 2/2 0/1
Mr. Huang Juncan =ERERE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRRERE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Wei Chuanjun BEEELE 2/2 0/1
NEDs FHITESE
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat 7t 4 2/2 0/1
M. Zhang Feiyun REFHLZ L 2/2 0/1
INEDs BUFHTES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung R 2/2 1/1
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony  #i#&5E £4 2/2 1/1
Mr. Xia Xinping BTEAE 2/2 0/0
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Sufficient notices of not less than 14 days for regular board
meetings and reasonable notice for non-regular board meetings
were given to all Directors so as to ensure that each of them
had an opportunity to attend the meetings. Board papers will be
given to the Board before the date of the Board meeting by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). If
potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder or
a Director arises which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by a physical board meeting rather
than a written resolution, and the interested parties are required to
abstain from voting. The Directors attend meetings in persons or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Bye-laws of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall attend all regular board meetings to
advise on corporate governance and statutory compliance, when
necessary. Directors shall have full access to information on the
Group and are able to obtain independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors. The Company
Secretary shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Relationships and associations among the Directors

Each of the executive Directors is also a director and/or top
management of Gemdale Corporation, which is the holding
company of Glassy An Limited. Glassy An Limited is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. Gemdale Corporation is
a company established in the PRC with its shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383). To the best
knowledge, information and belief of the Company having made
all reasonable enquiries, based on the latest public information
available, the single largest shareholder of Gemdale Corporation
(BREBASRBRHMERA
Al), which is interested in approximately 29.8% of Gemdale
Corporation.

is Sino Life Insurance Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, there was no relationship between
members of the Board (including financial,
other material/relevant relationship(s)).

business, family or
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Huang Juncan and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Xu Jiajun. The positions of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals
with a view to maintaining an effective segregation of duties
between the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interest of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the
Board works effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities,
and provides leadership for the Board in setting objectives and
strategies, and ensure good corporate governance practices are
enforced as well as all key issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. The Chairman has taken into account, where
appropriate, any matters proposed by the Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
of drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Company Secretary. With the support
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate
and reliable information in a timely manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for leading the management of the
Company in conducting its business affairs in accordance with the
Company’s objectives, and implementing the Group’s strategies
and policies.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as the
general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director
and attends a director’s training hosted by legal adviser to ensure
that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under
the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging the Directors and senior
executives to enrol in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, companies
ordinance/act and corporate governance practices organized
by professional bodies, independent auditors and/or chambers
in Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further
improve their knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials
to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company
Secretary also organises and arranges seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
Directors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the
year, all Directors, namely, Mr. Ling Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan,
Mr. Xu Jiajun, Mr. Wei Chuanjun, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang
Feiyun, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
and Mr. Xia Xinping have received the requisite directors’ training/
training materials for compliance with the requirement of the
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on continuous professional
development.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to fulfil their duties.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial,
risk management and internal control and conduct of business in
conformity with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have
made full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and
the Board has always acted in the best interest of the Group.

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

The Board considers that, the Group has applied the appropriate
accounting policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements/estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants when it prepared the financial statements. The
publication of the financial statements of the Group is also in a
timely manner.

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, is of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely,
the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated periodically where
necessary. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions of
the board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are
open for inspection at reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Each board committee is required to report to the
Board on its decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.
Each board committee is also provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense according to the Company’s
policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established with specific written terms of reference
stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites
of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and HKExnews
(www.hkexnews.hk). The Audit Committee currently comprises Mr.
Xia Xinping (Chairman of the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony. All Audit Committee members
are INEDs.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee are, among other
things, responsible for assisting the Board to ensure objectivity
and credibility of financial reporting, including interim and final
results, and that the directors have exercised the care, diligence
and skills prescribed by law when presenting the Group’s results
to the shareholders. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for assisting the Board to ensure effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are in place and good
corporate governance standards and practices are maintained
within the Group and to monitor the internal and external audit
functions and to make relevant recommendations to the Board to
ensure effective and efficient operations and reliable reporting.
The functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly
by the Board and amended from time to time, as and when
appropriate, in order to ensure compliance with the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to
time). The Company has internal control procedures to ensure
that all continuing connected transactions will be conducted in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

©
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During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings with the
senior management, of which were joined by the external auditors.
The attendance record of the committee members, on a named
basis, at these meetings is set out in the following table:
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Audit Committee EREEERE HE T RITEBRRE
Mr. Xia Xinping BTt 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FFRRAR S 2/2
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony R ADE Sk 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee and its recommendations made to the Board during
the year:

(a) reviewing (i) the annual results of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020")and (ii) the
interim results of the Company for the 6 months ended 30
June 2021 and ensuring the full, complete and accurate
disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to
the accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b) proposing the re-appointment of external auditors for
Fy2021;

(c) reviewing the audit fee proposal for FY2021 for auditors of
the Company to perform audit services and other special
corporate projects;

(d) reviewing the audit plan for FY2021;

(e) reviewing the report on monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems of the Group during the year and
the overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function;

(f) reviewing the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the staff and the accounting and financial
reporting matters; and

(9) reviewing the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group for FY2020.
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All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by
the management. The work and findings of the Audit Committee
have been reported to the Board. During the year, there were no
issues brought to the attention of the management and the Board
that required disclosure in this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are available
on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com) and
HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED and Chairman
of the committee), Mr. Xia Xinping (INED) and Mr. Xu Jiajun
(executive Director).

The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

(c) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management, which include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the group;
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(f) to review and approve compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

(9) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at this meeting is set out in the following table:
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Remuneration Committee FMEEERE HE T BITEBERE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FFRRAR S 1/1
Mr. Xia Xinping ENFEEE 1/1
Mr. Xu Jiajun RRELE 1/1

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee and its recommendations made to the
Board during the year:

(a) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
senior management for FY2020 and their annual salary for
Fy2021;

(b) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
executive Director(s) for FY2020; and

(c) proposing the Directors’ fee for FY2021.

The Board defined that the senior management of the Company
comprises the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
for the year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Nomination Committee
currently comprises Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman of the Board
and the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED) and Mr. Chiang
Sheung Yee, Anthony (INED).

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria,
procedures and process in evaluating and selecting candidates
for directorship These provisions constitute the Nomination Policy
of the Company.

Selection Criteria

(a) reputation, integrity and accomplishment;

(b) qualifications including professional qualifications, skKills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

(c) willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board;

(d) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(e) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business or as suggested by the Board;

(f) retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those
who have served as INEDs for a period of nine consecutive
years standing for re-election, the Nomination Committee
will consider the independence of such Director for
nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reasons in the circular to the
Shareholders for the re-election; and

(9) candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with their written consent to
be appointed as Director(s) for the purpose of or in relation
to their standing for election as Director(s).
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Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

(a)

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and put forward the
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee;

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks, and
third party reference checks, etc.;

The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information and biography for the
Nomination Committee’s consideration;

The Nomination Committee may request candidate(s)
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board and the Board
will thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as
the case may be; and

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
election at any general meeting.
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The role and functions of the Nomination Committee are as IRBZESZAENBENT ¢

follows:

(a)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

to review the Board diversity policy and any measurable
objectives for implementing such Board diversity policy
as may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to
review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to
make disclosure of its review results in the annual report of
the Company annually;

to assess the independence of INEDs; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at this meeting is set out in the following table:

ELBFRIEFTENRE - ABMEK
(BHER%EE - AR KM TRBE) - Wit
FAREARRFANARREMEHESS
TELME BRI ¢

MEABSEERATETESEOAL - Ak
BRZEBATHEESIMUAEETEER
HER

ENEEENEZTEBEREMAFER
B AETAREREFETRRNZIRES
ERBETEBE  XEMERNEER - I
RARBZ FHREBFRBEENER

AP IFMITEEHB Y - &

REFZEAEHNZEUAREE (LERE
FBRITHER) BEHEMESSREEE -

FR - REZEEHRTIRGH - ZBERBHFX

e
SFiE

L8 (AT B MIIRATINE -

Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Nomination Committee REZEEHE HEBITEBERK
Mr. Huang Juncan HERREE 1/1
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FFRRAR S 1/1
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony EAnE e 11

4

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHESERRAAE



Corporate Governance Report

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
and its recommendations made to the Board during the year
including nominating a relevant individual as senior deputy
president of the Company, considering its appropriate
qualifications (including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives), and making recommendations to the
board of directors in this regard.

The Nomination Committee would review the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the board as well as the
Board diversity policy from time to time and would make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The
Nomination Committee reviews and assesses Board composition
on behalf of the Board periodically and will recommend the
appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to the
diversity policy.

In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’'s business model, specific needs
and meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.

During the year under review, the Board comprises 9 Directors,
including 4 executive Directors, 2 NEDs and 3 INEDs, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.
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As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

RARER  EFeCTE2ZbEm AR
T

Designation Executive Directors NED INED
:52a WITES FEHITES B IEMITES
Gender Male Female
% 5l S i
Ethnicity Chinese Singapore
Bk s TN
Age group 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70 Over 70
FHAa R
Year of
service 5 or less 6-10 Over 10
BR % & 58

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Number of Directors

EE¥E
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for
performing the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG
Code and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance
structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and improve
the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements. The Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’'s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and
practices on the Group’s corporate governance, developing a
code of conduct applicable to the Directors and employees,
monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance and
training and continuing professional development of Directors
and senior management as well as reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this annual
report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is fully
briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making
decisions and would also facilitate induction and professional
development of directors. The Company Secretary is also directly
responsible for the Group’s compliance with the continuing
obligations under the Listing Rules, Codes on Takeovers and
Mergers and Share Buy-backs, Companies Ordinance, Securities
and Futures Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, who was appointed as a full-time company
secretary of the Company, reports to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated information on the Listing Rules
and regulatory and corporate governance developments to
all Directors from time to time. During the year, Mr. Wong has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group are set out below:

REAME

RRAIMENHEFETAE  BRODEULEFSRE
FFo WRBEEFSERZEOEN - BEMRARER
EREGTHEG®R BEFTERRERGEREL
BR YEELZHEENABBILEXER -2
AMETERAEAKEET EHRA - FERF
W - At ERBBESTR) - 2RED] - 5L
ERPIAREMERER  RUIRRO T 2HER
£

ERBELARZERARBZEZBARNWE  ME
EeRENBE (EREE) TRAMBESREHRE
MEMRAREERCREABRRZIENESR - F
A BRERETEMRANEI 29 - X TLR
16/ Z AR E R

SMNEE A% BB 2 %7 A

FA - ARBRIMNEZBEN R ARBIRH 2 EZR
FBERBOEN BN ZERHIINT

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Services rendered R AR¥ET T AREETF T

Audit services EZ PR 3,379 3,676
Non-audit services IEEZ RS

Review and other reporting services 25 B8 2 EL A BB 3R AR 7% 971 994

4,350 4,670
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view and are
in compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
statutory requirements and other regulatory requirements. As
at 31 December 2021, the Board was not aware of any material
misstatement or uncertainties that might put doubt on the Group’s
financial position or continue as a going concern. The Board
endeavours to ensure a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects
in financial reporting.

A statement by the external auditors of the Company relating to
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Company is set out on pages 171 to 179 of this annual report.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for continuing overseeing and improving
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests.
These systems were closely reviewed for their effectiveness
periodically by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists
the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance roles
in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, risk management
and internal control, and the resourcing of the finance and internal
audit functions. The legal department of the Group together
with the internal audit department of the holding company of
the Company (“Internal Audit Departments”) is delegated to
assist the Board and/or the Audit Committee in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Internal
Audit Departments are kept regularly apprised of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. The internal audit
function is independent of the operating businesses of the Group.
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The Internal Audit Departments would review the effectiveness
and adequacy of the risk management and internal control
procedures, and the findings will be provided to the Audit
Committee to assist them in performing their periodic reviews. The
Audit Committee enquiries with the management from time to time
to ensure that they are well informed for reviewing the internal
control procedures.

The Group has in place an organisational structure with
defined lines of responsibility and authority delegation. There
are established policies and procedures for financial planning
and budgeting; for information and reporting systems; for
assessment of risk; and for monitoring the Group’s operations and
performance. The information systems in place are designed to
ensure that the financial information reported and all other data
collected is up to date and reliable. In addition, the Company will
engage independent consultants to conduct review of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group as and
when necessary. The Board is responsible for approving and
overall reviewing internal control policy while the responsibility of
day-to-day assessment and management of operational risks lies
with the management.

The systems and internal control are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives so
as to help safeguard the Group's assets against fraud and other
irregularities and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair
accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant
rules and regulations.

During the year, the Board conducted an in-depth review over
all material measures on risk management and internal control,
including financial, operational and compliance control and risk
management function. It also worked with Audit Committee and
the Internal Audit Departments to review the effectiveness and
adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control
system, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
They have concluded that they satisfied the effectiveness and
adequacy as well as in compliance with our policies.
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The Group considered that internal control should be adapted to
the size, scope of business, competitiveness and risk level of the
Group and adjusted in a timely manner followed by circumstances
change. The Group will continue to improve the risk management
and internal control system, standardise its implementation,
strengthen internal supervision and inspection so as to promote
the sustainable development of the Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) (collectively the “Stakeholders”) to ensure that
the Group’s information is disseminated to Stakeholders in a
timely manner so as to enable them to have a clear assessment
of our performance. Various shareholder’'s communication policies
have been adopted by the Company and will be reviewed and
fine-tuned on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Constitutional documents

During the year, there had been no significant change to the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

Disclosures in corporate website

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to shareholders and/or published on the
websites of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.gemdalepi.com). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and the provisions in relation to disclosure of Inside Information
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

General meetings with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged to
attend and answer questions at these meetings.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request
to convene a SGM at the Company’s registered office, (address
is situated at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda) or the Company’s head office in Hong Kong
(address is situated at 19/F., Central Tower, 28 Queen’s Road
Central, Central, Hong Kong). The SGM Requisitionists must state
in their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such request(s)
must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company (the “Share Registrars”)
will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM
Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the
Share Registrars that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order,
the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a
SGM by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request
is verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised
of the outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM if within 21 days of the deposit of the SGM
Requisitionists’ request, the Board does not proceed duly to
convene a SGM provided that any SGM so convened is held within
three (3) months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’
request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings are to be convened by the Company.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the
registered Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (‘Requisitionists”), or not
less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the
Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Company’s
registered office or head office in Hong Kong (addresses as
mentioned-above) with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company'’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution
or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition, provided that if an annual general meeting is
called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been
deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director, please refer to the procedures made available under
the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website
at www.gemdalepi.com.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose
contact details are as follows:

19/F, Central Tower

28 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

Email: hhx@gemdalepi.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT
Reporting Principle

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report
(the “Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide (the “Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27
to the Main Board Listing Rules of The Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, which covers ESG issues related to
property development,
businesses of Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation
Limited (the “Company” or “Gemdale Properties”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) in Mainland China from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period” or “FY2021").

property investment and management

Reporting Scope

The projects covered herein are the same in nature for the
year and the prior year, which are relevant to our real estate
subsidiaries, and thus the types of ESG risks that Gemdale
Properties may be exposed to remain unchanged. Considering
that the size of projects and operational scales have direct effects
on the Group's revenue, we decided to identify the reporting
scope based on revenue in order to ensure the projects covered
in the Report reflect the core business of the Group and major

ESG risks of the Group.

Unless otherwise specified, the environmental and social KPls
disclosed in the Report only cover eight major real estate
subsidiaries managed by the Group, namely Nanjing Vision
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Vision”), Beijing
Daxing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Daxing”),
Nantong Jinlei Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nantong
Jinlei”), Shenyang Huacheng Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenyang Huacheng”), Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhongjun”), Hangzhou
Jinhang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou
Jinhang”), Xi’an Zhutai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Xi’an
Zhutai”’) and Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Vision"), which together represent more than 75% of
the Group’s revenue in FY2021.

As compared to 2020, Nanjing Vision has been included in the
scope this year, which is a major project of this year to reflect the
Group’s actual and specific sustainable development.
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R HERERHRE

Reporting Principles

The report is prepared on the basis of four major reporting
principles outlined in the Reporting Guide, including “quantitative”,

“consistency”, “materiality” and “balance”:

Quantitative
21k

To present the ESG performance of the Group in a more

objective manner, and to help stakeholders to understand
and conduct comparisons, we provide information through
quantitative methods whenever possible. In accordance with
the Reporting Guide, relevant social and environmental data will
be collected by our real estate subsidiaries within the reporting

HERA

BPEARSHESIPONRERRANBEE1L]
2] TEZNR]R[TFE I FEEA®RSE

Balance

To report ESG performance of the Group
without bias.
MR G2 HREEEESGH EAKRIR ©

scope and will then be reviewed by relevant departments
before aggregation. The standards, methods and assumptions
(if applicable) used in data calculation are stated in relevant
sections.

REZEWRTIAESENESGKRE - HEFHNHE THIETLE -
BMERTHBERL TEAE(T NEHAR - WIREREES - B
HEHEANMEIRR FARKRERBLE MIRREE - KFME
PRI EITIER - BURSTEEE - FERBR (WER) EEEH
ZEIFIRA o

Consistency

—

Materiality
BEEN

A

To identify key issues of the year through
analysing business development of the
Group, industry and market trends, and
communications with the stakeholders.
Details can be referred in section “Materiality
Assessment”.

FRAMITEDTHBE  SELERRE - URE
FOEBBNRIR  SPEAEFENSEENR
B FHBAUNSE [ EE M EE -

Unless otherwise specified, the data in this Report are
calculated using the same method as prior year, with same
statistical and conversion mechanism to ensure comparability
across financial years. For the changes in the aforesaid scope
of coverage, we use “intensity calculation” as the basis for data
comparison to increase the comparability of environmental data.
WEMBIRSE - BRIESAHA - FEEEF -5 WABERBNE
BT FRE % - LBERTEMBREE 2 MR AT o &A1
HREBEHENNE  HMASUAIBE MERBIRL BAVER - LAE
INERIFEIRE AT ELME o
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Summary

As an enterprise principally engaged in provision of real estate
and related products and services, Gemdale Properties strives
to provide products and services that are scientific-based, high-
quality and cost-effective. Therefore, the technologies, processes
and procedures adopted by the Group are designed to make
the production mode of its products and services greener and
more environmentally friendly. In addition, given high importance
to cultivation of talents and provision of benefits, the Group
continues to adopt an effective human resource policy to attract
and retain talents, and provide proper trainings for its employees
to improve their quality. At the same time, the Group recognizes
the importance of corporate social responsibilities. It has not only
been actively encouraging its employees to take part in charitable
activities in ordinary session, but also taken initiatives to battle
against the pandemic in response to the national call in critical
moments.

Management Approach for Sustainable Development

The Group places high emphasis on sustainable development
and is committed to boosting its sustainability performance
in various aspects. In order to more effectively promote
sustainable development and improve its ESG management,

2021 Green building
certification

2021 FiR B EERR

Increased by 3

¥1E3m

RS- dERERHE

1EZ

SR E R — RARHE M E KRR E & AR
RENDEE  NFMRUNERMBRERME &
HEMSMEELS - Bt - REMRAOEN - T
ENRREEHNBECEERMBRBNEESAES
e ERR-VYH SEFEEEATHE
BMEN  HEEBERNANERBERESI R
BAT  REIRHESEE) RSEBEEX-
A SERNCEHEREENERN  EFRHE
BHEET2EEELY  ERKREHEEBERR
A BERXFBHRE -

Staff trainings in 2021
2021 F 8 T3

137 hrs/person
13.7 185 A

A EEREE T it

SERESERARERRYBANZEBHRCE
BMOENKRE - REBREB T RHEZRIIE - M0
SRESGHIBER  SEEHEMNLNAIKARRE
ARE - FARBLXERREARSER  EFE
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the Group has established an initial sustainable development
and governance structure. The board of directors, being the
highest level in corporate governance structure of the Group,
is responsible for the overall ESG strategies of the Group and
reporting thereon, determination of ESG development direction
and goals and supervision on the progress. In order to facilitate
the management of daily ESG issues, the board of directors, as
a convener, has established an ESG working group consisting of
the representatives of the capital management department, legal
department and financial management department. The working
group shall coordinate with each subsidiary and department within
the Group and implement corresponding policies and measures
according to the ESG development direction as determined by the
board of directors. At the same time, it is responsible to collect
relevant environmental and social information and data, monitor
energy usage, greenhouse gas emissions, carbon-reduction
targets and other indicators, and evaluate the effectiveness of
sustainable development strategies. Besides, in order to ensure
that the Group’s operations comply with ESG-related laws and
regulations, the working group reviews and evaluates all important
risk management and internal control measures on a regular
basis, keeping track of deviations, promoting rectifications
and improvements. In the daily operation and management,
the representatives of the capital management department,
legal department and financial management department often
communicate with each other through telephone, WeChat and
email, strive to help the Group to meet the ESG targets set by the
board of directors.

BREBEEBESGHRERERNE T - HIEESG
BRAARBRE  WEERBER - MARESHE
BRESGEEMERE EFQRTHAEEA  KXZ
T—EESGTEEK - KEBBEEAREER A%
ERFMFBEELORE - BEEBHBALEER
BEFRAREP  HREFSHAHENESGE
B RZEMRRRER  ARTAERERRER
EefEnERMeE  YEZERERE R
EREHRE - BB RT - HERA LG AR
BRREBEOHERIE - WS REREEZENS
ESGHBRZERES - BEREMETAREES R
HAMEEZNERER R AEZEE - SHRAE
ZBAEESEYIRT - EABKEERHT - BEXE
BE  ABESRARMBEEBORREEBAEE
oMIE BOHSHTAETER  BREINEFS
HESGRARERTMER »

55¢

Board of directors

Responsible for the overall ESG strategies of the Group and reporting thereon, determination of ESG development
direction and goals and supervision on the progress
BEEBEEBESGEBERERNEME @ HIEESCEREAMKBR  WEEER

ESG T EE B

ESG working group

Implement ESG-related policies and measures, collect relevant information and data, evaluate the effectiveness
of sustainable development strategies and carry out regular internal review

EBEESGHURIEN - WEMBNENNEE  FEASEERERNARE - EHETANES

Hofth S 75 BB

Other functional departments

Execute ESG-related policies and measures, control the usage, emission and other important
indicators in ordinary business operations
REFELEMNITESGEKE - HHlEAE  FRERHEMERER
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The existing risk assessment and internal control systems also
cover ESG-related risks. Taking into account the business
position, market conditions, financial and operational performance
and internal procedures, the Group regularly assesses, reviews
and identifies potential risks, and adjusts or develops relevant
policies and implements control measures. The progress of risk
assessment and internal monitoring and control and updates
on regulations are reported to management and the board of
directors on a regular basis, with a view to assisting them in
determining short-term and medium-to-long term performance,
goals and strategies for the Group. This ESG report will also be
submitted to the board for review to ensure its compliance with
the regulations and alliance with the vision and principles of
Gemdale Properties.

Currently, we require management to take into account relevant
ESG factors in the ordinary course of business and operations
as key factors,
Group as well as catering for the needs of stakeholders. Relevant
data are also disclosed in the ESG report published annually
to strengthen our external stakeholders’ understanding of the
Group’s ESG performance.

thus improving the overall performance of the

In regards to monitoring of effectiveness of our risk management
and internal control systems, please refer to the section headed
“Risk Management and Internal Control” in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of the Group.

Sustainable Development Strategy

In order to better capitalize on the opportunities arising from
sustainable development and meet the challenges brought
therefrom, the Group has developed an initial strategy, focusing
on the following three major scopes:

1. Operation principle: adhere to rigid standards for corporate
ethics to develop quality property projects with the aim to
creating values for communities and its customers in long
run

2. People-oriented: value talents, provide career development
opportunities to employees and care for their welfare

B8 Care for the environment: advocate green operation and
natural resource conversation to minimize its effect on the
environment

HERERBRE

MBENREBRFHERABEZERGENRERLE %%51
ESGHERER - AREBEBHBEHFEBIKN - ™
BRE - W REERRA Wuﬁmﬁi%ﬁﬂﬁé%
B EHIRHE - Bz BB R E L TR
EHEEBRMBATIESEE o BTG N AR e
ETREE EREMBENEEHMEREEEER
Exg UnbtfRErAREER P ERANK
B BEMER - WESGREDERAEFTSER
B mREARUENTESEENIER - RA -

W RMEREREBEESGHEBITEMNARATE
LED  RREHEERE #MREAAKEE
BRE - TEREFNHENTE - RMAGLEESHF
BMMESGHRETHERMNEBIE - BINEHMD
FTRAEBEMNESGAN

W

R EGEIE N NIPEE I R EE | - 552
EAEE[CEEARE | P AREERABE
mIER S -

IT

A A /R R

B AT IR AT 5 4B B R A5 R A M 0B K FE AR A Bk
B SEEHTESUHELERE  B&EUTN=
AEE#HE :

1. BEZE REBRROCEEE BEEYRE

WEER  RUTEMEFPAGRERE

2. MARE  BERAS - RETRHERKE
g BIBEIRu

3. BRRE  XBREe C RERAEIR
RIEEIREH T E

Annual Report 2021 &3 @



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We attach great importance to stakeholders’ interests, concerns
and opinions, and hope to formulate precise strategies pertinent
to sustainable development. In the ordinary course of business,
our functional departments have been maintaining two-way
close communication and coordination with our stakeholders. On
one hand, to be informed of their valued views, feedback and
expectations on the Group’s operations and, on the other hand,
to report to them the current ESG performance of the Group and
how we have responded to their needs. Based on the extent and
nature of engagement of all stakeholders in the Group’s operation
and considering the level of impact our business have on them
and vice versa, we have identified the following major groups of
stakeholders and built long-term and continuous communication
channels:

Group of stakeholders

Long-term and continuous

rhESHR

BARERFOENNE  BOIMER - X HEH
EAHHUNAHERREURE EREKLLED
o ANANERAFI-EEFOERSERNERE
B —TEALABMAE N EEEENER
BER CBBEEHNAE: m—J7E  HATRERESD
FEE ¥ 5% [ S 3T £ ES G 7 [ /Y & 3R A0 40 ] 130 8 e P9
FXRBARBEEFOEHAKRELENZEER
HE  YEREXRMATEIURMEBZENZ
B BRHEATREIZENFNEANNET RBYL
SEMNBBERE

&AL communication channels RESEMHBERE
Shareholders and investors e Press releases and o HEREAE
BRERKREE announcements

e Annual and interim reports o FIRLAFERE

e Company website LIS
Employees e Staff newsletters o BIEH
3= e Work performance assessment o T{ERIRFFiX

e Feedback collection e ERKE

e Staff activities o BITEH

e Intranet and email o NEEAME T EM

e Team-building activities o BERAEED
Service suppliers and partners e Performance assessment o RIBEFTME
REHEFERESEBH e Annual contract update and o FEANBHNELN

renewal

e Company website LIS

e Investigations and meetings e HAEMEH
Communities e Charitable/volunteer activities o RE/EIEH
#HE e Company website e AL
Customers e Customer satisfaction surveys s EPREERE
EF e Customer service hotline B P RIS EAR

e Company website NGIE RN

e Annual and interim reports Fm kA RS

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
SHHESERRAR
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Group of stakeholders

Long-term and continuous

RIR - HERERHE

HHEHER communication channels REFEMBERE
Media e Press releases and s ¥FEREASE
e announcements
e Annual and interim reports o FHWmRFHHE
e Interviews o Hih
Government authorities/regulators e Annual and interim reports o FIHLFERE
BEERF EEE AR e Statutory documents o JEENM

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

With the opinions collected through the above communication
channels, and taking reference to the key concerns of our peers
relating to sustainable development, international reporting
standards and operation environment, we have identified 26
issues, covering environment, employment and labour, operation
and communities.

Considering stakeholders’ willingness to participate in
communication in relation to sustainable development, the
working group strategically arranged further communication and
surveys to targeted internal and external stakeholders, so that
they can evaluate the importance or relevance of each issue to
the Group. Subsequently, we built materiality matrix by ranking
the issues according to their total scores and our quantitative
analysis. After consolidating the results of internal consultation
and considerations with reference to the materiality disclosure of
our peers, we selected 6 out of 26 issues as key issues, 12 as
important issues and 8 as secondary issues of the Report, with
results to be reviewed by the Board. Higher emphasis will be put
on disclosure of matters relating to key issues in the Report.

BEEMME

BMRE8LENBERRESINER ME2ER
ENFHBEREISE  BERERSBEEMSER

% BALc6IEEE  BRERR MENST  E

BRIBEFHEL2HEABESXRBENER - TE)A
BRI B AN RINBIF D EETE—DE
BAMMEEAT  BMMAT BHRBEYEENEE
Mk AEREMETES  RPIRRELASBIELD
WETHEF - RAEBRTEBHPE - £EARLH
ARERE 2ERTLCENEEUEREEE BT
oA BETRIZCIEEAARENBEEZRE - 12
HEZZBEMSEARERE  BRERXAESEEZ °
BREERSRARENEEERLY -
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Compared to that of 2020, the importance to certain issues was  E22020F Ll - PO HENEEZREEMNE -
changed:

Up to key issues to important issues
=B ZRREE ZEEEE
#15 Occupational health and safety #5 Energy utilisation and efficiency
#156 BWEEFERLE #5  BEREA KX
#17 Prevention of child labor or forced labor #6 Water utilisation and efficiency
#17 DIIEE T 8samI% T #6 KRR KRB
#19 Quality and safety of construction and #7  Environmental impact of fitting out works
fitting out projects #7  REIRNHRETE

#19 BERKEHEBNRERL S

#24 Anti-corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering
#24 RES - BBEE - BR - HEEMERE

Down to important issues to secondary issues
TR ZEEHRHE ERBHE
#11 Recruitment and dismissal #25 Community development support
#11 BEARE #25 ZEHRERE
#14 Diversity, equal opportunity and anti- #26 Community activity participation
discrimination #26 2HM[R)ED)

#14 Zalb - FERSRRIESR

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
SHHESERRAR
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The result of materiality assessment for 2021 is as follows: 2021 FMEZHFHAERDOT -
Materiality Matrix
EEMEE
Secondary issues Important issues Key issues
RERE EEEE FERE

Importance to external stakeholders

HOMBRAENEEY

HABFAENERNL

Importance to internal stakeholders

Annual Report 2021 &3 @
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Number
e Material ESG Issues EXRERE  HERERSHE
Care for the environment FERE
1 Sewage J5IKBER
2 Greenhouse gas emission BE RIS HE
3 Production, disposal and/or recycling of hazardous waste BEEVMES - REM B
4 Production, disposal and/or recycling of non-hazardous waste EEEEYMES - EEM B
5 Energy utilisation and efficiency BEIRME A R
6 Water utilisation and efficiency AR{E A R 3R
7 Environmental impact of fitting out works RETRENRETE
8 Noise and dust from construction project BEBEANRES RE+
9 Indoor air quality ERNERMEA
10 Climate change adaptation HrEREE
People-oriented HUA B
11 Recruitment and dismissal BIEFR R
12 Compensation and benefit E S TP
13 Working hours and rest periods T {ER S ER R B
14 Diversity, equal opportunity and anti-discrimination Zalt - TE#E KRR
15 Occupational health and safety BEEmEmEL s
16 Training and development BFIFER
17 Prevention of child labor or forced labor Bp1E 2 Tskoa 4 T
Operation principle EECE
18 Management of supply chain environmental and social risks HEHEMRBENT SRR ER
19 Quality and safety of construction and fitting out projects BELRKEBEENMEERTZS
20 Customer safety BELZE
21 Customer service quality (including complaints follow-up mechanism) HFRSEE (BIERFIRELSF])
22 Information protection and privacy B RHREATLRE
23 Advertising and labeling BEEMiRE
24 Anti-corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering RES - BERE - B1% - BGFAERE
25 Community development support Y REEER
26 Community activity participation SHETEED

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
SHHESERRAR
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OPERATION PRINCIPLE

The Group regards creating values for the cities where it
operates as its mission and is committed to developing
quality property projects. To this end, in the course of
its operation, the Group adheres to rigid standards of
business ethics and integrity, priorities customer interests
and safety, and manages supply chain efficiently.

Product Responsibility
Health and safety quality of property projects

With great emphasis on the health and safety of our
customers, the Group has taken all necessary steps to
ensure the quality of its property projects. For example,
the Group has been conducting inspections on the
quality of its property projects as well as its contractors
and suppliers and their work, services and materials
provided on a regular basis, to ensure the quality meets
the requirement of Regulations on the Administration
of Quality of Construction Works in China.
significant changes or severe quality issues of a contractor
or a supplier, the Group may suspend the projects or
the deliveries of such contractor or supplier at any time
and remove them from the list of qualified suppliers in
order to ensure the reliable quality of our projects. When
selecting building materials, the Group also takes their
effects on human health into consideration and complies
with relevant national environmental regulations and
requirements (including the requirements of GB-50325-
2001D, Code for Indoor Environmental Pollution Control of
Civil Building Engineering), ensuring that the materials do
not impose negative effect on residents’ health. The Group
attaches great importance to the repair and maintenance
of its real estate projects. Apart from requiring contractors
to sign a maintenance service undertaking to fulfill their
responsibilities of repair and maintenance, the Group also
provides training and education on maintenance service
etiquette to contractors’ maintenance staff when necessary
to ensure that their quality meet the Group’s requirements.

If there are

1.1.

HERERBRE

“EBEZE
AEBBAR/WTIREEENED - O
ERREZNFHMERR - /Bt AEERE
EBRTRBERHFRER  BITRER
A UEPHMGERLEREARKE AR
B ER -

EmEE

FHERA RFRLT 2 mE
AEESEERTFPOHRERL S - WHR

—nghm%ﬁ%ﬁéﬁamgécw
N ASEEEEHwEBEEETRPMEE
EOTHHEAERMHERREIE R
ﬁ\%ﬁm%ﬁ%ﬁ”$évﬁ%ﬁagi

EMFTATRE(RRIREESBEMNNE
*oh R P o A E T L R B K R e B
ABREREME  AEBEAERYEEME
ZERERHIEEEEME  REUEE
EAAREERNER  UEERARQRIEE
mEBEZASE - BERYREE e EEE
HYRENTE HEFSERGZERRME
HRSEER (BE(RAZEIREANRES
FArHI3R %) GB-50325-2001DHIARE) »
RITeHAFRFREKAAZE - XEBT
BEEREHEEBEMEEMRE KRTE
KAEREITHERBEAEERITIESR
f&%vﬁ%%%hﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ%A%ﬁ
THIERBEEEIHE - WREKEET
$%l%xxo

Annual Report 2021 &3] @



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

@

HERERBRE

The Group has detailed rules in the field of service quality
performance. To standardize the management behavior,
stick to the bottom line of quality and ensure construction
quality, the Group has established a “red and yellow
cards” warning mechanism to clarify red line behaviors
and accountability measures. The Group has defined
the behaviors that cause significant losses or hidden
dangers to quality, safety, construction schedule and
other aspects in the project management or not meeting
the relevant management requirements of the Group
as the project management red line behaviors. Each
type of red line behaviors are classified and described
in detail, and a set of corresponding points deduction
standard has been established. For the red line behaviors
in engineering management, the Group stipulates that
the engineering customer service department, human
resources administration, regional engineering customer
service department, urban engineering customer service
department, urban human resources administration
department, urban operation management department and
project center are responsible for the inspection, criticism,
warning and release, accountability and rectification.
The Group has developed corresponding accountability
measures for entities subject to different warnings
(“red and yellow cards”). Taking the accountability of
construction units as an example, the Group requires the
units subject to the yellow card warning to rectify timely
and stops its bidding for 3 months, and requires the units
subject to the red card warning to stop work and perform
rectification and stops its bidding for 6 months. If any
entity is subject to yellow or red card warning, its score
in the quarterly performance evaluation will be adversely
affected.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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In addition, the Group also requires property management
companies to provide appropriate trainings for their staff
to ensure that they have sufficient knowledge and skills
to serve all customers. Property management companies
shall provide their employees with external trainings
on fire control, elevator management, electricians and
other special jobs, so that they comply with the relevant
government regulations such as the Regulation on Property
Management issued by the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC to safeguard property occupiers.

The Group is committed to providing high quality property
projects together with top-level services to meet the living,
entertainment and business needs of our customers. The
Group is widely recognized for its efforts and contributions
to the property industry and has received various honors
and certifications awarded by different institutions in 2021,
including China Top 10 Commercial Real Estate Enterprises
in terms of Brand Value, China Top 6 Industrial Park
Operators in terms of Comprehensive Strength, China Top
5 Industrial Mall Developers in terms of Comprehensive
Strength, China Top 10 Real Estate Development
Enterprises in terms of Industrial Property, listed in Annual
Business Management Company Excellence List of
China Shopping Mall, and Nanjing Gemdale Vision Yuhua
Innovation Center was awarded China Top 10 Industrial
Park Benchmarking Projects. Furthermore, Shenzhen
Gemdale Property Management Co., Ltd., an affiliated
company of the Group, has obtained ISO9001, 1SO22301
and 1SO27001 certificates given its outstanding quality
management.

RIR - HERERHE

s - REETTERMEEE R R RREEER
HiE S REI - BRI R HH R
RXERBHAAERS - MEXEERRERE
BRRfUBD LEEN EMEE LEEMN
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EWECERMEEBEI10E  PRHEEER
BEBEKAENNGCE  2EEHEEMEL
AENSE  TEEHEMBRCEEEME
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China Top 10 Commercial Real Estate Enterprises

in terms of Brand Value
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China Top 5 Industrial Mall Developers in terms

of Comprehensive Strength
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Annual Business Management Company
Excellence List of China Shopping Mall
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China Top 6 Industrial Park Operators in terms
of Comprehensive Strength
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Enterprises in terms of Industrial Property
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China Top 10 Industrial Park Benchmarking Projects
(Nanjing Gemdale Vision Yuhua Innovation Center)

FEEXERFEEE 108 (BREMWEF LA T L)

| 1=

>

TOF1D

2021 P Bl = ol [ b b i
TOP1O

MR- R PO

.

:
—o=—-anA LMK




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

China Top 10 Excellent Industrial Parks Outstanding Commercial Real Estate
(Gemdale Vision Yuhua Innovation Center) Enterprises of the Year
2 EEFEXER 0B (S HEFRERIF ) FEMEMESHEE
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Most Influential Commercial Real Estate Enterprises of the Year
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4

Case
Z= 15

Shenzhen Vision has been honored with
“Shenzhen Key International Industrial Park
for Investment Promotion”

Leveraging its emphasis on development of the
artificial intelligence industry, forward-looking
and systematic planning and initiatives to direct
the strategic development for the park, create
new edges over its competitors and expand
room for development, Gemdale Vision Software
Technology Park has been honored with
“Shenzhen Key International Industrial Park for
Investment Promotion by Shenzhen Municipal
Bureau of Commerce”.

B FT TR [ R T REHEEER I ERE =

SHEFEHRRESESATERERERNE
B S ARBENRRME - TEREE E B
BRI TERFHEY  ARERF=R R

RERRY TEB BB R TRAR R
EREE] -

The park is located in southern Gaoxin District,
occupying 460,000 square meters and serving
as an example of technology park jointly
developed by China and Singapore. It was
designed by the PEI Architects, with better
hardware infrastructures and quality of services.
It has been developed in three phases. The
park has homed numerous top-notch high-tech
enterprises, such as Intel, Nvidia, Amazon,
Panasonic, Sagem, Daikin, DJI, Flextronics,
GoerTek, Pactera, iReader Technology, Arris,
Horizon Robotics and other Top 500 Leading
Enterprises, unicorns and high-tech enterprises.

BERUNSHEEE  BREEMEICETITK
&R B AT 03 R B & 1F R B RHRE AR AR - R EIRR
HMEH B R EMFBHAIRG - HARTNEMS
EMMRBEE  H»=HHE  SEKREEHER
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BEE - ERRE - XY TP RESASHR
500583 - BABMSHRMEE -
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Property project advertising and labeling

The Group firmly believes that only through a renowned
brand can we win customers’ trust and gain their long-
term support. Therefore, while dedicated to providing high
quality projects to satisfy customers’ needs, the Group
upheld its sincerity to serve its customers and ensures
transparency and accuracy of the information relating to
its projects and services in the course of engineering,
procurements, sales and services, in order to prevent
misleading customers or prejudicing their interests.
The Group makes certain that all sales and promotional
documents and information are prepared in compliance
with the requirements of relevant advertising laws and
regulations (e.g. The Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulatory Measures on the Sale
of Commercial Houses). Personnel with relevant knowledge
of advertising laws in the marketing department will review
the marketing materials in order to make sure that facts
are objectively reflected and there are no exaggerated or
false marketing practices. The Group put forward specific
requirements for sales staff, integrated the dos and don’ts
under the Advertising Law, issued the “Specifications for
the Marketing and Advertising Management of Gemdale
Properties” for the reference of sales staff, held sales
business courses for sales staff, and promoted marketing
standards through WeChat official account. In addition,
the legal department of the Group recorded the cases
of administrative penalties and lawsuits by relevant
government departments and customers due to violation
of the Advertising Law or Regulations on the Release of
Real Estate Advertisements during the patrol inspection in
2021 for the reference of the sales staff, reminding them of
avoiding using the sensitive sales terms in those cases.

In order to regulate the promotional information of the
projects and provide guidelines for the relevant staff, the
Group has formulated the Operation Guidelines on Risk
Control of Marketing Promotion and On-site Publicity.
The guidelines expressly state the four advertising and
promotion principles, namely truthfulness, legality, fairness,
and honesty and credit. In the meantime, the appearance
of certain contents (such as promises of appreciation
or investment returns, geomancy, divination and other
feudal superstitious contents, ranking or comprehensive
evaluation of enterprises and their goods and services such
s “leading market brand”, etc.) are explicitly prohibited,
and the terms used in advertisements are regulated.
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In addition, the guidelines also have strict provisions on the
use of portrait rights, name rights and intellectual property
rights in advertising. The use of pictures, calligraphy
and music in advertisements may involve the copyright
of others, and the written consent of the copyright owner
must be obtained; where patents are involved in an
advertisement, the patent number and type of patents
shall be indicated. Patent applications that have not been
granted and patents that have been terminated, revoked or
invalidated cannot be used in advertisements. The Group,
through the above guidelines, fulfills its responsibility to
protect intellectual property rights.

Customer service

The Group focused on establishing good and long-term
relationships with its customers and increasing customer
loyalty. Hence, the Group has established comprehensive
after-sales service and customer feedback channels to
regularly collect all comments and complaints on our
services and product quality. Specific personnel are
responsible for follow-ups and improvements to ensure
that all comments and complaints from our customers
are handled satisfactorily. Inspections are conducted on
facilities and equipment in public areas of community and
hygiene of the environment is checked before delivery of
the property.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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In addition, strict inspection rules for property projects are
established, acceptance procedures, policies and quality
standards are formulated, and the inspection work of the
projects are organized by the property engineers, which
not only allows verification by both parties but also ensures
quality to meet customers’ needs. In order to safeguard
both parties and assure environmental safety, new tenants
are not only required to provide their identity information,
but also required to sign the Fire Control Responsibility
Statement for Leasing Premises. The Handbook of Fire
Prevention Knowledge will also be delivered by the Group
to ensure that its tenants possess adequate knowledge on
fire safety.

Project inspection
HEER
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In order to understand the needs of our customers and to
collect their feedback on our projects and the Group, the
Group conducts satisfaction surveys for projects and on
contracted clients of projects for sale as well as property
owners by way of telephone or in person. One of our real
estate subsidiaries Shenzhen Vision even engaged a
third party consulting company to conduct the surveys on
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managers of the customer enterprises and company staffs,
and attained 100% on customer satisfaction for consecutive
years. Shenzhen Vision will continue to make relentless
efforts and hopes to maintain the impressive results next
year. After each survey is completed, detailed analyses
are carried out on the survey results in order for the
Group to have a better understanding of the strengths and
weaknesses of our projects and services for continuous
enhancement of the Group’s products and services, and an
action plan would be formulated to improve its performance
for the next year.

FIEFN100% <« RINBEFGEES S - L
T —FMEMRIFUMAKE - XEHE
BRASHEREHSHPAESERETHTED
- THEEERRBNELZE  FENRES
REBMOERMRELELTHHRNRET
FEMNREERR -

2021 2020
20214 20204

Complaints Complaints

about service about service

quality quality
EEBR Customer BEREBERN Customer
R mE satisfaction’ AR5 & satisfaction
Unit B IR R EEREER B4 5 BEPMEE
Shanghai Zhongjun BabisEiinl 0 98% 31 98%
Nanjing Vision BRGS0 17 87% N/A2 N/A2
TE M2 T2
Nantong Jinlei ik 0 98% 0 98%
Shenzhen Vision RYIEL T 0 100% 0 100%
Shenyang Huacheng E G 0 93% 0 100%
Hangzhou Jinhang LN & M 1 99% 50 100%
Xi'an Zhutai PRESR 0 98% 123 99.8%

g For Beijing Daxing, since only limited number of responses
was received due to the outbreak of pandemic, results were
deemed not representative thus relevant customer satisfaction

statistics is not disclosed in this Report.

H Nanjing Vision is not covered by the 2020 Environmental, Social

and Governance Report.
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Shanghai Zhongjun, Hangzhou Jinhang and Xi'an Zhutai
received fewer complaints about service quality in
2021, mainly due to the delivery of property projects
has completed. Customer complaints are invaluable for
examining the product and service quality of the Group.
The Group has established a professional customer
service team for handling and following up with customer
complaints of different projects, as well as to collect
customer feedback through our customer service hotline. In
addition, the Group has set service indicators for customer
service and set appropriate standards for indicators such
as “the time required to confirm a complaint is received”,
“the time required to handle and address complaints”,
“complaint response rate” according to the characteristics
of each project (e.g. nature of the project, size of the
project, customer base, etc.). Customer service personnel
also conducts random checks on the handlings to ensure
that such customer complaints are properly resolved.

Customer privacy

The Group has responsibility to protect privacy of its
customers or consumers. In addition to the public
documents prescribed by laws and regulations, the
Group strictly complies with relevant privacy regulations
and regulates its subsidiaries to follow four information
protection principles, including:
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Information collection and purposes

ERIREAN AN E #9588

The Group will collect personal information that is necessary only for its operations, which shall be used only for legitimate
purposes and events specified when collecting such information. In addition, our customers are informed of their rights,
such as reviewing and correcting information, as well as to whom the information may be transferred.
FEBRSRELELANBAER - FIBRENERTR BANEEBNMKERETHNESE) L utoh - HIEEFH
B BRI ERMNIEER - MZER e gEaBEAL -

Information storage period

BERREHR

We will take feasible and effective measures, and delete personal information that is no longer needed for the purpose of
business operation.

HAISRBAITTMARNER - WEETEREEBNMBENEAER -

Disclosure of information

R

Any disclosure of information is strictly prohibited, unless explicit consent and permission from the owner of the informa-
tion is obtained. In the event that a written notice is sent to the Group to revoke the authorisation previously granted, we
will update our database and respond as soon as possible to ensure maximum protection of customer interests.
BRIFERMSHERIAEERBNRAZMAR - RMBTATEMELRHRE - b MAARSEZEHERBL - HE LG
FRRE - BMSRRMEEREENMOE - BREHZEREST S ER -

Use of information

BRHEA

To protect customer personal information from unauthorised or unintended access and use, we have implemented
various network security protection procedures so as to make sure that the reviewing party’s access to the information is
restricted, thereby minimising the risk of information leakage.

REREFEAAER TS RERESEIINEENER - RAIEEZEEGRLHELE  UREREHALTOERZEE
Hl - ORIEERINR R RS
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The Group continues to work on providing quality property
projects and increasing customer satisfaction, and is
committed to complying with the Construction Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Regulation on the Quality
Management of Construction Projects, the Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Urban Real
Estate Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on the
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests, the Civil Code
of the People’s Republic of China, the Advertising Law of
the People’s Republic of China, etc.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material violation of applicable laws and regulations on
privacy, sales, product and service quality.

Anti-corruption
Corporate principle of integrity and incorruptibility

The Group strongly adheres to the principles of openness,
responsibility, honesty and integrity. All employees are
required to strictly obey individual and professional
ethics. The legal department regularly organizes integrity
training for staffs, warning all staffs to abide by laws and
uphold integrity in their conduct. All new staff are required
to participate in integrity/anti-corruption training as a
mandatory training course.

1.2.
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Case
E]|

Integrity Training

The legal department organized 12 sessions
of integrity training for new staff recruited
from society and all staff from the regional
(city) subsidiaries and operation projects of
the Group. The topics of the training sessions
included:

° Industry anti-fraud situation;
o Analysis of fraud risks (consequences);

o Introduction of typical economic crime
charges and the standard for filing a
charge;

° Code of Conduct for the Staff of Gemdale
Properties;

o Sharing of typical internal audit and
supervision cases;

o Adhering to the bottom line of integrity:
bearing the 6 Must in mind and casting
the 7 Accounts well

The headcount of staff participating in each
training session ranged from 30 to 400 (with a
total attendance of nearly 2,500 in 2021, nearly
1,000 more than in 2020) including employees
from all levels and team leads. Each training
session lasted for approximately 45 minutes.
Staff's awareness to law-abidingness, integrity
and self-discipline was raised through delivering
the integrity and discipline requirements during
training and sharing sessions.
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In view of the Chinese New Year, the Group's
legal department specially reminded the
staff about the handling of gifts that might
be received from suppliers or other business
partners and the principle of integrity.

FAEFMFENEIR  KEEKERBSEHRLRRIE
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BHEZINER  ETRZERA -

From 9 December 2021 to 9 January 2022, the
legal department launched an anti-corruption
clock-in and learning campaign, asking
employees to learn about the five bottom lines
of anti-corruption and integrity in corporate
WeChat.
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We require employees to report conflicts of interest on a
regular basis (and have established a channel for declaring
interests on the intranet) to prevent their private interests
from interfering with the interests of the Group in any
way, and stipulate that they must not assume any position
involving conflicts of interest, and cannot participate in
any decision involving conflicts of interest. If employees
have any questions about such matters as anti-corruption,
integrity and business ethics, they can also consult the
legal department by phone and email for appropriate
guidance.

The Group has clear whistle-blowing mechanisms and
channels, including a 24-hour hotline. Upon receiving a
case of whistle-blowing, the independent legal department
will immediately conduct preliminary verification and
evaluation to form a preliminary assessment and further
handle the case according to the preliminary assessment.
If the case proves to be valid, the supervisory staff will
conduct a comprehensive and in-depth investigation
by collecting business data and information, site visits,
inquiring the persons concerned and insiders, onsite
verification, summarization, comparison and analysis.
The findings will be reported to the management of the
Group, who will then decide whether to take further legal
actions depending on the nature and impact of the case.
In order to ensure the legal rights of the whistle-blower, the
supervisory staff adheres to confidentiality principles and
keeps the contents and progress of investigation strictly
confidential. Close attention will be paid to the methods of
investigation in order not to reveal any information about
the whistle-blower.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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We have set up a legal department to perform auditing and
supervision functions. The department is responsible for
internal control evaluation and auditing in accordance with
the “Gemdale Properties Supervision and Management
System”, “Gemdale Properties Internal Control Evaluation
and Audit System”, “Gemdale Properties Accountability
System” and annual audit plan. After each audit, the
legal department would organize an audit meeting onsite.
Management and senior management of the audited unit
are required to attend the meeting to fully understand
the deficiencies in internal control systems and heighten
compliance awareness. Rectification and improvement are
advocated to ensure the effective operation of the internal
control mechanism. The legal department also conducts
special investigations irregularly as and when required,
in order to prevent and identify potential violations of the
law and code of conduct and safeguard the interests of
the Company. Violations and disciplinary problems verified
by audits and special investigations will be notified in
a timely manner and held accountable. Important audit
results will be reported to the Group’s audit committee
to ensure that the board is aware of the audit findings
for impact evaluation. In addition, the Group attaches
great importance to corporate ethics when dealing with
suppliers. The Group enters into the “Integrity Agreement”
with suppliers, which stipulates the code of conduct to
be observed by the staff of the Group and suppliers,
including the prohibition of any inappropriate transmission
or acceptance of benefits which may affect business
dealings as well as any form of threat, obstructive behavior
and retaliation, so as to convey to them the principles of
compliance, integrity and self-discipline should be followed
in the course of business. Moreover, the Group publicizes
reporting channels such as telephone and email with the
aim of discovering the potential risks of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering as soon as possible to reduce
the probability of occurrence thereof and safeguard the
Company'’s interests.
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The Group firmly believes that, only by implementing
a range of measures such as work integrity education,
audit, sound supervision system and enhanced reporting
and accountability mechanisms, as well as continuously
regulating each decision-making procedure regarding
business management, a mechanism of checks and
balances along with mutual supervision could be
developed to effectively raise the anti-corruption awareness
of the employees, so as to safeguard the Group’s financial
and management effectiveness.

The Group will continue to abide by the relevant national
anti-corruption laws, including Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Criminal Procedure Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Interim Provisions
on the Prohibition of Commercial Bribery and Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China etc.,
integrating the anti-corruption policy into the development
plan and operating system of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
violation of applicable laws and regulations relating to
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

Supply Chain Management
Supply chain quality and environmental management

The Group places great emphasis on the quality of
its projects. As the Group’s project development and
property management are outsourced to contractors and
subcontractors, the Group’s project quality and ESG
performance depend, to a large extent, on the performance
of its supply chain. As such, the Group has established a
comprehensive supplier selection system, including the
establishment of procedure documents covering supplier
investigation, selection, bidding, subsequent supervision
and evaluation to ensure that each selection phase is
conducted with suitable criteria and consistent standards
to exclude unqualified suppliers in a fair, impartial and
open manner.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHESERRAAE

1.3.

AEERE REBBRENEHE &
iERbERE  BREMERRLESE
BIRBHE  UHERBSAERERRET
A TERERSE - EREBAKE - A
BERRABINRRER EMREEED

BBEREE U -

AEEEEREINETERRESERZE
Bl - BEChEARLMBEIE) - (hEA
RAMBHEFLE) - (PEARKME
RAEEZHFE) (BARBELBEBBITH
EITRE) M P EARAMBERERE)
E ERBRBERHATEBEZERFELE
BRI o MEHMA - AEEWEERE
MEBANERERIEHE  $R  RERLE
FERBEREIEROBER o

e EE
HER IR BRI E

AEEHBREREEZERSER - RAE
EREMETRERMEETEDIN TERRD
MoBEEmasE  AEENEBEENESGR
BRAIZEFORNVHERORIR - Btk - K
SECREYEENHERIGEKS - flan
EABEZR  &EF  BRE  REEEEF
E-RIIBIEX M - BARE AR B2
BB IRE - S—miRE - XF - RIE -
ARMERNESRNHER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In the event that the outsourced contractor fails to meet
the requirements of the bidding documents, the contract
or designated environmental measures, and is unable to
guarantee the interests of the employees, the contract
will be terminated in advance pursuant to the terms of
the contract, and the outsourced contractor will not be
engaged by the Group for a certain period of time.

In order to effectively control the quality of raw materials
and services and reduce the ESG risks to which the
Group is exposed, we continue to track the updates to
laws and regulations related to supply chain quality and
environmental management with reference to the risks
faced by our peers, and have developed a series of
internal control measures to identify, prevent and mitigate
related risks. When we choose a supplier, we will consider
whether the supplier's ESG measures are in compliance
with national regulations, such as formulating effective
measures to limit the emission of pollutants and waste
during the production process, preventing the employment
of child labor, etc. We develop an in-depth understanding
of the supplier's construction methods and raw materials
usage, and firmly implement green procurement.

In addition, the Group will do its best to engage local
suppliers for its projects in order to reduce carbon
emissions resulting from the transportation of products and
services. In FY2021, the major subsidiaries included in this
Report cooperated with a total of 614 suppliers (2020: 596
suppliers), all of which were based in Mainland China.
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Community Investment
Community involvement

As a responsible enterprise, the Group actively uses its
own resources, as well as encouraging our employees
to care for the communities in need and contribute to all
sectors of society. Over the years, the Group has not only
facilitated real estate development and development of
relevant industries to create better living environment for
society, but also fulfilled social responsibilities by actively
participating in community and charitable activities and
supporting national sports development matters, including
community-based health and safety knowledge promotion
and community-friendly activities, which have contributed
to the society in various aspects. The Group will continue to
fulfill its social responsibilities actively through its business
network, and spare no effort to contribute to communities,
support poor communities and the sectors in need in order
to contribute to the sustainable development of society.

In 2021, Gemdale Properties’ shopping malls and
properties carried out various public welfare activities to
care for the communities.
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Hangzhou Gemdale Plaza Book Day Event — The Book Knows Who Reads
MMESHESHEER TS —HME  EHNE

On 23 April 2021, Hangzhou Gemdale Plaza joined hands with Yiyou Public Welfare,
Future Smile Charitable Foundation and Hangzhou Little Angels Charity to launch a Book Day activity,
with all proceeds from book sales donated to the “School Uniform Transformation Project”
to buy school uniforms for rural children.
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Wuhan Gemdale Plaza Charity Tour — Be with the Children and Set out for Love !
RESHESNRT  HEIRER HEHE

On 15 April 2021, Wuhan Gemdale Plaza held a
charity tour and went to Shizikou Hope Primary
School and Gongyou Hope Primary School
in Liangzihu District, Ezhou, Hubei to deliver
basketball/badminton and other sports equipment
to the children, hoping to enrich their extracurricular
activities.

2021 F4 A15 BRVE S MBS BT RETT - EEHILS
MR FHRAFOFLENENARFLENE - B
RIMEXRER  PERZESEM - HELF AR
ARINEED o

GErre

Kunming Gemdale Lanting Plaza Exchange Session for Application of Universities

ERSHEFESSREEERIAE

On 24 June 2021, Kunming Gemdale Lanting Plaza,
together with the admission offices of national
Double First-Class colleges and universities, held
a public welfare admission counseling session in
Yunnan, providing advice and assistance for the
21st college examination candidates and their
parents on application of universities.
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Hunan’s first Environmental Protection Science Popularization and Education Hub for the Youngsters

HEEEELFRENEREEN

On 20 November 2021, the first Environmental Protection Science Popularization and
Education Hub for the Youngsters built by the Ecological Protection Federation of Hunan Province and
Gemdale Metropolis Fenghua was officially unveiled. This project aims to further raise people’s sense of
responsibility for protecting ecological balance. It not only guides young people to establish their ecological
and environmental awareness, change their way of thinking and regulate their behavior in relation to ecology,
but also drives more people to join in the protection of ecology and nature, which is of great
significance to achieve ecological balance and harmony between human and nature.

202111 A20H - HEE ERREHATHSIMBGAEARNNE AT O FRATEHE EERIBME -
IRE ERRRERA SNBSS RELRPEFES O FREBMEHEEH -
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Suzhou and Wuhan Gemdale Plazas Hosted Various Themed Expos

BN RESHESERZATEBE

In 2021, Gemdale Properties explored what bonded it with its consumers by building immersive
scenarios with interesting themes on the basis of digging out what the consumers most concerned
about or social hotspots. For example, Suzhou Gemdale Plaza held an urban sensory evolution tour

entitled “What Art Sees”, providing a platform for the general public to get to know different art styles and

feel different artworks; another example is the Little Bee Wonderland held by Wuhan Gemdale Plaza
to introduce the characteristics and conservation methods of bees to the public and deepen their

understanding of bee conservation through a series of games, thereby connecting nature and human life.
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Anti-epidemic measures

To support frontline workers, Nanjing Xinyao Gemdale
Plaza, in July 2021 joined hands with brands and
merchants to send lunches and cold drinks to the testing
sites in Yaohua New Village Community on Yaohua
Street for fighting against the epidemic. To promote
universal immunization, Kunming Gemdale Lanting Plaza,
in collaboration with the Majie Health Center in Xishan
District, facilitated the first and second doses injection
of the COVID-19 vaccine for residents living 2 kilometers
around the project in April and June in 2021. In December
2021, Hyatt Regency Xi’an also added to the anti-epidemic
efforts by hosting the frontline medical team and providing
logistics services to ensure the quality of food and
accommodation.
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Charitable Activities of Nanjing Xinyao Gemdale Plaza
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Convenient Vaccination Station in Kunming Gemdale Lanting Plaza

ERSHETESERKZEEEN

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

Human resources are important assets of the Group. The
Group affirms the contributions from every staff and care
about their well-being. In order to create a solid basis for
our long-term business development, the Group has been
attracting and retaining talents through effective human
resources policies. Meanwhile, the Group continuously
provides staff with appropriate trainings to improve the
quality of our employees and subsequently increase
productivity and quality of service. The Group not only
takes the Employee Code of Conduct as its management
basis, but also regards “dedication, integrity, determination
and aspiration” as the core values in its talent management,
thereby encouraging employees to break conventions and
continuously seek excellence.
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2.1.

©

Employment

Compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours and rest periods

The remuneration of employees of the Group is determined
by taking reference to market standards and industry
practices. Employee promotion and performance awards
are based on the Group’s financial performance and
objective performance appraisal of individual employees.
The Group’s employee benefit plans cover mandatory
provident fund, employee compensation insurance and
medical cover, mainland China social security funds,
subsidized educational and training programs as well
as share option schemes. The Group’s recruitment,
dismissal, working hours, rest periods and other human
resources policies comply with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance, the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women's Rights and Interests, the Trade
Union Law of the People's Republic of China, the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and other
applicable relevant laws and regulations. The Group
formulates measures in compliance with employment-
related laws and regulations and abide by it in order to
ensure that each process is legal and reasonable.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 3,962
employees (2020: 3,069 employees), all of them were full-
time employees. Relevant percentage distributions are as

RIR - HERERHE

HE2021F12A318 1L KREBHEEFEET
3,962% (20204 : 3,069%) ' YEELHE
TG BobolkwT :

follows:

2021 2020
Gender 4 31
Male Bk 61% 61%
Female pegis 39% 39%
Title B
Senior management BRERE 1% 1%
Middle management FRERE 3% 4%
Business executives ESC YN 91% 88%
Supporting staff BEAR 5% 7%
Age FiRE R
25 or below 25 BRI IA T 7% 6%
26-29 26-295% 22% 25%
30-39 30-395% 58% 56%
40-49 40-495% 12% 11%
50 or above 50553 A 1% 2%
Territory HhE
Hong Kong B 0.4% 1%
Mainland China B K R 99.6% 99%
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During the Reporting Period, a total of 929 employees
(2020: 850 employees) of the Group had resigned. The
turnover rate of each category decreased compared to last

year, as detailed below:

Turnover rate — categorized by gender

BB DR KR

Male
Bt

Female
g

Turnover rate — categorised by territory

R BEE D HRAER

Hong Kong
e

Mainland
China
B KR

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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23%
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(18%)
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24%
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R E BB - REBEHE920U 1 B B B
(20204 : 8501i) + HHABIMRKEIFRE
FEIERT TR - SEEESENT

Turnover rate — categorized by age

Age 25 or below
25K IA T

Age 26-29
26-295%

Age 30-39
30-395%

Age 40-49
40-49%%

Age 50 or above
50m% A

BFERAR B D HRAE
2
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Figures in () are data of 2020.
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The Group also provides a wide range of activities for
employees of each project in order to encourage exchange
between colleagues, enhance team cohesion and cultivate
a good working atmosphere in the office, such activities
include annual dinner, festival celebrations and activities,
company trips, family day, staff birthday parties, group
companies festival walking events, sports associations
and company food festivals, etc., thereby improving the
physical and mental health of the employees. In terms of
staff benefits, the Company endeavors to maximize online
and offline welfare activities, including long-term discount
on staff-only platform and special events.

Women’s Day Event

EN\RLZEEE

RIR - HERERHE

FEBMRBFHBHETRMHZTIFE A
BN E 2 RN - 1858 BRI &
ERRBEERFIERS  NEE  HEAR
mE) - BIIRTT REBHHKA - BT4AR
g SERREBEASTEY  ZREDHE
MABERESE  REBTIFLRE - EER
TRMTH  RETEEMMAFREL &
THRNEY BERBERNETIZEER
BEamNANESEEs -

To celebrate the Women’s Day with our staff, the Group specially organized a workplace dressing
course and distributed soap bouquets. A total of 110 employees participated in this event.
REBTIBEN=\GRH SESEERPESFEREBLREESER - AFOLETIRERIRED -
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Mid-Autumn Festival Event

HRKERE B

Mid-Autumn Festival is an important traditional Chinese festival. The Group organized a Pitch Pot
game for staff to come into play and win prizes and distributed egg yolk cakes to share the joy with staff.
A total of 270 employees participated in this event.
PRERTREESRNEREHE -  KRERPRFER  BEL-EFFURNER -
MREEEMEETHZENLE 270 B T2 EEH -

ﬁ*ﬂp -?g; ?rq-ﬂwﬂ-!mlﬂlh_h

Ve i

Association Events

e EE

Basketball, badminton, yoga and fitness associations conduct regular weekly activities to
promote the physical and mental health of employees.
£5% - PER - B REBLESACHRRED - RDESTHORE -

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group is
committed to providing a working environment free from
discrimination. This includes all employment-related
arrangements, such as recruitment, transfer, resignation,
training, promotion, remuneration and welfare, which are
conducted using objective procedures and standards
to ensure equal opportunities and fair treatment for
all employees and job applicants. The Group is firmly
opposed to all forms of discrimination.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
material violation of relevant laws and regulations on human
resources applicable to the Group, including the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and
Interests, the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
management personnel of the Group’s human resources
department are equipped with adequate knowledge and
experience regarding human resources. The management
personnel periodically monitors updates in relation to
laws and regulations on human resources and monitors
compliance so as to protect the interests of both the
employees and the Group.

Human resources policy for outsourced contractors

Some of the Group’s daily operations which require
substantial human resources are outsourced to third
parties, including construction of development projects
and property management. Such operations are labor
intensive, thus the Group is committed to monitoring the
human resources policies of outsourced contractors. The
Group conducts investigations to understand the human
resources management and past compliance record of
contractors. They are also part of the assessment criteria
to be considered directly during contractor selection and
regular performance appraisals.

RIR - HERERHE
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©

Health and Safety 22, RBEHEZE

Occupational health and safety BEEREZ T

The Group places great emphasis on occupational health AEESEERBERERLZ S - WRIVE
and safety. It actively implements measures to provide mEmREEES FMEBEBINAEEL
an ideal and safe working environment for its employees, ABURAFREEBRMEBRZ2MNIFR
construction work of contractors for property projects BeoHp  KFEBRIREZHAANERRITR
and the employees of tenants. Among which, our human HARE  BIABLXEZAIRERIMA
resources and administration department is responsible B AFREFZEZHMRIMIAE -

for the safety of the Group’s employees, while the safety
of construction workers is responsible by customer
service department, and that of tenants and customers is
responsible by property department.

Safety of the Group’s employees Safety of construction workers

e Annual health check e  Site environmental requirements
e Recreational activities e Training requirements

e Staff association e Insurance requirements
EEEIZE HBIAEBRZ

o FEBR o THIRBEBNR

s EEED o HFHIER

e BTIWE e RERER

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Safety of tenants’ employees

e Fire safety knowledge
trainings

e Monthly safety
inspections

e Annual fire drill

BFEEEZ2
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Considering that the employees of the Group mainly work
in office premises and perform administrative tasks, the
Group has formulated different initiatives and organised
various activities to improve their physical and mental
health, as well as achieving work-life balance. For
instance, the Group arranges regular medical check-ups
every year (the rate of employees’ health check reached
100% in 2021), provides benefits such as fitness activities
to employees, and organises festival walking events,
company trips, food festivals, fun parent-child carnival
sports events and city wall marathons etc., in order to help
our employees to alternate work with rest. Furthermore, the
Group offers diverse association activities and organises
weekly sport events such as basketball, badminton, yoga
and fitness etc., thereby improving the physical and mental
health of employees. The Company advocates employees
to devote themselves into work with stronger physiques
and with full enthusiasm.

In addition to the above measures, Xi'an Zhutai has also
engaged a third party to assess the air quality of the
working environment of the office to ensure a comfortable
and safe working environment for employees. Paying
attention to the health of employees, Nanjing Vision
holds TCM consultation activities for individual interested
employees to get TCM advice.

For business personnel of contractors who are engaged
in relatively dangerous construction activities, the Group
has formulated rigorous standards to regulate the safety
management of its contractors. Specifically, the project
company will review the documents of commercial
insurance purchased, organise safety training and
arrange for technical handover before commencement of
construction or service by contractors. All the requirements
and standards in relation to occupational health and safety
of the Group have been clearly stipulated in the safety
codes provided to contractors. At the same time, the
project company strictly requires contractors to provide
construction workers with sufficient personal protective
equipment, in order to reduce the risk of injury. In the
hot weather in summer, the project company requires
contractors to implement measures to prevent heatstroke,
such as arranging shifts for outdoor workers, to protect
their health when working in high temperature conditions.
The project company regularly inspects the conditions
of construction sites and hires a third party to conduct
inspection to ensure that contractors have strictly complied
with the abovementioned health and safety requirements

RIR - HERERHE
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of the Group about project constructions. The third party
will issue a project evaluation brief after inspecting the
construction project, which records the basic information of
the project in detail (including the construction company,
supervision company and construction progress, etc.),
assess the quality, production safety, engineering
progress, management behavior and other aspects of the
project and specify the problems and potential dangers
arising from the above aspects, and track the progress of
rectification and solution of the problems. To understand
the project situation and comprehensively ensure
construction safety, the Group and the project contractor
regularly hold safety meetings and record meeting minutes
in detail. The contractor shall report the construction work
(including the name of the construction task, time limit,
completion status, start and end date and the person in
charge, etc.), the technical and quality work, the self-
inspection of safe and civilized construction, the issues to
be solved, the opinions of the supervision unit, the safety
and quality problems existing on the construction site,
etc. Contractors also have to report any material safety
incidents immediately for continuous monitoring by project
companies. As for the outsourced property management
business which incurs a relatively lower safety risk, the
Group sets out clear requirements to contractors, in
bidding documents, on the purchase of social insurance
for employees, provision of occupational safety and health
training, and purchase of additional commercial insurance
for projects with major dangers. In order to further improve
health and safety of employees and reduce work-related
injuries, Nantong Jinlei organises irregular online
examinations and pushes relevant public course irregularly
on the company platform.

During the operation of commercial projects, the project
company regularly organises training to strengthen fire
safety knowledge of tenants’ employees, conducts monthly
safety inspections on fire safety, electricity and water
use and annual fire drill exercise. The project company
also reviews the staff training plan (covering fire safety,
staff safety, occupational health and safety) prepared by
the property company at the beginning of each year and
supervises the implementation of the training plan in the
daily operation to ensure that the property personnel are
equipped with sufficient safety knowledge to meet work
requirements.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Fire drill at Shenzhen Gemdale Vision Center

(R 2 REFFH0)

To enhance the fire emergency handling
capacity, Shenzhen Gemdale Vision Center
conducted a fire drill in October 2021, simulating
fire extinguishing and conducting an emergency
evacuation drill.

Case

E3Y])

R 1 B H 0 H B B AR

RIERHEESEEEN RIS B OR

2021510 HETTHEINER - BRI L ETT
KZGAL °

The Group has strictly complied with applicable laws
and regulations such as the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests,
the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances of the
People's Republic of China to protect its employees from
any potential hazards in the work workplace affecting their
health and safety. Regular supervision on occupational
health and safety are being conducted by the human
resource department of the Group to ensure the operation
safety is in compliance with the requirements of relevant
laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the
Group was not aware of any material violation of applicable
laws and regulations on employee health and safety.
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Through the abovementioned occupational health and
safety measures and cooperation of all parties, the Group
recorded zero lost day due to work injury of the Group
during the Reporting Period. There was also no death
arising from accidents at work in the past three years.
The Group will continue to keep up the outstanding
performance in occupational health and safety to maintain
the record of zero work casualty.

The COVID-19 Pandemic

Since the end of 2019, the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic
has caused an international public health crisis and
resulted in suspension of economic activities of different
countries over the world. During the pandemic, the Group
firmly upheld its mission and followed the instructions of
the local government to resume operations in an orderly
manner, safeguarding the health and safety of employees
and customers.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Five-level prevention and control mechanism FY|EEET TR ZEEE

for resumption of work at Shenzhen Park

Level 1: Strict entrance control is implemented. % —# : BILEHEAD - BEEREF FH &

Staff in-charged, equipped with protective
suits, goggles, masks and disposable
gloves, will conduct information
verification to confirm that the visitors
are allowed to resume work. In case the
visitors have not obtained permission to
resume work, they will be asked to leave
and move to isolation area.

Level 2: Staff in-charged will further perform =%
foot disinfection for customers with 84
disinfectant.

Bt
Il
=

Level 3: Customers have to line up in waiting
area for temperature check, and keep
a physical distance of 1 meter between
individuals.

Level 4: Staff in-charged will measure the S
temperature of customers and register
their details. They will be allowed to enter
the plant after verifications.

Level 5: Leaders (manager level and above) of SR
each department of Weixin Property
Services Centre shall conduct random
temperature checks to ensure the body
temperatures of customers are normal.
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2.3.

Development and Training
Employee development and training

The businesses of the Group incur certain extent of
professionalism, therefore, the expansion of human
resources is essential to sustainable development of
the Group. We have set up a comprehensive training
system covering employees of all levels. The contents of
training courses include corporate culture, professional
management and basic management etc., with the aims
to improve the job related knowledge and skills of our
employees comprehensively and unlock their potential.
The Group believes that, this is not only beneficial to the
personal and professional development of employees,
but will also enhance the operational performance of the
Group.

Management team

BRI

“We have great responsibilities in the Group
and must lead all our staff to move forward

firmly---” .t
[BMESEHREEER  BUHEDEET R
ERRATE...
. Training
targets
Newly recruited employees from . BAHR
the market
HEFAET ...
“We have been working for a period of AT

time and wish to assist in the development
of the Group with our experience:-"

[BMELETIET —RERH - FEUL
BB EEERE..

Corporate culture

i 3.7 FRER

. ® Leader exchanges among the Group . @ Strategies of the Group
= @ Development history of the Group
= @ Corporate culture .
= ® Professional integrity e
. ® Articles of Association of subsidiaries . @ Site-visit of projects
- @ Site-visit of projects

- o EEEER R sl e REEm

T e EEBES L e EEIEE
D e AL T EHEREE
* @ BEIRSE - o TR

- o FATMEHIE . @IFEER

- D EFIRERS T
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* @ Brand management of the Group
= ® Product management of the Group
® Engineering management

Professional management

. @ Structure and division of work of depanments:

BRREI
V=E Y

AEREMRENXFEARERENER
o ARANERNERAEEFERRT
AR —R - EECHIETENHEIE
FOHKRERBFIET REAREBHEL
Exft EXEEREREERSE - 27N
REB M TEMBIEE - WHEHEEN -
AREEMBE - HENMEBENNEENEA KR
ERER  THARRETEENSERR

Newly recruited employees

from college

BERMET

“We are in the early stage of career with

limited experience, but we hope to try our

best to realise our aspirations-+"

(BRI S e KBREE BFED
TAE - —RIBE..]

Employees who are new

comers to the city

FMmET

“We have just arrived in this city and will try

to adapt to the new environment as soon as

possible---"

[BPIMBERERT - B HRREEEH
HIRE..

Basic management
EREE

. ® Human resources

* @ Financial reimbursement

= ® Application of information systems

= ® Application of office systems .
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Apart from internal training courses, the Group also
encourages its employees to participate in external
trainings, including training on duties and skills of special
job positions. Training expenses of qualified courses will
be borne by the Group. The Group also formulates different
career development plans and programs according to
different business natures, as well as personal aspirations,
competencies and development needs of the employees.

In 2021, the Group held four large-scale offline training
activities, including the 2021 Training Camp for New
Employees, the 2021 Orientation Camp for Talents (2021
fE & ABFI4RE), the 2021 Golden Wing Plan — Intensive
Training for Project Manager (2021F4& Rt B 431
%£7l) and Session 1 of the Comprehensive Big Class of
the City (BAAKXBEEE —HIES). At the same time, we
also launched three online training programs: Gemdale
Properties professional learning map for marketing -
investment and design. These training programs met the
learning needs of different employees and were widely
recognized by employees.

RIR - HERERHE
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2021 Training Camp for New Employees
2021 B THIRE

In September 2021, nearly 50 new employees from the headquarters of Gemdale Properties and
its branches all over the country gathered together to participate in various experiencing
programs to understand the business and strategic development of Gemdale Properties and
get familiar with each other in the exchange training program.

20215 9F - REMEBERE  REMHD RIS MEIER —%  2MSERRETH -

INT BB BN ERLERER - BREEIRRP AR -

e T
e e

524
p2

T. 1

Interesting Team Building and Cooperation Promotion

BREZ HERA

In the morning, employees firstly visited the Gemdale Vision Center, and experienced
the brand concept of Gemdale Properties in building product strength and launching new projects
in Shenzhen. Then employees got familiar with each other through funny games, and divided players
into 4 groups to participate in a novel, intense and exciting dryland curling competition.
FFEMERE - AREZE T WEFTOEE - BEMRER B BEE MR ENRRYISZHEmEIER -
ez i@ im B P RUIRE AR WU W D B4ENE - 2EEAIE - BRRPHFHKTLE -
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2021 Training Camp for New Employees
2021 B TSR

Classical Courses Imparting

Knowledge and Solving Problems

RARE HEMRR

Gan Lin, Assistant General Manager of the
Human Resources Administration Center and
Liu Lizheng, Deputy General Manager of the
Strategic Management Department, were specially
invited to give classical lectures on Corporate
Culture of Gemdale Properties and Strategic
Planning for Gemdale Properties.The core
values of “concentrating on work, being honesty,
striving endlessly and pioneering endlessly” were
interpreted with the introduction of the overall
development course and events of Gemdale
Properties and vivid entrepreneurial stories in the
courses. At the same time, the new employees’
understanding of business planning were
deepened through the analysis of strategic logic.
IR SRR FEANITERROBEE R - SEER
HEIBR T IFERTRARE ——(LHMEHELEX
)RR BEERERE) - BANADHEAENE
BEREEIKERL  UWEDNBIEREZ2REIADL
ME - HERA  BEFTE  BIETILINZLEE
B RNBBBKREBRNON  IAFEIHEBR
ZIEVIBER -

ARDiTHRLG BHR
Gan Lin,
Human Resources
Administration Center

Training site

ERRE R TR ON Uzl sRRABeS
Liu Lizheng, Active participation of
Strategic Management trainees
Department

Team Building and Interaction
EEHE EERIR

Before this training, we conducted research and
designed a team co-creation session, discussed
the topics of “good orientation experience in your
eyes” and “pain points of and solutions for cross-
department work”. Colleagues made suggestions
based on their own experience and put forward
various valuable ideas. Song Yangfan, Manager
of the Human Resources Administration Center
of the headquarter, answered questions raised

in the research. You Ran, HR and Brand Director
of Gemdale Properties, also attended the camp,
welcoming every new colleague and wishing them
more diversified development opportunities in
Gemdale Properties.

I 55 51 A1 A R FR AR T SR s B B L AR AN - ST [ RER
Rare ABESER | R[S PI TERmE R &R 5
BREMNR  FEMAAEEFRXOOEEHE 12
HREZ B EBENEE - STHAMPAKEOHHRE
BEBANTHRORBGNEBR —RARETER
SHEEA N R@EAEN AL FEES - mE—E
FREXRTED  UEFEICSMHERESEES T
HERES -

You Ran,
Human Resources
Administration Center
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2021 Orientation Camp for Talents
2021 & AR SRE

In July 2021, 35 newly recruited employees from college participated in the 15-day 2021 Orientation
Camp for Talents to officially launch their careers. The talents quickly integrated into the Group through project
visits and meetings. The talents also learned professional knowledge of various businesses
in the training, so as to master practical work skills and workplace etiquette and build team spirit.

The 15-day training was concluded with a report for the camp.
The talents not only cooperated and completed the general layout plan, the floor plan and
the real scene model under the theme of “housing, industry and business”,
but also completed the investment budget and set business goals, showing outstanding performance.

2021478 - %MW%%W%M%&I/A%%w%MmmFé%A% g ERFRBELE -
CEMBEREBER 328 REBAKEE - £FIHE - ¢EMTB2EZEREZENS
ﬂ%aﬁﬁ B TIEFRREMBLISE % - B E BB o

1B RMEIIA BB ERELE - BET  EXNBENTET  2BEMEHITRETE -
FRERESEE 'JZ%é FERTRENENHETRFEEE  RESR -

-
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2021 Golden Wing Plan - Intensive Training for Project Manager
2021 F & E5HEE B AET

The Golden Wing Plan completed the first session of off-line intensive training in September 2021
to improve the comprehensive ability of the project manager, one of the Group’s most critical

talent teams. The intensive training includes the opening ceremony and six professional courses,

including engineering, operation, investment, marketing, design and customer service,
and gathers together the lecturers and course resources with the highest quality in each professional line.
20215 9A @ @RFHETHETE LI BASESZBARNOATHE 2 —  HEENGEAED -
AREJNBEREARIIE B  RE - & &5t ERASKRFEHRE -
6T EHEERERABENEMMRIZER

Professional Empowerment — Unusually
Brilliant

HEME BEA=

The senior management and lecturers from
six professional lines of investment, design,
marketing, engineering, operation and customer
service shared in the professional empowerment
based on the courseware of 2020, and in
combination with the new policies and cases in
2021: On the one hand, the senior management
introduced the general trend and background of
the professions, and pointed out the awareness
and management experience in the general
direction for the attendants; on the other hand,
the lecturers of each profession combined theory
introduction, case analysis and on-site interaction
to impart knowledge to and solve problems for
project managers.

ORBEMRL - 2020 F RIFHETE - 4552021
FHOBRMED - aRkERE Rt E#H T
BEE BERAARZERGNS E BB PIET
THZE: — T EHHERERAZENABEENKRER
ER HGZ2EMELERFRALLONEBRNEELE
SHTHESEXEMEEEREAN BOISTAR
RS EEHN AN KEBREERE  EREX -

Consolidate Knowledge in the Form of Granting
to Promote On-the-job Skills and Experience

EEEENE ERERET

The training adopted the form of granting, so
that the trainees can improve their understanding
of knowledge in combination with the
course practice. Meanwhile, IDP (Individual
Development Plan) was taken as the follow-
up method in combination with the work of the
project manager, and the current post shortage/
problems to be improved were taken as the
training tasks and practice, so as to promote the
resolution of core problems, pay attention to the
improvement of performance, and promote the
transformation from individual ability improvement
to organizational capability. The IDP practice
of the trainees was tested prior to the second
session.

RARBBHRBERTN  BREESREEBAT
B - R ABE IR o R AIDP (AAERE
SPENERIRESN - BABEBAIIERE - LAER
MAUTNE/ FRERNBESEREB L EE - #E)
ROHERBER - BTEENRES  HEEARNRA
AR (L - WASHE BRI ATARBIE 8
TIDPEEEER °

Annual Report 2021 &3] @



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
HtERERRE

Session 1 of the Comprehensive Big Class of the City
WHERBESE—H

In June 2021, session 1 of the Comprehensive Big Class of the City, with the theme of
“operation management and control”, was conducted by Bao Yiqun, Deputy General Manager of
East China Region and General Manager of Huanhu Company, in Gemdale Vision Center,
the future headquarters of Gemdale Properties.

In the lecture, Mr. Bao explained “what to manage by operation” and “how to manage operation”
in a simple way, combined with a series of effective measures such as BSC (Balance Score Card) management,
monthly plan, special assessment, conference management, sales collection, goods value management,
and operation management and control of Huanhu Company, to explain in detail the promotion of
operation management and control to company operation. Besides, he used excellent practice
cases to explain how to promote the operation performance of projects through scientific pre-planning.

20214F6 A - EHIWMTARAARBENELEZ I ATE  HEREYNIRCERRED A ALIRMBHKET -
EEé%ﬂﬂﬁﬁEiﬂEZK?!ﬁﬁé%ﬁtﬁi%ﬁqjm»ﬁﬁﬁ%°

i

BET  HARBRANZHNERELCENEINRIELEEE] GEREQRMNBSC (FEROR) EER - AER
g JREL - eREE  HEQOX  BEEE- %ﬁ§¥% RIBMEBE  FHRELEREARKENED -

= kB
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Online Training Program
& L3RR E

In 2021, the Group launched 3 online training programs, which are open to all employees.
The corresponding professionals shall conduct learning and examination according to the
learning plan of the relevant department of the headquarters.

The game-like format of the programs helped to increase employees’ interest and engagement in training,
apart from giving them more flexibility to participate in the online training, regardless of time and place.
In addition, online training also allows the Group to timely expand and
adjust the learning content according to the feedback from trainees during the learning process,
so as to further improve training efficiency and experience.

2021 FEEML T3ER LIFIIER - MG 2RETSH -
HEBEXABFTREAKAEBONEBABETEE  EH -

REBIRR TR TEIEREN - TS - B T2 8BS - RIAR KA
BIIBEEMT AT EEEME TR - SRASEE - I R EFITRAEEBBREHE
SRBRTHATNRE  RRER  ABR2EBRD - £ SRIEIIREMER -

Gemdale Properties professional learning map for marketing
HMESXERME 2L HBE

WRES Eh (e L L RE ]
EEE (0 Eh i) L. Hiyt]
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Online Training Program

B EEIEE
Gemdale Properties professional learning map Gemdale Properties professional learning
for investment map for design
HMESXZERHMEZREHE BHESXERMEZRTHE
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During the Reporting Period, all of our employees had
participated in trainings and the average training hours
completed were 13.7 hours (2020: 11.6 hours).

Labour Standards
Prevention of child labour or forced labour

In strict accordance with the requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations on human resources, the
Group recruits personnel who have attained the age of 18
or above with valid identification, and verifies the identity
of candidates when they first report duty. The companies
under the Group uphold the principles of fairness,
openness and voluntariness when recruiting, and signing
legal employment contracts with each employee, without
any use of forced labour.

On the other hand, contracts signed between the Group
and contractors include provisions regarding human
resources. Such provisions require the contractors
to ensure that the employment of all personnel is in
accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China or applicable relevant laws and regulations.
Employment of child labour and forced labour, in any kind,
is strictly forbidden.

The Group conducts random inspections on subsidiaries
and contractors on a regular basis to ensure that there is
no violation of the relevant applicable laws and regulations
and will continue to strictly comply with the laws of the
People’s Republic of China, such as the Labour Law, the
Underage Workers Special Protection Provisions, the Law
on the Protection of Minors and the Prohibition of Child
Labour Provisions. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any violation of applicable laws and
regulations on the prevention of child labour or forced
labour.

2.4,

RIR - HERERHE

RFEHE  AEENE2EBEEHAEEXE
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¢

 HERERBRE

CARE FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group is a real estate company specialised in
property development, property investment and property
management. The Group understands that business
development will exert certain impacts on the surrounding
environment, therefore the Group has always regarded
environmental protection as a significant commercial factor,
and sought to provide customers and other stakeholders
with a natural and unspoiled environment.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental
protection and to monitor performance progress more
effectively, the Group has established long-term
environment-related targets:

BERE

AEBR—FEINYEERR MERER
MEBEBRNEHENRR - REBRRERE
RERASBESTR-ENTE RILAE
B-ERRERESEENHEZE @ BK
BEHEMBEFPUAREMENEEANZER
R PEBPIRMIRE -

REBEEHRERENAENEARESR
RAEE  AEEEY T RENRSEAEMA

2

Category Al Target for 2030% * 2030F B &>

Non-hazardous waste EEREREY) Intensity of paper products waste BROMEEZEHL8%
to decrease by 8%

Energy utilisation gEIRfE A Intensity of petroleum usage to FOBRAERERL 4%

(and related emissions) (M rEFEEHERR) decrease by 4%
Intensity of electricity consumption ~ AE=(&HEATSIBAA

(and the resulted greenhouse gas EREBHER) BER D
emissions) to decrease by 15% 15%

Use of water resources KEREA Intensity of water consumption to RAKEREERD13%

decrease by 13%

The Group’s policies on and measures for reduction of
emission and waste, use of energy and water resources
are described in the following sections.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to fulfilling its social responsibility
and promoting corporate citizenship. During project
development, the Group strictly abides by applicable
environmental laws and regulations and national standards,
and tries to minimise the impact on the environment and
natural resources.

P The baseline year for the target for 2030 is 2021.

& Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/emissions per
employee.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Noise and dust from project construction

The Group understands that the construction activities
of property development projects may cause pollution
to the surrounding environment and strives to minimise
the impact. Before commencement of construction, the
Group employs qualified third-party environmental impact
assessment experts to conduct a detailed assessment
of the environmental impacts arising from project
development, establish a written environmental impact
assessment report and formulate a mitigation plan. During
the project implementation period, the Group allocates
special funds and implements all measures to control
the impact of construction activities on surrounding
environment, including dust and noise. In particular, the
Group requires its construction contractors to control dust
and noise by adopting the following measures:

Dust control

Noise control

ZEHEL ZEHRE

HERERBRE

HEHETRERET

REBMARPEHEBR LAY EERE
EROSR BB EBRREERIE - £
HEBIA  AKBEZFAERNE=AR
BEETHERYBERAEMIIBNREY
EEITHAT G BEUEEMNREZETE
WMELHEEERE - FIEEBHREE - A
SEAREEES 2N EERBEESET
BREAFAERESROTE  pEEL B
ZE-HEmEs  ALEEREBRIEM
HEAFEUTEEASHEL RS

spraying equipment at construction sites
e T35 35 00 & 18 R BN L B R K 15 EE

Strictly comply with the six 100%
requirements: “100% hoarding of
construction sites,100% coverage of
bulk material stacking, 100% washing of
in-and-out vehicles, 100% pavement of
roads in construction sites, 100% closed
transportation of muck vehicles and
100% wet operation on demolition sites”
BIEETFRERDZBEKX  [BIHES
100% [El#E - BUEWFBER100% B E - b
AEEH100% 7% i LIS EEE 100% 8
b~ B LEH100% % HER - 78I
100% @ A1ES

Real-time monitoring of PM2.5 and other
data
HEREEPM255EH

e To reduce dust by setting up road e To reduce noise transmission by

installing sound insulation panels and
noise reduction panels in specific
construction areas

TR T8 b LR 15 ER B 1 B R B2 P R AR DAL
DE MR E EE

Strictly comply with the noise emission
controls on day-time, night-time and
holidays imposed by local governments

G ESPH T B - R AR B R
B IR S BERLIR I

Real-time monitoring of the level of noise
by noise dosimeter at construction sites
M LIRS R A EE R IR EKE
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¢

Dust and noise control
BrRBEES

Project renovation works

In order to mitigate the impact of renovation work by
tenants and property owners on other property users
and the environment, relevant guidelines have been
established for certain projects, which require customers
to submit applications to property management before
carrying out any type of construction work. Customers
shall provide supporting documents to the property
management for renovation work and management, to
demonstrate compliance with standards of the project and
relevant regulatory authorities in different aspects such as
construction quality, construction operation, environmental
protection and safety. Additionally, renovation materials
used by the Group and its operations are all in compliance
with relevant regulatory requirements of China for green
environmental protection, such as the provisions stipulated
in the Code for Indoor Environmental Pollution Control of
Civil Building Engineering (GB-50325-2001D) and other
relevant national standards, and meeting inspection
standards.

Indoor air quality of projects

As for the operation of the property projects, the office
buildings and shopping malls of the Group implement a
complete ban on smoking. Air purifiers or air conditioning
are also installed by property management to ensure
indoor air quality. For catering merchants which generate
considerable amount of emissions, advanced equipment
such as imported fume extractors, professional rainwater-
sewage separators and grease traps have been deployed
for air purifying. In addition, since the decomposition of
kitchen waste will produce peculiar smell, the Group has
arranged a separate garbage room for collection of food

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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waste. The Group has also installed ventilating, venting
and refrigeration equipment for the food garbage room
to eliminate odour in daily operation. In addition, the
renovation materials and furniture used in the projects
are also in compliance with formaldehyde safety emission
standards.

The Group is committed to environmental protection,
thereby realising the sustainable development of the Group
and contributing to the environmental protection work of
the community.

Apart from focusing on the environmental impact of
its own business operations, the Group also attaches
great importance to raising awareness of environmental
protection in the community. In April 2021, the Earth Day,
Beijing Gemdale Plaza, jointly with office white-collars,
brand merchants, CBD management committee, subdistrict
office, public welfare organizations and college students’
incubation projects, carried out environmental protection
themed activities in the form of online participation and
offline experience, including environmental art installation
exhibition, environmental science popularization, good
barter, garbage classification, and games, advocated
environmental protection concept, and carried out
environmental protection actions, leading the green lifestyle
trend for the white-collars.

RIR - HERERHE

W o AR AERIREZE TEE - 5
RS M - R BB RREIRE
B UK o WO - B AT MR E R
RARETGA FRE 2 HRE -

AEEFBEMBIRNRFERETIE  LEH
A AER  RERAEEZRRNTHE
M RHEENREREIELEENE
B o

RTHIBSERBEELRENTE  &H
RAEERREHERRED - N202154 A
Wt RIRE - RSP L EBERETIE
MABE - mEEF  CBDEZS  #H18
W AEmAs - KRBEERLEER  RERKL
28 GTRBRORRIBILEY  BERRF
BMEKER  BRRMEEE  HURE
TR BREHESBLA - BERRE
2 ARRRTY  SIRARERERENE
&7 R

Environmental Protection Activities on the Earth Day at Beijing Gemdale Plaza
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3.2. Climate Change 3.2

We closely monitor the risks and opportunities that climate
change brings to the Group’s business and have included
the risks of climate change in the risk management
framework of the Company to adapt to or mitigate the
impacts of climate change on its business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group identified the
following important examples of climate change risks and
their potential financial impacts, taking into account the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”):

Rix& 1

BPEDRIRIEZ MR EB M ER S
ReVE R EKE - BREZ2(CRREBER
AR EEAEIR A - 1158 FE OB & R
RECHEEBOTE

RAREHRRN - £ERXERIZABITISBE
T E/]MH ([Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures], [TCFD) ik + &
AHATEEZRES ARG T REEE

B/ R .
SR E

Physical risks Risk events Financial impact

ERERER R g 37

Immediate risks Occurrence of extreme weather events, Damage to real assets, resulting in
BB % & B such as typhoons, floods, etc. property losses, injuries and deaths

B RIREM - R - HKEREE

BEEREE  EXNUYWERX  AnBT

Transition risks Risk events

R E - s

Financial impact

b2

Policy and regulatory risks The government tightened energy
R oA R guidelines for buildings and regulated
high-pollution projects in the industry

BT EZEMEERIES] - RBERNS

VP 2=
Market risks Rising customer demand for green
s E kR buildings
BEHGEEENT R A
Technical risk Use of more renewable energy and
R e environmentally friendly materials

EREZ A BARRMERERDE

Increasing operating costs to meet
government regulations
EINEERARAFEBITIRE

Failure to develop green buildings in
time may reduce income

RN R ERESON DK
Increasing investment and
procurement costs

IR E KRB A
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In view of extreme weather events, the Group guides
each commercial project through the formulation of
the Typhoon Contingency Plan, to defend itself against
the impacts of typhoons in an effective and organised
manner to minimise the damages caused by disasters.
Project general managers shall act as the commanders
of typhoon contingency response and be responsible
for the coordination of each contingency team, aiming to
obtain, issue and track real-time updates in the shortest
possible time to take precautionary measures and
minimise damages. After the typhoon, where feasible,
project managers shall examine the areas under their
management, assess the damages caused by the typhoon
and arrange recovery work. As the area where the project
property is located is in the face of a certain degree of
flood risk, Shenzhen Vision formulated the Vision Flood
Contingency Plan to further strengthen the implementation
of flood contingency measures, hoping to carry out flood
prevention, rescue and disaster relief in a swift, highly
efficient and orderly manner in the event of heavy rain
and flood emergency. The plan can further enhance
the employees’ emergency response capacity against
floods, raise their awareness on disaster prevention and
protection, minimise damages caused by floods and
safeguard the customers’ lives and assets.

In addition, Shenzhen Vision has established a
comprehensive business continuity management system
and standards to identify the potential internal and external
risks that may have an impact on the Group’s operation.
It has also formulated a sound emergency structure and
recovery plan to cope with uncertain factors (such as
extreme weather conditions caused by climate change),
and to ensure that the ordinary course of business can
continue to operate in an orderly manner after the disaster,
thereby reducing their impact. Shenzhen Vision received
the 1S022301:2012 Business Continuity Management
Systems Certification issued by the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency.
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 HERERBRE

Emissions

Environmental assessment on property development
projects

All property development projects of the Group are
outsourced to professional third-party contractors, so the
Group does not directly produce any major emissions
(such as exhaust fumes and sewage, etc.) during the
phase of development. Nevertheless, the Group takes
the responsibility for supervising outsourced contractors.
During the field construction process of the projects,
the Group entrusts third-party engineering consulting
companies to conduct on-site inspections on the
environmental protection situation, working environment
and safety conditions periodically, ensuring environmental
protection measures for the projects are continuously
monitored and all deficiencies are rectified in a timely
manner. In addition, the Group has integrated green design
concepts into its projects, and put its best efforts to adhere
to the one-star design standards of China’s Assessment
Standards for Green Building. The selection of third-party
contractors, construction process and the acceptance
inspection are all under supervision of surveyors and
engineers from the project company. Among the property
projects of the Group, 5 projects have attained Green
Building Design Label — 3 Star; 42 projects have attained
Green Building Design Label — 2 Star; and 42 projects have
attained Green Building Design Label — 1 Star. Compared
with 2020, the number of projects attaining Green Building
Design Label in 2021 increased by 3. Furthermore, 1
project has attained LEED Platinum Certification, 5 projects
have attained LEED Gold Certifications and 1 project has
attained LEED Certification.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Environmental protection measures for property
management

For its property management, the Group has implemented
various environmental protection policies and encouraged
outsourced property management personnel, tenants and
owners to carry out energy conservation and emission
reduction measures in compliance with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Air Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Solid Waste
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other laws and regulations. The
Group entrusts Shenzhen Gemdale Property Management
Co., Ltd. (“Gemdale PM") to take responsibility for property
management of property development and commercial
projects. Gemdale PM has obtained the ISO14001
certification with its environmental protection work meeting
international standards. Besides, over the years, Gemdale
PM has been cooperating with Dongjiang Environmental
Company Limited, which is recognized by the Shenzhen
Government. Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited
is responsible for disposing of waste produced from repair
and maintenance of equipment and facilities during the
property management operations, and ensuring the waste
is disposed of properly. Property waste warehouses are set
up by project property management personnel to collect
waste oil, waste liquid, waste lighting and other hazardous
waste in a centralized manner, which will be transferred to
qualified environmental protection companies for further
processing on a regular basis.
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Waste disposal for tenants and owners

In terms of waste disposal for offices, shopping malls
and other projects, the Group strictly implements local
waste sorting policies. The waste collector shall first sort
general waste, collect recyclable and reclaimable waste
for recycling and clear up other wastes. For certain waste
that requires special treatment, such as food residues with
unpleasant smell, the Group has also arranged separate
spaces for special collection and temporary storage, and
has set up various facilities to reduce the impact on the
surrounding environment. The Group also requires the
property management companies to engage qualified
garbage disposal companies to clear up and dispose of
the waste produced.

In terms of waste reduction, the Group requires property
management companies to set up a used battery collection
box at the waste collection site of the projects, where used
batteries from employees and customers will be collected
to reduce land pollution. The Group also requires waste
sorting and has put up posters in conspicuous places
of the projects to encourage merchants, employees and
customers to sort waste and facilitate recycling.

The Group has also established corresponding control
measures for oil fume emission and sewage treatment
for catering merchants in shopping malls. Whenever
tenants apply for renovation, the Group will require the
tenants to install a two-stage oil fume filter system and
three-stage oil and residue separators inside their stores
for oil fume and sewage treatment. The Group further
requires the tenants to clean up their kitchen exhaust
hoods and oil separators every day as well as the smoke
vents and kitchen ventilators regularly during their routine
operation. In addition, the Group requires property
management companies of the projects to engage qualified
environmental protection companies to clean up and drain
the public oil separators to ensure their effective operation.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Waste recycling bins in projects
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Waste reduction measures within the Group

The Group also requires property management companies
to use electronic records for their routine inspection work,
and reduce the use of paper record forms. When it is
necessary to use paper record forms, the quantity used
shall be checked carefully and the forms shall be printed in
bulk to reduce the use of paper.

In addition, the Group has implemented eco-office
measures, including requiring employees to select single-
sided used paper as the default printing option, and
setting up single-sided used paper/waste paper recycling
bins next to the printer to strengthen the centralized
collection and disposal of waste paper, old newspapers
and magazines. Employees are also encouraged to
communicate with each other via email and reduce the
use of paper as much as possible. Paperless office is
implemented by handling paperwork electronically, and
reducing paper waste from administrative work. The
Group also requires employees to raise the environmental
protection awareness by posting labels such as “Save
Disposable Tableware” and “Do Not Waste Paper” in the
pantries and restrooms, to constantly remind employees
of energy conservation and emission reduction. To further
advocate environmental protection, Shenzhen Vision office
uses white porcelain cups instead of disposable paper
cups in customer reception.
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The majority of waste ® generated by the Group during the
Reporting Period was disposable paper products, such
as used paper from administrative work, paper cups for
customer reception and plastic water bottles. The total
amount of related waste generated is as follows:

Amount of paper

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

AEENRERENEEN T BERY AT
B ARERR - RERAOERE - RITAR
mo ARBBKE HEBRENELAELE
LUl

Amount of plastic

product waste Intensity  water bottle waste Intensity
generated (kg) (kg/per employee) generated (kg) (kg/per employee)
Year MEDEEY BnE BRXREREY RnE
FE EXEB(AF) (B fF/BiufES) BEXE2 (D) (AF ./ BuES)
2021 1,863.50 0.47 323.00 0.08
2020 1,840.00 0.60 621.00 0.20

The Group did not directly generate a large quantity of
hazardous waste.

The Group has prepared a range of environmental
protection solutions related to the property management
process as well as environmental protection guidelines
related to the work of employees, for the employees of the
Group and property management companies to follow.
The Group also promotes the concept of environmental
protection among merchants and customers, and
encourages them to implement relevant measures. The
above measures have been duly implemented during the
Reporting Period and have led to successful results.

5 Only includes waste directly controlled and generated by the
Group and excludes waste generated by other third parties (i.e.
tenants, owners and third-party service providers).
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Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group mainly come
from the use of energy in daily office work and property
management with relevant emissions as follows®:

RIR - HERERHE

AEENBEREAREERERAERA
BMEEBETEZERER - AEHENRED
To

Scope 1 Scope 2 Intensity (tonnes

(tonnes CO.e) (tonnes CO.e) CO,e/per employee)

Year gHE— HiE— BE (=gt
FE (M-FtREE (BM-FtREE EER S{ES)
2021 102.60 1,190.16 0.33
2020 69.88 1,119.56 0.39

Of which, the amount of scope 1 CO,e generated during
the Reporting Period increased from last year due to
higher petrol usage resulting from the increase in trips,
and that of scope 2 CO,e generated during the Reporting
Period increased from last year due to higher electricity
consumption resulting from the increase in gross floor area
of in-scope property. The Group has implemented various
energy conservation plans to reduce the carbon footprint.
For details, please refer to the following section headed
“Use of Resources”.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to implementing an environment-
friendly resource utilisation system, and achieving green
business with the goal of sustainable development. In
order to protect the natural environment and prevent waste
of resources, the Group has formulated different energy-
saving and water-saving policies covering the subject
areas of business operation and property management.
The Group did not use any packaging materials during the
Reporting Period.

6 Carbon footprint data covers scope 1 and scope 2 emissions

of the Group, calculations of which are based on the Reporting
Guide on Environmental KPIs issued by HKEX, the Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China issued
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s
Republic of China and the Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors
issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS) of the U.K. government.
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Energy utilisation

Major types of energy utilised by the Group are electricity
and petrol” 8, and their usage is as follows:

FEIRIE

AEEERZEFEIEATERI T 1
BEAENT -

Electricity Intensity of
consumption the electricity Intensity
(kWh) (kWh/per employee) Petrol usage (litre/per employee)
Year ELHFERE ENBE (litre) ZE
FE (FER) (TR& SUES) FRERE () (#/ BuES)
2021 1,964,737.00 495.90 37,888.00 9.56
2020 1,887,095.00 614.89 25,806.60 8.41

The Group’s electricity consumption intensity during
the Reporting Period was lower than that of last year,
while petrol usage intensity increased, mainly due to the
slowdown of COVID-19 and the pick-up in travel volume in
Mainland China in 2021.

The Group understands that reducing energy consumption
not only cuts greenhouse gas emissions but also reduces
unnecessary expense for the Group. Therefore, the Group
implements a number of energy conservation plans in
order to enhance energy efficiency. First, the Group has
formulated energy utilisation plan for property projects.
Based on an intact system, the plans covers different
aspects from equipment design to user awareness
raising, and aims to improve energy utilisation efficiency
comprehensively. The plan requires drafting of a central air
conditioner operating scheme and public utilities energy-
saving solution for each operational project, which shall
be implemented and enforced strictly upon approval by
the Headquarters. The employees shall utilise electricity
according to the energy-saving solution, so as to enhance
the efficiency. The Headquarters will perform regular
reviews to ensure an effective implementation of the
energy-saving solution.

7 Only includes energy consumption directly controlled and
utilised by the Group and excludes energy consumption
generated by other third parties (i.e. tenants, owners and

contractors).

8 As petrol consumption was low, the exhaust emissions

generated can be omitted.
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The Group requires each operational project to keep
the public energy consumption records, collect relevant
statistics, and conduct analysis and improvement on
a monthly basis. Such records will be submitted to the
Headquarters for review, thus ensuring management’s
regular supervision and inspection of energy consumption
of each project. The Headquarters will establish energy
consumption indicators according to industry standards.
Actual consumption by each project will be evaluated
against the indicators, and the Group will strengthen
management and drive improvements of projects that
are not meeting the standards. Furthermore, the Group
will carry out maintenance and even energy-saving
transformation on high energy-consuming equipment,
such as air conditioner and lighting system, on a regular
basis according to energy consumption records, so as to
enhance the efficiency of routine high energy-consuming
equipment. The Group also has the air conditioning
equipment in public areas of certain projects changed
from dispersed control to concentrated control in order to
reduce operation time and power consumption. The Group
also prefers repairs over purchasing new equipment to
reduce wastes and save costs.

LED lighting and identification systems are installed in the
underground parking lots of operational projects of the
Group. Intelligent lighting systems are applied in public
stairs of the projects with the aim to provide sufficient
lighting at minimum power consumption. Air-conditioning
systems of the projects use the building automated
energy saving control systems, while water pumps of the
air-conditioning system and water supply system use
frequency conversion energy saving control systems to
reduce any unnecessary energy consumption.

Green management is also incorporated into the Group’s
internal operations. Relevant measures include reducing
the use of energy-consuming office equipment, improving
energy utilisation and operation efficiency and promoting
energy-saving among employees. These measures allow
the Group to utilise energy and other resources efficiently,
and enhance energy saving and emission reduction
awareness of employees.
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Apart from the energy-saving plan implemented during
daily operations, the Group also actively adopts more
green techniques and elements in its property projects,
with the aim to reduce energy consumption from the
source. In terms of project planning and design, the Group
considers to increase the ratio of green area, increase
the use of natural lighting to reduce the use of lighting
equipment, adopt the “sponge city design” to collect and
reuse rainwater, as well as improve building ventilation to
reduce the use of air-conditioning system in the project
whenever feasible. During the construction stage of
projects, the Group requires the contractors to adopt green
construction measures in order to reduce energy and raw
materials consumption. In terms of raw materials, the Group
endeavours to select renewable materials so as to reduce
consumption of natural resources, and uses clean energy
where feasible. Take Nanjing Vision Jinghua Center (5 &
¥EZEF L) as an example: Solar water heaters were used
in its apartment project to supply hot water, with a total of
42 solar water heaters being in use.
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Solar Water Heaters Used in the Apartment Project of Nanjing Vision Jinghua Center
MREFEEPLLAEER KGREHKES
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Water resources utilisation

In terms of water resources, the water consumption of the
Group were largely attributed to the operation of property
management and staff living, and the relevant consumption
is as follows:

RIR - HERERHE

IKEIRE

FERERAE  AEENRAKEIER/ME
ERNETAERK  HBRERENT

Intensity of water consumption

Year Water consumption (cubic meter) (cubic meter/per employee)
FE FAKE (LK) RAXEBEE (I5K,SHES)
2021 25,845.00 6.52
2020 33,305.00 10.85

The decrease in water consumption during the Reporting
Period was partly due to the cancellation of individual
residential display areas and the delivery of individual
projects during the year.

The Group fully understands how valuable water resources
are and therefore implements water saving plans to reduce
water consumption, and promote water saving awareness
among employees. The Group posts labels of “Please Save
Water” in offices, workplaces, pantries and restrooms to
advocate resources saving and promote an eco-friendly
working environment. Moreover, the Group uses recycled
water in property management business whenever
possible. For instance, the property management projects
under Hangzhou Jinhang will use the water collected
from indoor offices cleaning and the rain water collected
from outdoor storage containers for rinsing outdoor space
of offices, effectively saving about 10% of total water
consumption. Shenzhen Vision has also installed current-
limiting devices/automatic sensing devices on faucets
in its property projects to reduce water consumption.
Concerning contractors such as property management
(including cleaning and landscaping work) which consume
a larger amount of water, the Group has also taken relevant
measures to supervise the water consumption. Taking
into account the actual work and previous records, the
Group has established the water consumption indicators
for contractors to follow and report monthly. Through these
water consumption indicators, the Group can analyse
the water consumption for property management work
and timely supervise the contractors. The Group has
also changed the landscape watering systems of certain
projects into automatic sprinkling, significantly reducing
water consumption.
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Case

ESY)

Nanjing Gemdale Green Valley Commercial Plaza
(BREHERBEXELS) attained Green Building
Design Label — 2 Star

The project is located in the plot south of
Yanshan Road and north of Jiangdong South
Road in Jianye District, Nanjing City. The project
is located in the central axis area of Jianye
District, Nanjing City, adjacent to the subway
station and tram station, enjoying an important
location and convenient transportation. The
planned land area is 37,500 square meters, and
the rate of green land is 10.34%.

The project comprehensively adopts a variety
of green building technologies based on the
concept of green integrated design, aiming
to maximize the utilisation of resources and
energy, so as to create new green public
buildings that are efficient, healthy and energy-
saving. The main green technologies adopted
are: 1. thermal performance of high-efficiency
enclosure structure; 2. efficient air conditioner
units; 3. water-saving appliances; 4. rainwater
reuse technology; 5. natural lighting optimization
technology; 6. natural ventilation optimization
technology; 7. efficient and energy-saving
lighting technology; 8. air purification technology;
9. new indoor air quality monitoring system; and
10. BIM technology.

The Project has promoted the implementation of
ecological, low-carbon, green and environmental
protection policies, comprehensively popularized
land saving, energy saving, water saving,
material saving and environmental protection
measures, made full use of energy, promoted
the development of green buildings and building
energy conservation, playing a good leading
role in the development of local green ecological
buildings.
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Beijing Gemdale Plaza has attained LEED-EB4.0
Platinum Certication

Located in the extension line of East Chang’an
Street, Beijing Gemdale Plaza is situated at
the core business zone and is one of the
famous business landmarks in Beijing. As a
super grade-A complex project (B R4RE AL
I5H), Beijing Gemdale Plaza always adheres
to the operation concept of green ecology and
sustainable development. It keeps enhancing the
quality and management of the building. During
2019 to 2020, it had completed more than 2,000
refined engineering maintenance works and
attained LEED-EB4.0 Platinum Certification in
2020. The environment-friendly equipment and
measures adopted by Beijing Gemdale Plaza
mainly include: IBS lighting control system, on-
site division and loop operated by a mobile
terminal to effectively and reasonably control the
lighting of the whole building; air conditioning
unit inverter, which guarantees the operation
of VAV system frequency conversion, so as
to achieve reasonable and effective energy
saving; newly constructed sewage treatment
plant which can process up to 100 tonnes of
sewage daily and meet the standards of Beijing
City on sewage discharges, effectively reducing
daily water consumption of washroom inside the
building; replacement of obsolete and damaged
automatic control components in the BMS system
to restore its automatic operation function,
effectively controlling the air conditioning water
flow and reducing the energy consumption for air
conditioning operation.

R E B ELEED-EB4.0 3£ 4R 58 7%

BRELZEHLERLE - EReth OHEEZ LD
I R REZNEBHREZ — - (FERBF R

ARER RSP L-—ERFRELEEN
T%ii“” RHERED  THRAKEEER

B £201922020F Mk T2 B A L 4 &
2ooo§%ﬁ WA 2020F 1S LEED-EB4.05A%

Z&u/u g it/‘?\ﬁi‘ﬂqubﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ E/jiﬁ1%$a E"ﬁ 1%&
Bt 28R - IBSRBEHIZRG - AIABEHK
1T E'“IE B BE 3% E - fTi@ﬁ’éﬁﬂﬁWé\
B EFMAR AR - REVAVRGEIRE
7 HmBRIAEBERENEE BT KERL -

TEKBERUZAE RTHE SR E - Hi9REH K100
Wi BWEHAEBRFEHLERMAKE  BMSES
EZCEZENAPIEFITHNER - MERFEH
@;ﬂbﬁé C BREEHIZERKRE - BRIE=FET
BEAE ©

BEIJING GEMDALE PLAZA,
B, Crisa

FLATINLII\/I
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Gemdale Vision No. 8 Bridge Creative Industry £ @57 « 8351581 Z EXE

Park (£ 5 #78 # 15 AR EFH)

7

Since its completion in 2004, No.8 Bridge has
expanded to six projects in the central urban
area of Shanghai Huangpu District, with a total
floor area of 95,000 square meters, becoming
one of the first creative industry clusters in
Shanghai. The park was transformed from the
old factory building of Shanghai Automobile
Brake Factory which was built in 1970s. In 2003,
after new design and transformation, fashion
and creative elements were injected into the
park, which became one of the fashionable and
creative parks in Shanghai. In addition, Phase V
Project of No.8 Bridge (the upgraded version of
No.8 Bridge) has a total floor area of more than
25,000 square meters and was completed in
June 2021.

M2004FEEXES 8HBAELEEHERESB L

WEDLERS NEIEER - HEBAEREEBEE
95,000 F 7K KA LSERAEEXERE -
E @20t 4270 F RATIR &R _ B8 )TE H B 25
MZBEZGEMA - 2003 FE KB R ER
EARWE - BIEMTE KAT LERHAER
B2—° BN 8SRBHAMASHBVIEERZ
SRR BB B 25,000 F K - B R2021
FEAKLT -
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No.8 Bridge Park is not only growing steadily in
scale, but also leading the development of old
factory reconstruction and creative industrial
parks in Shanghai and even the whole country.
At present, more than 140 creative design
companies have settled in No. 8 Bridge Park,
and 4,000 talents of domestic and foreign high-
end creative industries are working here to
display their talents, playing an important role in
promoting the development of Shanghai's high-
end modern service industry.

No.8 Bridge Park has established six service
systems in order to meet the needs of industrial
supporting services:

1)

Entrepreneurship service: connect the
enterprises in the park with the entrepreneurship
guidance center of the People’s Insurance
Bureau, and assist in enterprise registration
and other work

Talent service: talent apartment, Kudou
Education and Training Platform, supporting
tenants to participate in overseas exhibition

Brand promotion service: promote enterprise
content via We-media on WeChat, Netease
Home Furnishing, Sina Home Furnishing and
other media platforms

Investment and financing service: integrate
various financial resources and provide
personalized financial guidance for settled
enterprises

Legal and policy services: cooperate
with well-known law firms in the industry
to provide free basic legal services for
enterprises

Financial consulting service: carry out
financial lectures on a regular basis to
provide enterprises with standardized
financial management enhancement
services.

SEEETES FRRETHBEAKX - Akt
SIRT LENERENERFSCERRIBEXRE
BHFEORT - BAT - 8BARE T HB140K
BIERFT AR - 4,000 BEIAI S IHEIBEFEAS
EEEMEAE  REESHRABRBENER
EEHBIER -

BBERAENAEXLEFT RNRBERN - 2
ST ANKRGEEER

1) BIZERG : HEREROCENARBRIEES

b BEETTEEEMETH

2) ATBRHK: AT RS
KIAP IR

C EREBEEIFE

3) mMIEHEERY : MEERE WHERE - H
REEFREBETEENTER

4) RBERY :  BAagBE2mER SARD
ERHEE CeRES

5) ERMBEMRE - BEAMBEMEBHA
1 BEREHREBENEREIERSE

6) HHEERY  ERFERVGHE /X
REM B EERBICRI R

Annual Report 2021 &3] @



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

We have also formulated renovation principles for 7N EZE k& A EHESGE R A - BF ¢
spatial renovation, including:

. Sunlight, air e Bk =R
. Sense of space o TR

. Greening e &t

. Corridor o EW

. Public space o AHZERH

. Activity space e  JEHZTME

Case

EY)

The bridge means to connect creative ideas from local and abroad, and the physical corridors
and courtyards provide a platform for creative people to communicate freely.

BREEBREERENIINZAE  BERLERTNERREBALTRHEEHRRNTFS -

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Gemdale Vision Sanlin Bridge (£ i & #7 = #545)

Sanlin Bridge is located at the junction of
Hongkou District, Jing’an District and Baoshan
District, so it was named “Sanlin Bridge”. The site
was owned by an insulated bottle factory until
2005, but it closed down as the market shrank,
leaving the facility empty. We have divided the
site into three phases. At present, Phase | and
Phase Il have been put into operation, while
Phase Il is being planned. It is estimated that the
gross floor area is approximately 70,000 square
meters.

AT = A5

=B NRIRRE - SFrEMELR-ERA
B MR AA =#E] o 2R 2005 FATEN —
RRBIRER - BEEMSEHEMER - ZE—
BHEZT - BMBzsB-HEE  BE—HK
—HEMBEE - mM=-HRIREF - ERFAEE
& #770,000F 7 %
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It is hoped to gather sports culture industries
to settle in the project, promote incubation
and development of sports culture enterprises,
popularize knowledge on sports culture industry,
and strive to create a sports exchange platform
for residents in Baoshan District and even the
whole Shanghai. The project also includes
arts and culture, characteristic markets and
supporting commercial traders, providing
residents with one-stop health entertainment
activities. The project has been awarded as
“Demonstration Project in Shanghai Sports
Industry”, “Shanghai’s First Batch of Urban Sports
Center” and “Typical Case of New Consumption
Development in Shanghai”.

In the Sports Industry Zone, we focus on:

Selecting professional sports culture industry
enterprises willing to popularize professional
knowledge and skills

Organizing different sports activities and
trainings to promote the development of the
sports industry, so that residents can truly
experience the changes and enjoy the fun
brought about by sports

Holding sports events, allowing sports
enterprises in the park to participate in
competitions, so as to promote enterprise
growth and industrial development

AEREFERERRELER  HHEEXXL
EOBEEER  UEREBEEEZXME -
HARBEURDNDELSTERITE-—MABERIR
MFE - BB TBREXCEN BemEkiE
BE R UANREXRES - ZHEBRD
HARILETREEXREEA ] LeaH
[HmESH O] K[ EEMHEEEERAIE
Bl e

ERBEDEXRRE  RMZEN:

s MEFXAMEENBEMIMZENES
MAEEFRDE

o BRTANEEEDNRBME - (LER
BEXNER AERELREREEDT

RH) B AN R

e BHREEE HRERARELX2HR
B RECEREMEXER
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In the arts and culture industry, we are committed
to:

o Taking the cultural industry as the core,
promoting physical and mental health of
residents through sports

° Integrating culture and art with healthy life,
and improving residents’ health knowledge
and cultural accomplishment

o Paying attention to parent-child education
and interaction, edifying the culture and art
accomplishment of the next generation

At the Vitality Market, we:

° Create a healthy life experience space that
integrates the traditional vegetable market
and modern healthy diet culture

o Provide a wide range of seafood, meat,
vegetables and fruits that meet health
and safety standards, complemented by
healthy quick meals, health recipes and
entertainment performances

EXCBMERTE @ BABOR

o UNUXLEERZL BEREBBESED
ESHBROE EMEE

e BEXLEWEBRRAZED FERRETR
BB EXEE

e IBRTHENMEY BT -RKREULE
e

miEmE - A

s BABRXMHEARRERRICHEE

HiRREREA

. RESETAFLREEENEE W
RASKE  BAREEE  RERENA
RIRERR
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ESG Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG report of Gemdale Properties
ERBER G (ESGHREREEI) SHFHEESGHRE
Aspects General Disclosure and KPls Section/Explanation
Bm| —REEREARENER BB
A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A. BRI
A1: Emissions General Disclosure 3.3 Emissions
Al BER — B EE 3.3 HEm
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and The Group does not directly produce any major
respective emissions data emissions (such as exhaust fumes, sewage,
etc.)
KPI A1 1 BE R i 58 T A B B B g REBEWERNEHNEREER KT KETER
KPI A1.2 Direct (scope 1) and indirect 3.3 Emissions — Waste reduction measures within
energy (scope 2) greenhouse gas the Group

emissions and intensity

KPI A12E % (B1E1) ReeJREE: (BE2) )R  3.3FMY — ANEE N IR EEE M
ERPBEBINENEE

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced  The Group does not directly generate large

and intensity amounts of hazardous waste.

KPI A1 3PTEABEREMBEREE REEWREEREERENBEEEY -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste 3.3 Emissions — Waste reduction measures within
produced and intensity the Group

KPI A1 APRESEBEEEREYEE NEE 3.3F W — AEE AR EEE

KPI A1.5 Emissions targets and the steps The Group does not directly produce any major
taken to achieve such targets emissions (such as exhaust fumes, sewage,

etc.)

KPI A1SPRAT MBEE B IER AEREER AEEVERENEEERITKER

TR FTERER # 25 BR

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and 3. Care for the environment
non-hazardous wastes are handled,
waste reduction targets and the steps
taken to achieve such targets.
KPIA1OEREBEERBEEEMNGE kI 3 E#RE
RIS HREE B IR R R E R 5t B R PTERER

BB o
A2: Use of Resources General Disclosure 3.4 Use of Resources
A2: BER{EA — MR EE 348REA
KPI' A2.1 Total energy consumption and 3.4 Use of Resources — Energy Utilisation
intensity
KPI A2. 18R EREE N E 3AERER — sRER
KPI A2.2 Total water consumption and 3.4 Use of Resources — Water Resources
intensity Utilisation
KPI A2 28 FE K8 REE 4B REA — KEREM

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
CHBHESEFRAA



Environmental, Social

ESG Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
BEBEX S (ESGH EES)

Aspects
Bm

General Disclosure and KPlIs

—REBEERBARERIER

KPI A2.3 Description of energy utilisation
efficiency targets and the steps taken to
achieve such targets

KPI A2 31l gL IR A e B R RERiE L B
TRATERER ) 22 B

and Governance Report
RIE - HEREREE

ESG report of Gemdale Properties
SHEBESGRE

Section/Explanation

i

3. Care for the environment

.

3. BERIE

il

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is
any issue in sourcing water that fits this
purpose, the water efficiency targets set
and the steps taken to achieve them

KPI A2 A% SR EGE AR £ AT A A
A RIRA ARG B I mERE ke B
PREX A 27 B

3. Care for the environment

w
hucd]
W
i
i

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for
finished products, with reference to per
unit produced

KPI A2 5K mIABEMHNRERBEE
Bluhe

Due to the business nature of Gemdale
Properties, this KPI is not applicable in this

report.
AR SEEEBUEENRE - KPR ERRA
e o

A3: Environment and
Natural Resources
A3: RIERKRAEIR

General Disclosure

—RIE

3.1 Environment and Natural Resources

BARELRRAEIR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant
impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them

KPI A3 11l 2 TR BN M BRIR R AR A E RN E

FERDERREREFALENITE

3.1 Environment and Natural Resources

BARBERRRER

A4: Climate Change
Ad: FHREHE

General Disclosure

—RIE

3.2 Climate Change
328 1&E b

KPI A4.1 Description of material climate
related matters that have or may
have impact on the issuer and the
corresponding actions taken

KPI A4 1R E S RATRE G T BT AEERE
WEARMKIEREE - REHTTE

3.2 Climate Change

3.2/ EE
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ESG Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG report of Gemdale Properties
BEBEX S (ESGH EES) SHHBESGHRE
Aspects General Disclosure and KPls Section/Explanation
EBmE —REERARERER 3-8 2
B. SOCIAL
B. HE
B1: Employment General Disclosure 2.1 Employment
B1: &% —RIFE 2. 11E %
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, 2.1 Employment

employment type, age group and
geographical region
KPI B1.13RIER - AR - FiRERRILE 2.11ER
D EE B B8
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, 2.1 Employment
age group and geographical region

KPI B1.21z1E R - FERARN KRB DNER 2.1ER

AR &
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure 2.2 Health and Safety
B2: @FELE —RIE 2OoRRREL R

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related 2.2 Health and Safety
fatalities over the past three years

KPI B2 1BE=ZFRTEBEMILTHAZ KL 22@FELS

[
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 2.2 Health and Safety
KPI B22ETGIER TIEHE 2oRREL R

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health 2.2 Health and Safety
and safety measures adopted, and how
they are implemented and monitored

KPI B2. 3 PRER A BB K R B 4806 - 2.2 R 2
ARABREBIT RER A

B3: Development General Disclosure 2.3 Development and Training
and Training
B3: & KIEHI — R 2.3 R RIETI
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees 2.3 Development and Training
trained by gender and employee
category
KPI B3 1M R MEE BB WX IEER 2.3%E &F
o

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
CHBHESEFRAA
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BEBEX S (ESGH EES)

Aspects
Bm

General Disclosure and KPlIs

—REBEERBARERIER

KPI B3.2 The average training hours
completed per employee by gender and
employee category

KPI B3.2#Z MR R B B4R RIEID -
B FI T I B

FHEB T

and Governance Report
RIE - HEREREE

ESG report of Gemdale Properties
SHEBESGRE

Section/Explanation

i

2.3 Development and Training

2. 38R Mg

B4: Labour
Standards
B4: 4 T 48]

General Disclosure

—RIFE

2.4 Labour Standards

2445 T # 8|

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review
employment practices to prevent child
labour and forced labour

KPI B4 1f6ll it IREE B OB A RE T
K58 Hl%5 T

2.4 Labour Standards

2448 T #eH|

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken
to eliminate such practices when
discovered

KPI B4 2# il R IRERIENE ERBRIE N
PR ERER B 25 B

2.4 Labour Standards

2445 T # 8|

B5: Supply Chain
Management
BS: (hEHEER

General Disclosure

—RIE

1.3 Supply Chain Management

1.3 EEEE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by
geographical region
KPI B5. 1373 & 8| 0 /o B 20 B

1.3 Supply Chain Management

1.3 EEE R

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating
to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are
being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored

KPI B5. 24 5 B AR FE R A8 ) - (A H
TEBENNMEREE - ARBBED
BBITRERFA

1.3 Supply Chain Management

1.3 ERE R

KPI B5.3 Description of practices relating to
identifying the environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.3% A B R L FE 2 B AR BTV IR IR
Rt gRaE D - ARBESMTRER
FE e

1.3 Supply Chain Management

1.3 EEEE
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ESG Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
BEBEX S (ESGH EES)

Aspects
Bm

General Disclosure and KPlIs

—REBEERBARERIER

KPI B5.4 Description of practices relating
to promoting the use of environmentally
preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

KPI B5. 4f il FEBRE (HIE RS2 12 2 FIRIREE
m M RFEEE R - ARMBRARITRERS
V& o

ESG report of Gemdale Properties
SHEBESGRE

Section/Explanation

i

1.3 Supply Chain Management

1.3 EEE R

B6: Product
Responsibility
B6: EmAT

General Disclosure

—RIFE

1.1 Product Responsibility

1T1EREMR

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold
or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons

KPI B6.1E & B EXEmAH P RL 2 HiE
RIBHMABKNE D

Due to the business nature of Gemdale
Properties, this KPI is not applicable in this

report.
AR SEEEBUEENRE - KPR ERRA
HE -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and services
related complaints received and how
they are dealt with

KPI B6.2 B AR R RFE ORGSR 81 B A &2
icEapapzS

1.1 Product Responsibility — Customer Service

TAEREMRE - BPRE

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating
to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights

KP| B6.3l B4 & RARIE AR ER B RENE
1

Due to the business nature of Gemdale
Properties, this KPI is not applicable in this

report.
AR SEEXEBUEENRE - KPR ERRA
BE -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance
process and recall procedures
KP| B6. 446l 8 8 1 e 1B 12 I B fn E AR e

1.1 Product Responsibility — Customer Service

11ERBEE - BEPRB

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data
protection and privacy policies, and how
they are implemented and monitored

KPI B6.5%H B & ERHRE RALBIEE » A
KABRARIT R EE TR %

1.1 Product Responsibility — Customer Privacy

1T1ERERE - BFILE

®
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BEBEX S (ESGH EES)

Aspects
Bm

B7: Anti-corruption
B7: k&S

General Disclosure and KPlIs

—REBEERBARERIER

General Disclosure

—RIE

RIR - HERERHE

ESG report of Gemdale Properties
SHEBESGRE

Section/Explanation

i

1.2 Anti-corruption
1.2RE)5

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases
regarding corruption practices brought
against the issuer or its employees
during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases

KPI B7 ARERPAH BT AL A ESREL
EEENBETHRARMHNEE MFRER

1.2 Anti-corruption

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive
measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored

KPI B7 2t fh i tE b R R MAZFr » LA K AERE
WITRERITE

1.2 Anti-corruption

1.2RES

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption
training provided to directors and
employees

KPI B7 3fiit M EE & 8 TREMR 5

1.2 Anti-corruption

1.2R&R

B8: Community
Investment
B8: #[RIZE

General Disclosure

1.4 Community Investment

—RIREE 1412 ERE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution 1.4 Community Investment
KPI B8.15 )1 B Bl i 14HEIRE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the 1.4 Community Investment

focus area

KP| B8.2E H )z &5 FTB) &R

14 EBKE
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
report of the Company and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding while the principal activities of the Group are property
development, property investment, property management and
micro-financing business. There have been no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 and the financial position of the Group at that
date are set out on pages 180 to 359 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of RMBO0.06 (2020: RMBO0.08, equivalent to HK$0.0967
per share) per share for the year ended 31 December 2021,
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The proposed final dividend, if
approved, will be paid on or about 8 August 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 13 June 2022. The proposed final dividend shall be declared
in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend payable
in Hong Kong dollars will be converted from RMB at the average
middle rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars as announced by the
People’s Bank of China for the period from 19 May 2022 to 25
May 2022.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
‘Dividend Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account the following factors:

(a) the financial results of the Group;

(b) overall financial conditions of the Group;

(c) the Group’s capital requirements, cashflows and surplus;

(d) the Group’s forecast over future operations and earnings;
and

(e) any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The recommendation of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of Bermuda,
the Bye-laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. Any declaration of annual dividend for the year will
be subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company.
The Dividend Policy adopted by the Board is intended for the
Company to maintain adequate cash reserves to meet its capital
requirements, fund its future growth and enhance shareholders’
value when dividends are recommended.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.

Directors’ Report

EEEWE
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group's performance during the year including
analysis using financial key performance indicators, and future
business development are set out in the Chairman’s Statement
and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 7
and page 8 to 25 of this annual report. The Group's environmental
policies and performance are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 55 to 141 of this annual report.

Major Possible Risks And Uncertainties Facing The Group

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not
be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

A substantial portion of the operating assets of the Group are
located in the PRC and the Group expects that a material portion
of the revenue will continue to be derived from the operations in
the PRC. The results of operations and prospects are subject, to a
significant degree, to economic, political and legal developments
in the PRC. The economy of the PRC differs from the economies of
most developed countries in many respects, including the extent
of government involvement, the level of development, the growth
rate and government control of foreign exchange. The Group
cannot predict whether changes in the PRC’s political, economic
and social conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any
material adverse effect on the current or future business, results
of operation or financial condition of the Group.
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Financial Risk

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 25 of this annual report and note 44 to the financial
statements.

In response to the tightening of macro-economic policies in the
PRC, sharp changes in market competition, and the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2021, the Group collected the external
risk factors such as the economic situation, industrial policies,
financing environment, market competition, resource supply,
laws and regulations, regulatory requirements, and epidemic
prevention policies as well as the internal risk factors such
as organisational structure, business methods, research and
development, financial situation, business results, and operation
management for conducting risk analysis and evaluation by
adopting a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods for
management to formulate risk response strategies.

In response to the above-mentioned risk factors, the Group
has adopted countermeasures. When formulating development
strategies, the Group reduced industry and market competition
risks to the greatest extent, including (1) subject to compliance
with the disclosure and relevant requirements of “connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules, tapping the value of linkage
with Gemdale Group’s residential and financial businesses, and
through flexible and effective matching of different business
combinations to improve the Company’s profitability; (2) strive
for cooperation with government bodies to conduct market
research and obtain a leading position on the impact of policies
on the market; (3) implement brand strategies to further enhance
the Company’s brand awareness and reputation. In addition,
to avoid the negative impact of the business cycle, the Group
has determined a development strategy that combines urban
complexes, regional centre commercial businesses, community
commercial businesses, industrial parks, boutique residences and
long-term service apartments to improve our business structure
so as to reduce the impact of market fluctuations due to a single
product and a single operation model. Besides, the Group would
continue to accumulate high-quality commercial/office projects
in first — and second-tier cities to provide stable cash flow to
enhance risk resistance. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the epidemic, review and evaluate its internal and
external risks to the Group, adjust our business strategies and
management measures in a timely manner in order to formulate
countermeasures as well as evaluate its impact on the financial
status and operating results of the Group.
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Management will hold meetings from time to time to discuss the
new government, industrial and property related policies as well
as tax policies implemented in various country/cities/regions
and will analyse the impact on the Group’s business. Therefore,
management can assess the possible changes in policies in an
early stage so as to formulate appropriate strategies to manage
the risk of policy changes. Besides, management are provided
research reports/financial analysis for its regularly business
operations and financial information so that management can
have a clear and timely understanding of the Group’s operating
conditions, projects’ progress and capital requirements so as to
identify the potential risks.

Relationship With Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understand that employees, customers,
vendors and partners as well as shareholders are the key to our
sustainable and stable development. The Group is committed
to establish a close relationship with our employees, provide
high-quality products and services to our customers, and enhance
cooperation with our vendors and business partners to enable
the Group’s sustainable development for the benefit of the
shareholders of the Company.

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers a
competitive remuneration package and promotion opportunities
based on employees’ performances. The Group also provides
our staff with regular trainings, including internal trainings and
refresher courses offered by professional organisations, so as
to keep them abreast of the latest development in the market,
industry and various business sectors.

In order to achieve the goal of “providing top-quality products
and services to customers”, the Group adheres to the core values
of “be devoted and be sincere; be brave and be a dreamer”
in every aspect of our work. The Group values the feedback
from customers and always try to understand their thoughts
through daily communication, after-sale return visit and customer
satisfaction surveys via our ‘Engineering and Customer Service
Department’. In addition, the Group also sets up a customer
service hotline to respond to the feedback and complaints from
customers.

®
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The Group firmly believes that our vendors and business
partners (including contractors) are equally important in building
high-quality development projects. The Group proactively
communicates with our vendors to ensure they are committed to
delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services.
Each contract the Group enters into with our vendors is annexed
to an “Integrity Cooperation Commitment”, in which clearly state
our professional integrity and specify various requirements
including regulatory compliance, anti-corruption and other
business ethics. The Group effectively implements the vendor
assessment process by conducting sampling check, site visit,
evaluation on the performance of contract, third-party certification
and other measures, to ensure the performance of our vendors.

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to its shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business
developments for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth
and rewarding shareholders by stable dividend payouts taking
into account the capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions and
future business expansion needs of the Group.

Compliance With Laws And Regulations

The principal activities of the Group are property development,
property investment, property management and micro-financing
business. Compliance procedures and internal control measures
are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and
regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact on the
industry, including planning, construction, lease and/or sales, and
property management; any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations affecting our businesses are brought into attention
of relevant employees and relevant operation teams from time to
time. The Group is also committed to safeguarding the security
of personal data. When collecting and processing such data, the
Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
the guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data. The Group is also subject to various corporate
and administrative requirements under other laws and regulations
such as Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), Securities and Futures Ordinance, Codes on Takeovers
and Merges and Share Buy-backs and Employment Ordinance.
Through various internal control and approval procedures that are
in place, the Company seeks to ensure the compliance with these
requirements.
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During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s consolidated revenue and operating profit/(loss) for
the year by business segment is as follows:

By business segment (consolidated basis):

FA-BARRMM  AEBYEHESEERITE
SHERAPINERMEAREXEREEBREX
TE -

T RPER
FR - AEBREBD B2 HEEWRARLLEH
(BR) T :

BEBH DA (REEEERE) ¢

Property
Property  investment and Micro-

development management finance Corporate Total
(In RMB’000) (MARBTFTREN) NERE  WEREREE MEEH tXER B
Revenue LN 13,019,697 868,576 296,522 - 14,184,795
Segment profit/(loss) AEEH /(F) 2,152,352 457,766 273,911 = 2,884,029
SUBSIDIARIES (i ENG|
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December AR AFR2021FE12A31HZFEWE AT EFER

2021 are disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 17 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are disclosed in notes 24(a) and 24(b)(i)
to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2021, including the
contributed surplus, available for distribution as dividends
amounted to RMB1,477,747,000 (equivalent to HK$1,576,456,000)
(2020: RMB1,963,331,000 (equivalent to HK$2,165,096,000)).

¢

the Company’s reserves,
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WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes of the Company and the
outstanding options granted under such share option schemes as
disclosed in note 24(b) to the financial statements, the Company
had no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 31
December 2021.

DONATIONS

No donations was made by the Group during the year (2020: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NEDs”)

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Xia Xinping

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary of the Company are
set out on pages 26 to 29 of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20 May
2003 (the “Share Option Scheme 2003") which expired on 20
May 2013 and a new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 15 May 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme 2013")
for the purpose of continuing to give incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Qualifying Grantees (as defined in the Share Option Scheme
2013) of the Company. Any share options which were granted
under the Share Option Scheme 2003 prior to its expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
as set out therein.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share
Option Scheme 2013 (collectively “Share Option Schemes”) is
set out as follows:

Purposes of the Share Option Schemes

The purposes of the Share Option Schemes are to attract and
retain the best quality personnel for the development of the
Company’s businesses, to provide additional incentives to
Directors and employees, etc., and to promote the long term
financial success of the Company by aligning the interests of
option holders to shareholders.

Participants of the Share Option Schemes

Eligible participants of the Share Option Schemes include any
employee or any proposed employee of the Company or any
affiliates (including an officer or Director (whether executive
or non-executive) or alternate Director of the Company or any
affiliate, etc.)

®
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Schemes and percentage of issued share capital as
at the date of this annual report

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share
Option Scheme 2013 amounted to 27,290,000 and 191,287,000,
respectively.

Under the Share Option Scheme 2013, the Company may further
grant share options to subscribe for 447,610,103 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 2.70% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Schemes

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of grant unless the same is approved by shareholders in
a general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective
associates, are subject to the approval in advance by the INEDs
of the Company, excluding the INED(s) of the Company who is/are
the grantee(s) of the share options. In addition, any share option
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) granted
to a substantial shareholder or an INED of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, in any 12-month period must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of grant or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant) must not exceed
HK$5 million unless the same is approved by shareholders in a
general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board, and commences on a specified date and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
share options.
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The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

1 year

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
options and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
paid

HK$1 is to be paid by each grantee as consideration for the grant
of options within 28 days from the date of offer.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors, being at
least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
business day;

(b) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(c) the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Schemes shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the respective dates of their
adoption. The Share Option Scheme 2003 expired on 20 May
2013. The Share Option Scheme 2013 which was adopted on 15
May 2013 will expire on 15 May 2023.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Details of the movements of the share options under the Share
Option Schemes during the year were as follows:

Directors’ Report

EEEWE

1R IS B A B 2 AR P

Number of share options

HEWT

BREHAE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1/1/2021 Exercised 31/12/2021
(Note 2) during (Note 4)
Year of grant "20215F the year Lapsed 1202145
Name and category of (Note 1) 1A1H (Note 3) during 12A31H
grantees RHEHR i RITHE RERTHE the year o RITHE
AERAZHEERER (Hfat1) (Hiatz) (H17#3) RERTH (Kizta)
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Huang Juncan
E=ERSE 2013~ 43,500,000 (43,500,000)% = =
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
FFRRA A 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee,
Anthony 2013 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
ELACE-S e 2013* 3,000,000 - = 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
Sub-total
Nt 54,500,000 (43,500,000) - 11,000,000
Others (In aggregate) 2013 26,890,000 (800,000)% (800,000) 25,290,000
Hith(&51) 2013~ 161,090,000 (10,775,000)% (2,376,000) 147,939,000
2014 67,348,000 (29,000,000)% (4,000,000) 34,348,000
Sub-total
NeF 255,328,000 (40,575,000) (7,176,000) 207,577,000
TOTAL
By 309,828,000 (84,075,000) (7,176,000) 218,577,000
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Notes: Bt -

Year of Grant

Date of grant

Exercise period

Exercise price

Closing price*

Rt F 17 R AH TR TEE Wi E”
HK$ HK$

BT BT

2013 07/01/2013 07/01/2014 — 06/01/2023 0.550 0.455
2013* 20/05/2013 20/05/2014 — 19/05/2023 0.792 0.780
2014 29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 0.430

The closing price of the Company’s share quoted on
the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of
grant

A2 ARG R R B R AT BT
Vg i

2. All share options granted have been vested and exercisable 2. AR EIRIECIRIEEE 86 Z 4 & AT
in full in accordance with the vesting period set out in their B HFBHE 2B R T UTE
respective offer letters.

3. (a) The exercise dates were 8 April 2021 and 3 May 2021. 3. (a) T AR B2021F4 58 HK20214F5

The weighted average closing price of the shares H3H o [R5 EEITIEEREH R FTA)
immediately before the dates on which the options were DR FRL K TTIE BB 1. 15T °
exercised was HK$1.15.

(b) The exercise date was 17 November 2021. The closing (b) TIEA B AZ2021F11 817 H  BRip R
price of the shares immediately before the date on BEITIEE IR 12 H BIRTB) AT (B 7508 B
which the options were exercised was HK$0.74. 0.747T °

(c) The exercise dates were between 17 May 2021 and 17 (c) TIEAR A2021F5H 17 HZE2021F
November 2021. The weighted average closing price of 11170 - ROREEZTZBRER
the shares immediately before the dates on which the BHRT 9 I0HE-F 15 1 71718 238 85 1.06 T -
options were exercised was HK$1.06.

(d) The exercise dates were between 15 April 2021 and 17 (d) TIEH B A2021F4 515 H 220214
November 2021. The weighted average closing price of 11170 - BROREZTEBREA
the shares immediately before the dates on which the BHRT B DHE-T 15 718 #3885 1.00T -
options were exercised was HK$1.00.

4. No share option was granted or cancelled during the year 4. Bt E2021F 12531 HIFFEI R 877 55

®

ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year, the subscription rights attaching to 800,000,
54,275,000 and 29,000,000 share options were exercised at an
exercise price of HK$0.55, HK$0.792 and HK$0.44 per share,
respectively. They involved the issuance of a total of 84,075,000
new ordinary shares of the Company at a nominal value of
HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses,
of HK$56,185,800. The proceeds from these exercises of share
options would be applied for general working capital of the Group.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the following Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) under the Listing Rules:

Directors’ Report

EEEWE

FA - F800,00017 * 54,275,00013 529,000,000
MEREMMTSHREED 5 RIRITEESRS
®0.557T » BH0.792 7 B0 44 TLETTE - BE
It 8174 $£84,075,000 R SR EEB 0.1 L2 A
AR SRR - @BRESRE (NRHAZR) AEE
56,185,8007T ° 1T sz ZHRER TS FIB G AIE
REBH—BREEESD -

B EXXPrIRAL SN - AR B REEMZERRA - HE
X B 3[R PR B R B P ] B ) 3 4 2 ERLAE AR
T BEARREZERESTBRABBUEEA
AR B SR EMEAB R 2 RO R EEZRFH

<

Bl

EENES2ER

MR2021F12A318 * ARF THEER&ESITH
ABRARBINEREEE (EERBBEMEST
EESNMBERN([EHREBEKM]) EXVIH) 2
f&f - ARG REEEFPIFEREEFRAEK
Bl 35215 ER AR B BTFEELM 2R R%
B BB ES REE G EXVER sk AR RIE
Pz EHARESETELFRFNEESTH| ([E2
SR ASTHEARR RB R 2R RAR
T

Annual Report 2021 &3] @



Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

(a)

®

Long position in the shares and share options of the

Company

(a) RAEXARGERBEBREZFA

Approximate

percentage

Total of total

Number of number of  shareholding

share options underlying (Note 4)

Number of  outstanding shares HREZEZ

Name of director Nature of interest shares MARITEZ  Notes HER G BMABESH

BEEnE EHEME R4 B BREHE A e (Kizt4)

Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial Owner 167,450,000 - 167,450,000 1.01%
ERSE ERBEAA

Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial Owner 144,460,000 - 144,460,000 0.87%
BERERE BEREAA

Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial Owner 126,230,000 - 126,230,000 0.76%
BRRELE ERERA

Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial Owner 94,150,000 - 94,150,000 0.57%
EEERL BEREAA

Mr. Loh Lian Huat Beneficial Owner 2,000,000 - 2,058,000 0.01%
Loh Lian Huat%:4 E=EAA

Interest of spouse 58,000 =
i g

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 3,000,000 2 4,000,000 0.02%
AR L ERBAA

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Beneficial Owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%

Anthony 3,000,000 2
BrRELE ERBEAA 3,000,000 3

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Notes:

(b)

The share options were granted on 7 January 2013, each with
an exercise price of HK$0.55 per share and a validity period
from 7 January 2013 to 6 January 2023 under the Share Option
Scheme 2003.

The share options were granted on 20 May 2013, each with
an exercise price of HK$0.792 per share and a validity period
from 20 May 2013 to 19 May 2023 under the Share Option
Scheme 2013.

The share options were granted on 29 December 2014, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.44 per share and a validity
period from 29 December 2014 to 28 December 2024 under
the Share Option Scheme 2013.

The percentage shareholding in the Company is calculated on
the basis of 16,586,856,827 shares in issue as at 31 December
2021.

Long position in the shares of the associated
corporation of the Company — Gemdale Corporation

At -

(b)
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EEEWE

ZEBRIEIRIFE AR L F12003F B # 71 &1
2013F 1 A7 AR + & B.Z1TIEE RSB
0.557T » R2013% 157 HE2023% 156 H 1k
HiFIBRL -

ZEBRERIEANLG2013FBRIEF;EFR
2013520 KL - &8 21TEEBBERE
#0.7927T » R201349F5520HF20234F5H
19 H IFEIRI B34 »

ZERBRIERIE AR E]2013F R 1ZET 2R
2014F 12 H29A KM + EBZ T EBRER
JEB0.447T - R2014F 12 29 HZE20244F 12
28 H I BRIB L °

RAER G RERT 7 T31520214F 12531 H
Z B 7T 16,586,856,827 IR A EEFF & -

REQBHEBEESH () ROBRA
A(&BEE]) 2ROZ2HR

Approximate percentage
of total shareholding

Name of director Nature of interest Number of shares R EEE
EEgE ERtE RGEE BHEIL
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial Owner 3,808,400 0.08%
EREE BB A
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial Owner 2,065,600 0.05%
HIEREE EmfaA
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial Owner 1,050,800 0.02%
RERESXE BB A
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial Owner 960,100 0.02%

BEEESRL

BERmBEEA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
SECURITIES

INTERESTS IN

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had the following
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company

M EXHEES - R2021FE12A318 » KAFE
ERERITRABBMEN ARG R E M EE
(EERBERBEEMEXVE) 2K - HERD
ME#FES  BHEBREESFMEEGEME3521&5%
BRAQNRATEELMzAAEZIAR iR
BESMEEENEXVIHRIZESTAASITHE AR
NEIREER T2 R BRE ©

FTERRREZ 2 ER

R2021F12A31H * LW TA T (RRREE &S
TBRABBRIN) RAAB D S ABREA (K P #E T 5
BIEEARBREEOEI6EDHERANATEFE
Bt rEmsioxe

REQARRDZHFR

Approximate

percentage
of total
shareholding
(Note 3)
R EEE
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest/capacity Number of shares BRED T
RRER itia ERME g1 RGEE (H1:£3)
Glassy An Limited 7 Directly beneficially owned 6,613,208,983 39.87%
HRZBR AT BEEREEREER
Beacon Limited 2 Directly beneficially owned 3,789,116,322 22.84%
HEEE=EA
Notes: Htat -
1. As at 31 December 2021, Glassy An Limited was an indirectly 1. R2021F12H31H - HEERL A #ZEME

wholly-owned subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale
Corporation is a company established in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC”) with limited liability and the A-shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
600383). To the best knowledge, information and belief of
the Company having made all reasonable enquiries, based
on the latest public information available, the single largest
shareholder of Gemdale Corporation is Sino Life Insurance Co.,
Ltd., which is interested in approximately 29.8% of Gemdale
Corporation.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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2. As at 31 December 2021, Beacon Limited was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of OUE Limited, whose shares are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange (Stock Code: LJ3). OUE Limited
was a subsidiary of Lippo ASM Asia Property Limited, which
was owned as to 50% by HKC Property Investment Holdings
Limited and as to 50% by Admiralty Station Management
Limited. HKC Property Investment Holdings Limited was a
subsidiary of Lippo Capital Limited which was owned as to
60% by Lippo Capital Holdings Company Limited and as to
40% by PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri. Lippo Capital Holdings
Company Limited was beneficially owned by Mr. Stephen
Riady while PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri was beneficially owned
by Mr. James Tjahaja Riady. Admiralty Station Management
Limited was beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Kin.

&l The percentage shareholding in the Company was calculated
on the basis of 16,586,856,827 shares of the Company in issue
as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other
person had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Each of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei
Chuanjun, all being the executive Directors, is also a director and/
or top management of Gemdale Corporation which is the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company and is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Therefore, each
of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei Chuanjun
is materially interested in the transactions as disclosed in the
sub-headed “(a) Continuing Connected Transactions” under the
section headed “Connected Transactions” below.
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Stephen Riadyt 4+ &z A » MPT Trijaya
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Limited BH SR IZ S L B R ©
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B

M EXHEEES  R2021F 128318 » fEHM
ATRAR B SRR IR B B IEE 5 & E
EIEPIFE 336 KRN ARG BIFE 2B M2

HAAR -

ESERERBRRRRS » RSN PZE
RiER

ARABPTEFRERELE  FEREELE  HREE
EREEERERATASHERZEER &5
REBAR - KB R/ARR ZHBRITBRBE -
Rt RIE EMRRBARNRRZBEAL - Bt - &
RELE  BERBRELE  BRRELENREEERLSR
ARTXIRERS | 8P [(a)FFERERS | R
THAHE XS HEEERN S °

Annual Report 2021 &3] @



Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below and the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements,
there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company’s holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected
entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly)
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

OTHER DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

As at the date of this report, the following Directors were also a
director or an employee of the following companies, each of which
had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholder

Name of Director of the Company

BRTXIBERS] SRR RS &% @R
HNBEZERBET RS BEFRERFR
EAERE > ARRZERABREEMNBRRRA
EMBEARY BT IRARAREFTKEBEER
BERARARAREARGMEARREBEEX
BBEZHMRZS  REHHAL -

ExHMES
RABERH  TIHEETRATRARAZESTHE

H
B MEARHPRARR BN RBERATETA
ZHEROEAREES R ERMIEXVEBE2R
E3DEIRNEAMARBIWE 2 RFRE -

Position in substantial shareholder
of the Company

EEEE AR ETERFEER RAEAXNBDEERR 2B
Mr. Ling Ke Gemdale Corporation SHEE Director 5=
AR E Glassy An Limited HEBR AT Director o
Mr. Huang Juncan Gemdale Corporation EHEE Director =
=HEBELE

Mr. Xu Jiajun Gemdale Corporation THEE Director 5F
BRRELE

Mr. Wei Chuanjun Gemdale Corporation EHEE Director =

BEEESLE

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year:

(a)
1.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 8 December 2020, a property development and
technical services agreement was entered into between
the Company and Gemdale Corporation (the “Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation
agreed to provide property development and technical
services to the Group in relation to certain property
projects of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 at the services fee calculated based on 0.6% of the
contracted sales of the Group’s properties receiving such
services from Gemdale Corporation.

Gemdale Corporation is the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company and is therefore a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Company
set the annual cap for the aggregate amount of services
fee payable pursuant to the Services Agreement at
RMB20,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year, the aggregate amount of services fee
of approximately RMB15,658,000 was paid to Gemdale
Corporation under the Services Agreement.

On 8 December 2020, an entrusted operation agreement
was entered into between the Company, Beijing Ganglu
Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ganglu”’, a
subsidiary of the Company, as trustee), Beijing Gemdale
Hongyun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Gemdale”) and Beijing Gemdale, Chaoyang Branch
(together with Beijing Gemdale, as principal) (the
“Entrusted Operation Agreement”), pursuant to which the
principal agreed to engage Beijing Ganglu to manage the
operations of Beijing Gemdale Plaza located in Beijing, the
PRC for and on its behalf for the year ended 31 December
2021 at the entrusted management fee calculated based
on the operating cost for provision of relevant services plus
a margin of 20%.
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Beijing Gemdale is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for
the entrusted management fee receivable pursuant to the
Entrusted Operation Agreement at RMB26,500,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year, an entrusted management fee of
approximately RMB26,400,000 was received from Beijing
Gemdale under the Entrusted Operation Agreement.

On 8 December 2020, a framework agreement was entered
into between the Company and Shenzhen Gemdale
Property Management Ltd. (“Gemdale Property”) (the
“Property Management Framework Agreement’),
pursuant to which Gemdale Property and/or its subsidiaries
and/or its designated affiliated companies under the same
control agreed to provide property management services
during the development stage of the property projects of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 at the
management services fee calculated based on the relevant
costs for provision of the relevant services plus a margin of
10% plus tax.

Gemdale Property is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap
for the aggregate amount of management services fee
payable pursuant to the Property Management Framework
Agreement at RMB35,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.

During the year, the aggregate amount of management
services fee of approximately RMB29,751,000 was paid to
Gemdale Property or its subsidiaries/designated affiliated
companies under the same control under the subsidiary
agreement(s) to the Property Management Framework
Agreement.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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On 8 December 2020, a framework agreement was entered
into between the Company and Shenzhen Gemdale
Building Project Co., Ltd. (“Gemdale Building”) (the
‘Framework System Installation Agreement”), pursuant
to which Gemdale Building agreed to provide certain
intelligent system project services for the various property
projects of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 at the project fees calculated based on the relevant
cost for provision of relevant services plus a margin of
1.25% plus tax.

Gemdale Building is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for
the aggregate amount of project fees payable pursuant
to the Framework System Installation Agreement at
RMB41,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year, the aggregate amount of project fees
of approximately RMB12,208,000 was paid to Gemdale
Building under the subsidiary agreement(s) to the
Framework System Installation Agreement.

On 8 December 2020, a framework agreement was entered
into between Shenzhen Xinjia Living Technology Service
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Xinjia”", a subsidiary of the Company)
and Gemdale Corporation (the “Decoration Services
Framework Agreement’), pursuant to which Gemdale
Corporation (as principal) agreed to engage Shenzhen
Xinjia (as trustee) to provide decoration services for certain
property projects developed by Gemdale Corporation and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021 at
the entrusted fee of fitting out works calculated based on
the relevant costs for provision of relevant services plus a
margin of about 7% to 15%.

The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate amount
of the entrusted fee receivable pursuant to the Decoration
Services Framework Agreement at RMB570,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year, the aggregate amount of the entrusted
fee of approximately RMB289,712,000 was received from
Gemdale Corporation under the subsidiary agreement(s)
to the Decoration Services Framework Agreement.

On 8 December 2020, a tenancy framework agreement
was entered into between the Company and Gemdale
Corporation (the “Tenancy Framework Agreement”’),
pursuant to which, the Company (as landlord) will lease
certain premises in Vision Shenzhen Business Park
located in Shenzhen, the PRC to Gemdale Corporation, its
subsidiaries and/or its associated companies. Designated
floors will be determined in accordance with individual
lease contracts otherwise agreed.

The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate amount
of the rent and property management fee receivable
pursuant to the Tenancy Framework Agreement at
RMB18,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the rent and
property management fee of approximately RMB17,020,000
was received from Gemdale Corporation, its subsidiaries
and/or its associated companies under the Tenancy
Framework Agreement.

On 4 December 2019, a framework agreement was
entered into between Guangzhou Guangdian Real Estate
Development Group Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Guangdian”),
which is owned as to 76% by the Company, and Gemdale
Corporation (the “Financial Consulting Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation
(as trustee) agreed to provide financial advisory and
consultation services to Guangzhou Guangdian (as
principal) and/or its subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associated companies for their property projects’ funding
activities for three years commencing from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive) at a maximum
rate of 1% per annum over the facility amount obtained
by Guangzhou Guangdian and/or its subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associated companies.
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(b)

The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate amount
of the financial consultancy fee payable by Guangzhou
Guangdian pursuant to the Financial Consulting Framework
Agreement at RMB70 million, RMB50 million and RMB50
million for the three years ending 31 December 2020, 2021
and 2022, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the financial
consultancy fee of approximately RMB49,164,000 was paid
by Guangzhou Guangdian to Gemdale Corporation under
the subsidiary agreement(s) to the Financial Consulting
Framework Agreement.

Annual review of the continuing connected
transactions

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
INEDs had reviewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under the (i) Services Agreement, (ii)
Entrusted Operation Agreement, (iii) Property Management
Framework Agreement, (iv) Framework System Installation
Agreement, (v) Decoration Services Framework Agreement,
(vi) Tenancy Framework Agreement and (vii) Financial
Consulting Framework Agreement (collectively, the “2021
Continuing Connected Transactions”) which were
subsisting during the year and confirmed that the 2021
Continuing Connected Transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) according to the relevant agreements governing the
2021 Continuing Connected Transactions on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

(b)
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The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the
Group’s 2021 Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditors have issued an unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the 2021 Continuing
Connected Transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements
for the year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above material related party transactions
constituted connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules,
the Company had complied with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Ling
Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu Jiajun and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, all
being executive Directors, held shareholding or other interests
and/or directorships in companies/entities within the group of
Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale Corporation mainly focuses on
residential property development and participates in large-scale
urban complex/commercial projects in the top 50 cities (by
population/economic scale) in the PRC.

The Board also includes two NEDs and three INEDs whose
views carry significant weight in the Board's decisions.
Therefore the Board is independent from the board of directors/
governing committees of Gemdale Corporation and none of the
above-mentioned Directors can personally manage the Board.
The audit committee of the Company, which consists of three
INEDs, meets regularly to assist the Board in reviewing the
financial performance, risk management and internal control, and
compliance systems of the Group.

©
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Further, each of the above-mentioned Directors is fully aware of,
and has been discharging, his/her fiduciary duty to the Company
and has acted and will continue to act in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Group
is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at
arm’s length from, the businesses of such companies/entities in
which Directors have declared interests.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, none
of the Directors nor their respective close associates had any
interest in any business, which competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged sufficient directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest suppliers and the largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 11.7% and 4.4% of the
total value of the Group’s purchases respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
1.2% and 0.4%, respectively, of the Group’s revenue.

At no time during the year did the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in these suppliers or customers referred to
above.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in
note 2.4(a) to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the
Stock Exchange during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

THBHESERRAAE

®

EEEN

FA - ARRLEREBEBREPEAEREND
BAHGFAEENMTHALN -

TREFRHER

FA - AEBzAREERRERHER S LR
EEEERENI1.7%N4.4% -

AEBRAREFERBAEE DRI HRBAGRE
BULALI1.2% 8% 0.4% °

RERTAERH BEARFES  REZBEA
FEMBRR (BEEMRMEERRARD ETRA
5% N E2BRR)R LAHERKEFPHHEEENE

"

\$’E < o

Bk
Bk

RKE RS
RNEBERKRBANFE ZFBEHRMBREM T
2.4(a) °

BE HESIFEEEAQRZLHES

FA - ARBHEEATHEB QA ER BB
B HESBERARREM LHES

BRABE

ARRZ AR AR E (KRR M LATE R
AR ) 2RI I BB TR 2 RO -



EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 3,900
(2020: 3,100) employees. Salaries of employees are maintained
at competitive levels while bonuses may be granted on a
discretionary basis with reference to the Group’s performance
as well as the individual's performance. Other employee benefits
include mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical cover,
subsidised educational and training programmes as well as
employee share option schemes.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as the Company’s
remuneration policy.

BANKING FACILITIES WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

In accordance with the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, the details of loan facility(ies), which existed
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of the annual report and included conditions relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder of the Company are as
follows:

(a) On 4 March 2020, the Company was granted a two-year
term loan facility of HK$500 million. The loan facility was
withdrawn on 6 March 2020, with maturity date of 7 March
2022. The loan is for the purpose of financing the general
corporate funding of the Group.

(b) On 19 June 2020, the Company was granted a two-year
term loan facility of US$90 million. The loan facility was
withdrawn on 23 June 2020, with maturity date of 22 June
2022. The loan is for the purpose of providing funds for the
general corporate requirements of the Group.

Pursuant to the facility letter of the above facilities, among other
things, Gemdale Corporation, the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company, shall remain as the single largest shareholder
of the Company and/or maintain management control of the
Company before the final maturity date of the facilities. Otherwise,
it may constitute an event of default under the facility letters and
the facilities may become immediately due and payable.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on pages
30 to 54 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report are
set out on pages 55 to 141 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the shareholders of Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 180 to 359, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
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Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETT N EERRENEE

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2021, investment properties (including
completed investment properties, investment properties
under construction and right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties) measured at fair value amounted to
approximately RMB14,097 million, with the corresponding
fair value gain of approximately RMB1,386 million
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The valuation
process is inherently subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates, such as reversionary rental value,
vacancy rate and yield rate. The Group engaged external
valuers to perform valuation of the investment properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to the
financial statements.
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We performed the following procedures in relation to the
estimation of fair value of investment properties:

o evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation experts engaged by
the Group, and obtaining an understanding of the
work of the valuation experts;

o With the assistance from our internal valuation
experts, assessing the data used as inputs for
the valuation, such as reversionary rental value,
vacancy rate and yield rate, and evaluating major
assumptions and methodologies adopted in the
valuation of investment properties held by the
Group; and

o considering the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BAEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETT N EERRENEE

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

During the year, the Group recognised revenue from
sales of properties amounted to RMB12,222 million. The
recognition of revenue from sales of properties requires
management to make judgment in assessing the timing
when the performance obligation has been satisfied.
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Management inspected the contract terms and determined
that revenue from the sales of properties is recognised to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring properties to a customer, at the point in time
when control of the assets is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements.
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We performed the following procedures in relation to the

recognition of revenue from sales of properties:

inspecting contracts, on a sample basis, and
assessing the Group’s accounting policies,
including the determination of timing of revenue
recognition, with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

evaluating the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern revenue recognition;

inspecting the underlying contracts, bank-in slips
for settled balances, construction completion
certificates and delivery of properties on a
sample basis, and assessing whether the related
revenue had been recognised in accordance with
the Group's revenue recognition policies; and

evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures
included in note 5 to the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETT N EERRENEE

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries

BERETRAAREEBRERE G

constituted a business combination

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
obtained control over Hangzhou Longhe Real Estate
Company Limited* (“Longhe”), Taiyuan Yingyuan Property
Development Company Limited* (“Yingyuan”), Qingdao
Anpei Investment and Development Company Limited*
(“Anpei”) and Wuhan Weizibo Property Development
Company Limited* (“Weizibo”), which were engaged
in property development in Mainland China. Longhe,
Yingyuan, Anpei and Weizibo then became subsidiaries
of the Group and the transactions were accounted for as
business combination.
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Management concluded the above transactions as
business combination instead of acquisition of assets
because the acquired set of assets and activities included
inputs and substantive processes that together significantly
contributed to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
entities had operation teams before the acquisition. Such
conclusion depends on significant judgement made by
management.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 35 to the
financial statements.
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*

For identification purpose only

We assessed management’s judgements in determining
whether the acquisition constituted a business
combination. We obtained evidence about whether
the acquired entities have carried out any significant
business transactions prior to the acquisition dates.
We also obtained the transaction documents and
reviewed the terms and conditions of the transactions.
Furthermore, we reviewed the financial statements of
acquired companies prior to the acquisition dates.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M BT

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’'s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

¢
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

M AEE 32

:?f/'.lh? (=] jﬁﬁﬁﬂsfi

Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12 831 BILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®T T AR®ET T
(Restated)
(E71)
Revenue L'ON 5 14,184,795 16,884,335
Cost AR (11,300,766) (10,254,009)
Gross profit EA 2,884,029 6,630,326
Direct operating expenses HEEEERX (2,032,637) (1,395,712)
Other income and gains HoAth g A R Y as 5 2,402,813 985,583
Changes in fair values of investment properties & ¥E 2 Ax EE 14 1,464,248 85,680
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair A AR BFE2EMEEZ 165,319 (140,925)
value AREE
Administrative expenses ITHFAX (172,938) (195,966)
Finance costs M5B R 6 (868,578) (651,398)
Share of profits and losses of; JE(L &
Joint ventures N NE| 1,197,829 1,843,208
Associates /N 683,372 105,351
Profit before tax R 35 A g A 7 5,723,457 7,266,147
Tax BHIE 8 (1,394,523)  (2,431,298)
Profit for the year REF @ 4,328,934 4,834,849
Attributable to: AT AL REL, -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIESFE N 4,014,231 4,354,548
Non-controlling interests JEIE B R R A 314,703 480,301
4,328,934 4,834,849
Earnings per share attributable to PA/NCIESY S DN/
owners of the Company syl
- Basic (RMB) — ER(ARKTT) 10 0.2425 0.2679
— Diluted (RMB) —EEHARET) 10 0.2413 0.2637

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
THHERERRAR



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeEEZHEWER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 31 BILFE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBEFTT
Profit for the year AN A 4,328,934 4,834,849
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HErmikes /(EE)
— Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may  — AIRFEHMEH D ERFEIR 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Hib 2wl /(E8)
periods
Exchange differences: HEREE
Exchange differences on translation of }x#/i@l\iﬁ%ZEi%%E 369,363 886,238
foreign operations
Share of exchange differences on [EMRE B NRIREFINER (35,014) (178,471)
translation of foreign operations of joint ZEH R
ventures
Release upon deregistration of ST SH T B A B 2 [l - (5,868)
subsidiaries
Net other comprehensive income that may be AR RBEET Y BETERCE 334,349 701,899
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ey
periods
— Other comprehensive loss that will not be — BARAIRERBRAEH D E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent AlEECEMEEA
periods E5ia
Exchange differences: b 5 BB
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETS 2 B ZH (205,591) (457,916)
foreign operations
Equity investments at fair value through AR BT AEMEEIR R
other comprehensive income: ZIRIERE -
Changes in fair value, net of tax NABEEE  BHNBRHRIEA - (307)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be BTN R BEER ST (205,591) (458,223)
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Bz EME2HEEEFE
periods
Other comprehensive income for the year, AEEEME2EKE - SNRHE 128,758 243,676
net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year AFELEREEEE 4,457,692 5,078,525
Attributable to: LA AL
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEE V=N 4,141,326 4,610,085
Non-controlling interests AT AR AR R M 2 316,366 468,440
4,457,692 5,078,525
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SePBRRE

31 December 2021
R2021F12H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 ARET T ARBTIT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I EN =Y & 12 61,803 62,032
Investment properties LEYE 14 14,096,568 11,887,090
Intangible assets BV EE 19 15,164 23,392
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 21,168 120,657
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FBfIFUIE - e hEMEKRER 22 582,392 2,343,615
Investments in joint ventures REERAZEE 17 18,159,288 17,268,686
Investments in associates REERF 218 E 18 4,901,001 3,639,731
Loan to a related company JEUEAE N R E K 31(b) - 1,554,394
Financial assets at fair value NAREFEZCRERE 20 1,050,847 391,445
Deferred tax assets FEETTBEE 33 989,486 922,755
Total non-current assets FRBEEMARE 39,877,717 38,213,797

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE

Properties held for sale frHEmE 15 3,511,440 1,693,259
Properties under development BRPYE 16 12,090,972 7,196,151
Trade receivables FEUE Z BRI 21 36,022 73,407
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEFUE « e RHAMBUERER 22 4,327,845 4,662,121
Loans to joint ventures Bl E & RRIER 31(a) 1,215,807 740,235
Loans to non-controlling shareholders FEUSEPERR AR R B 3K 31(c) 41,294 120,697
Due from fellow subsidiaries FEU [R) R B BB A 7] ZUIE 32 30,562 16,499
Due from joint ventures JEUR & & R RIFRIA 32 3,817,332 3,268,443
Due from associates JEYCBE 2 A R FE 32 367,870 92,663
Due from non-controlling shareholders JiE UK FE 122 A% A% SR FROR 32 1,558,622 834,146
Due from a related company FE U 78 N RIFRIE 32 - 2,256
Prepaid tax e 577,207 209,645
Restricted cash 2 PR HI 38 & 23 854,063 132,063
Deposits, bank and cash balances T RITRIRSEH 23 8,771,882 7,151,758
Total current assets REEEHT 37,200,918 26,193,343

THBHESERRAE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2021
R2021F 12 H31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
lit=3 AR®T T AR®ET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables ENE SRR EER 26 4,567,428 3,341,423
Advanced receipts, accruals and other FTEW IR - FERTIRERIA M EH AL 27 9,233,526 5,845,640
payables FEATER TR \
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BERIT R b E X 29 4,902,939 2,015,629
Lease liabilities HEBE ! 30 85,949 117,167
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder FETIE R AR SR B 3K 31(9) - 1,629
Due to the ultimate holding company JE BRI A B FIR 32 216,461 1,492,803
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEAST R 2 [t B A RIFRIA 32 350,469 668,946
Due to joint ventures JEfS & & A RIFIA 32 8,073,036 6,191,625
Due to associates JE 1~ Ht & 2 R 3R 3B 32 1,768,520 1,743,837
Due to non-controlling shareholders ARER & e 32 308,487 230,368
Due to a related company FEERE A RIFRIA 32 2,984 2,984
Tax payable FEI T IE 2,328,564 2,607,625
Total current liabilities REBEEARE 31,838,363 24,259,676
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 5,362,555 1,933,667
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EERAEBRBAE 45,240,272 40,147,464
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BERTT KR B At & K 29 284,387 2,679,904
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 920,908 1,352,026
Loans from the ultimate holding company JES S AR A R E 5K 31(d) 11,127,853 7,137,184
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ENRZRH B AR ER 31(e) 6,638,692 6,343,089
Loans from joint ventures ERfE & ARER 31(f) - 144,000
Deferred tax liabilities REBIHEBE 33 1,678,824 1,392,209
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEETE 20,650,664 19,048,412
NET ASSETS EERE 24,589,608 21,099,052
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Z 2 T # 5 A (L
Issued capital BT 24(a) 1,502,930 1,495,908
Reserves ] 25 20,236,193 17,392,274
21,739,123 18,888,182
Non-controlling interests FEER R R E RS 2,850,485 2,210,870
TOTAL EQUITY S 24,589,608 21,099,052
Mr. Xu Jiajun Mr. Wei Chuanjun
BRREEE EEELLE
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
HITEFFTHAAE HITEFFYHAEE
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Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021E12A31 B IFEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 December 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHTRER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12 831 BILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Htat ARBTT AREFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BELEROBEHRE
Profit before tax P 50 A1 A 5,723,457 7,266,147
Adjustments for: OIS IEEL AR
Finance costs H5EH 6 868,578 651,398
Bank interest income RITHAEUA 5] (26,431) (26,278)
Interest income on loans to related companies RUEMS AT BRI FSMA 5 (66,674) (88,494)
Interest income on loans to joint ventures EEEATERZFSWA 5 (252,537) (311,377)
Interest income on loans to associates JEWEEE N B BER 2R BMA 5 (3,186) (2,414)
Interest income on loans to non-controlling R R R > FlE 9] - (912)
shareholders 1 @N
Interest income on loans to third parties EWE=7ER 2 EWMA 5] (32,531) (25,878)
Interest income from financial assets at fair value LA%@%?{EZ%@E&FZ 5 (14,695) (3,676)
3
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value ﬁ’Z#@fﬁfﬁ.ﬁrgZimﬂé 5 (6,705) (7,497)
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of items of property, — HEY%  BERRBEHEEZ 7 (70) 232
plant and equipment (Yest)/ EEFE
Net gains on disposal of investment properties ﬁ%&é%%ZW 5 FRE 5 (42,493) (1,512)
Gains on lease termination RIERE 2 e 7 (2,835) (613)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W RERRESITE 7 27,424 21,854
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECITE 7 31,439 25177
Amortisation of intangible assets A 7 8,228 8,228
Changes in fair values of investment properties SEVEZ AR BEEE) 7 (1,464,248) (85,680)
Changes in fair values of investment properties — ?xé%% FREEEZ 7 78,696 308,218
right-of-use assets R1EZE)
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair L/{/%/‘E qu%Z%@EQFZ 7 (165,319) 140,925
value AN
Fair value gain on properties held for sales FLENEBERENEZ 5 (10,798) =
transferred to investment properties RN ERE
Gains on disposal/deemed disposal of HeE RRHENBARZ 5 (123,904) (94,174)
subsidiaries &
Gains on disposal/deemed disposal of joint HeE BRRHEEEQEZ 5 (7,823) =
ventures &
Gains on bargain purchase EEWE R 5 (1,157,931) (29,663)
Release of exchange reserves upon deregistration = 8518 A &) 2 [E 5. & 5 - (5,868)
of subsidiaries Bl
Impairment of receivables, net FEWERSORE - JFFRE 7 54,129 50,263
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEIEE &N a & (1,197,829) (1,843,208)
Share of profits and losses of associates FEIGE & N R RS (683,372) (105,351)
Operating profit before working capital changes LIBE 2 P E ] 2L 1,532,570 5,839,847
Decrease in properties held for sale FHEMEZRL 3,999,334 2,134,224
(Increase)/decrease in properties under BREAPMEZ (EM), R (877,224) 4,067,488
development
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, FEUE SRR - TAI A 5,316,487 (2,631,158)
prepayments, deposits and other receivables e R EMEWARIE 2
B (38 0n)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash SRR 2 (38 n),E (722,000) 510,174
Decrease in trade payables and bills, advanced ERNEZERERERE - 7Bl (7,067,410)  (11,056,676)
receipts, accruals and other payables FRIE - FERTIRARIA RAM
FERTERRUZ R
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EEESHE (iR 2 RE 2,181,757 (1,136,101)
Taxes paid EHE (2,085,696)  (2.881,057)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities "é‘é‘“"%ﬁﬁﬁ S (FifE) 2 96,061 (4,017,158)

THBHESERRAE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12 31 BILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Mzt ARETT ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEBZHERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment EAYIZ - E &&EEE 2 12 (57,519) (27,039)
KA
Additions/improvements to investment properties BT = 14(a) (1,243,434) (1,752,223)
Improvements to investment properties REME —FRAEEEZ 14(b) (29,288) (97,197)
— right-of-use assets &
Repayment of loans to related companies W B BB AR 2B 1,555,950 903,000
Loans to joint ventures BTEEDBIZER (7,004,672) (1,157,847)
Repayment of loans to joint ventures WEAEENRIZER 6,384,624 1,858,311
Loan from a joint venture REGERAIZER - 130,000
Changes in balances with joint ventures A BN iEh 2 B 1,303,013 259,306
Loan to an associate BT ENRZER (95,636) =
Repayment of loan to an associate WEBE T ZER 95,636 27,930
Loans from an associate REEE AR ZER - 279,901
Repayment of loans from an associate ETHENE) 2B - (1,272,040)
Changes in balances with associates ek kNG F Y ) (250,800) 1,584,478
Loans to non-controlling shareholders 4 T IR AR R B K (25,167) (100,859)
Repayment of loans to non-controlling shareholders U B IEIZARIE R ER 2 101,887 43,958
Changes in balances with related companies BB N T SRR BB - 2,039
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents WHEMB ARz R RREE 35 955,685 (48,599)
in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries BEZRA(RE)F5E
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HERBRHEHBARZEE 37 (139,853) (42,148)
of disposal and deemed disposal of subsidiaries RRSEFEEE 2ntFE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME - BERKEEE 2 2,555 2,502
plant and equipment Fr{S 308
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREME Z FTSFIE 400,113 220,611
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value BANAAEFEZSMEE (514,022) (70,753)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HEURARBEAEZEREEZ 18,856 22,885
value FriS 308
Bank interest received B IR TS 26,431 26,289
Interest received on loans to related companies EUEER R ERFIE 65,086 88,494
Interest received on loans to joint ventures BUEE R ERFE 383,644 320,243
Interest received on loans to associates B UL N B BRI S 5,818 2,921
Interest received on loans to non-controlling BYGHERIRRER 2 - 912
shareholders FE
Interest received on loans to third parties BEWE=ZFAERZFE 32,531 25,878
Interest received on financial assets at BEWARAEFEZEREELZ 14,695 3,676
fair value FE
Capital contributions to joint ventures REERTRARZA (3,052,225) (5,810,367)
Capital contributions to associates NG N (758,202) (82,730)
Return of capital from joint ventures EERNRRERAK 832,293 270,499
Dividends from joint ventures BUlEERAIRRE 2,259,375 1,953,634
Dividends from associates B UieBsh i A BAR S 290,000 92,060
Acquisition of interests in joint ventures WA &N F) R (174,166) (41,239)
Acquisition of interests in associates gl YN i (113,448) =
Proceeds from disposal of interests in joint ventures HHE&EAZ AR ZIEE 25 174,341 91,093
KIE
Proceeds from disposal of interests in L ER A AR ZIRE Z TS - 15,681
an associate FIE
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 1,444,101 (2,276,740)

REEBFE () 2RE
Pk
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHTRER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F12 831 BILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Mzt AR¥T T AREETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXEBZHERE
Issue of shares on exercise of share options TR R AR R T TR (D 24(a)(i) 43,667 331,542
Dividends paid BRRE (1,326,027) (1,182,129)
Interest and other bank charges paid SAFE R EARITE A (736,859) (296,775)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wb SE1E R AR SR A 2 (3,979) (34,085)
Amounts received from the ultimate holding [BALEEES 2 NETE =] 3,266,838 10,932,331
company
Amounts paid to the ultimate holding company BRI RLIER A RIFKIE (4,543,180) (9,535,734)
Amounts received from fellow subsidiaries EUEEY N =INCIESE 23,770 24,950
Amounts paid to fellow subsidiaries =S IGESGEYNGIERE (679,977) (23,036)
Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries S HT B A RSP0 A AE - (111)
Capital contributions from non-controlling FEIE PG SR AR AR A 79,773 38,665
shareholders
Capital returned to non-controlling shareholders IRR FEFE AR AR FR AR AR (67,010) (25,210)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BT IR AR R AR S (333,660) (851,905)
Amounts paid to non-controlling shareholders B IR IR AR SR R IR (858,483) (324,671)
Amounts received from non-controlling shareholders B 48 3E#5 B% A% 58 7118 211,402 78,199
New bank and other borrowings FILIRTT REAME K 1,274,746 2,169,453
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITREMER (676,722) (918,768)
Loan proceeds from the ultimate holding company K B &4 A B E R 38,886,859 13,506,151
Repayment of loans from the ultimate holding BEERRERARER (34,745,748) (6,477,534)
company
Loan proceeds from fellow subsidiaries RERRWBARERK 2,910,628 6,183,104
Repayment of loans from a fellow subsidiary EERRWBARER (2,469,982) (5,059,234)
Loan proceeds from a non-controlling shareholder 28 & IEE IR R E K - 1,629
Repayment of loan from a non-controlling BRI IR R E R (1,629) -
shareholder
Payment of lease liabilities HREaE (172,128) (162,582)
Net cash from financing activities BEEBBZESFEE 82,299 8,374,250
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEERE 2HM 1,622,461 2,080,352
EQUIVALENTS B
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHzRERREFMEER 7,151,758 4,974,648
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net INESTE SR E) 2 BB - TR (2,337) 96,758
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FERZRERESEEER 8,771,882 7,151,758
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RePRESEEEREHZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS: 2
Cash and bank balances e MIRIT4E R 8,738,677 7,128,455
Non-pledged time deposits IR E BT R 33,205 23,303
Deposits, bank and cash balances as stated RERE M IERR KGR Z 8,771,882 7,151,758
in the consolidated statement of financial position BT RITRIB A
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FERZESRRESEEEH 8,771,882 7,151,758
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
(the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company
was investment holding while the Group was involved
in property development, property investment, property
management and micro-financing business.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Glassy
An Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. In the opinion of the Directors,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is (5 ®)
f&% 17 A FR A Bl (“Gemdale Corporation”), which is established
in the PRC with limited liability and whose shares are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 46.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Having considered the loan facility provided by the ultimate
holding company, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
is able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall
due in the foreseeable future.

2.1

MR R M

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR MR

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

2.1

®

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
LHHEREERAA
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair 